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Asout CMC REIT

FEREEREEEETES

REIT PROFILE
CMC REIT

China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust
(“China Merchants Commercial REIT” or “CMC REIT”) is
a real estate investment trust constituted by the trust deed
(“Trust Deed”) entered into between China Merchants Land Asset
Management Co., Limited, the manager of CMC REIT (“REIT
Manager” or “Manager”), and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited,
the trustee of CMC REIT (“Trustee”), on 15 November 2019. The
units of CMC REIT (“Units”, and each a “Unit”) were listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 10
December 2019 (“Listing Date”).

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited

The REIT Manager was incorporated in Hong Kong on 22 June
2019, with the sole purpose of managing the assets of CMC REIT.
The REIT Manager is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Merchants Land Limited (stock code: 00978).

OUR MISSION

CMC REIT’s key objectives are to provide investors with stable and
sustainable distributions and to achieve long term capital growth.
This aim of providing attractive total returns will be achieved
by proactive management of the properties in the CMC REIT’s
portfolio.
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About CMC REIT » R oM EREE T

BEIJING it SHENZHEN SHEKOU #3I|l4t O
ONWARD SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY TECHNOLOGY
TRADE CENTER BUILDING BUILDING 2
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Grade A Office Building Grade B Office Building Complex Grade B Office Building Complex

AR EFE CRBEBFEGEE CREFEGFEE
Rentable Area T HiEE#& Rentable Area T HiEE#& Rentable Area A HiEE#E
40,824m? 41,522m? 43,042m?
GARDEN CITY
CYBERPORT BUILDING NEW TIMES PLAZA SHOPPING CENTRE
HIEKE HEFRES TE B

Large-Scale Integrated

Grade B Office Building Complex Grade A Office Building Commercial Complex
ZHRBRTFTEREAR RREFE REGZEEER
Rentable Area ] H A HE & Rentable Area ] H A HE & Rentable Area 7] HHE &

40,441m? 67,600m? 56,720m?
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS
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INCOME

A2 TRUEA

| VALUATION
139
(RMB million) A £ & T 9 "— 4 7
y O

(RMB million) A R# & &

HiA=
o 4
- 83.2%

o, WA -

B y.

.

COMMITTED DISTRIBUTIO
PER UNIT

BES BV EAE

0.2614

(HK$) &T




i A A S[EES S O

Performance Review and Highlights e 235 [o] g8 & i 2

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2021 Change
BZ12A31ALEE 2022% 20215 X
(“Reporting  (“2021 Relevant
Year”) Year”)
TH&EEE]) (T2021/8BEE )
Revenue (RMB’000) W (ARBTFT) 431,702 432,831 -0.3%
Net Property Income (RMB’000) MEBNFRBARETT) 318,286 320,304 -0.6%
Distributable Income (RMB’000) AREBAARETT) 138,551 170,403 -18.7%
Payout ratio DIk E 100% 100% -
Distribution per Unit (HK$) FEEBuNR(ET) 0.1400 0.1858 24.7%
Distribution per Unit Yield® BRESEUHRKER 7.0% 7.1% -0.1ppEAH
Committed Distribution per Unit (HK$) BESEUDRER(ET) 0.2614 0.2541 2.9%
Committed Distribution per Unit Yield' &£ $ 815 iREZ K& 13.1% 9.7% 3.4ppE N
Note: BisE
(1) Based on the closing price of the units of CMC REIT on the last business day in (1) EHRERBEETESREREERZ—EIEAN
the relevant year. HEeBEIRMEE -
31/12/2022 31/12/2021 Change
2E
Total Assets (RMB million) BEENREBEET) 10,824 7,564 43.1%
Net Assets Attributable HEBARA ARNE o
to Unitholders (RMB million) BEFEANREEET) 3,659 4007 B.7%
Net Assets per Unit Attributable to ESBENRBARGRES 304 355 8.7%
Unitholders (RMB) BRUAEHEARER) ' ' "
Value of Portfolio (RMB million) HEBEBE(NREBEL) 9,547 6,746 41.5%
Gearing Ratio EEAEBXR 37.4% 29.2% 8.20pE N E
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DISTRIBUTION

pai3

Total distributable income is the consolidated profit after tax,
before distribution to the unitholders of CMC REIT (“Unitholders”)
as adjusted to eliminate the effects of the Adjustments as set out
in the Trust Deed (“Distributable Income”). Distributable Income
for the Reporting Year was RMB138.55 million (2021 Relevant
Year: RMB170.40 million). Based on the Distributable Income,
the distribution per unit to Unitholders for the Reporting Year is
HK$0.1400 (equivalent to RMB0.1228).

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, CMC REIT is required to distribute
to the unitholders no less than 90% of its distributable income of
each financial period. The Manager intends to distribute to the
Unitholders 100% of the distributable income for the Reporting
Year.

Pursuant to the DPU Commitment (as defined in the offering
circular of CMC REIT dated 28 November 2019 (the “Offering
Circular”)), Eureka Investment Company Limited (“Eureka”),
being the holding company of the Vendor (as defined in the
Offering Circular), has undertaken to make a cash payment to the
Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of CMC REIT) for the benefit of
CMC REIT if the Annualised Provisional DPU (as defined in the
Offering Circular) is less than the Annualised Committed DPU for
the Relevant Period (as defined in the Offering Circular), so that in
such circumstances the annualised distribution per Unit of CMC
REIT for the Relevant Period shall be equal to the Annualised
Committed DPU. The Annualised Committed DPU for year ended
31 December 2022 is HK$0.2614 per Unit.

Including cash payments received under the DPU Commitment,
the final distribution per unit for the period from 1 July 2022 to 31
December 2022 is HK$0.1307 (“Final Distribution”). Together
with the paid interim distribution per unit of HK$0.1307, the
total distribution per unit for the Reporting Year amounted to
HK$0.2614, equivalent to a distribution yield of 13.1%, based
on the closing price of CMC REIT on 30 December 2022 (being
HK$1.99).
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Distribution ® 9k

The Final Distribution will be paid to entities regarded as
Unitholders as at the record date (as described in detail under the
heading of “CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF UNITHOLDERS”). As
such, those who are not regarded as Unitholders on the record
date have no entitlement to receive the Final Distribution.

The Final Distribution payable to Unitholders will be paid in Hong
Kong dollar. The exchange rate of the distribution per unit for the
Reporting Year is the average central parity rate as announced by
the People’s Bank of China for the five business days preceding the
date of the 2022 annual results announcement.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF UNITHOLDERS

For the purpose of determining entitlement for the Final
Distribution, the register of Unitholders was closed from
Wednesday, 12 April 2023 to Friday, 14 April 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of units was registered,
and the record date was on Friday, 14 April 2023. In order to qualify
for the Final Distribution, all unit certificates with completed transfer
forms must be lodged with the unit registrar of CMC REIT, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
11 April 2023. The payment of the Final Distribution will be made on
Tuesday, 30 May 2023.
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MILESTONE
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32nd-34th floors of
Onward Science &
Trade Center awarded
LEED Platinum.

BERMERZ RO
32-34 [ &8 ¥ | EED 4

A7) S
TR ©

bR
LEFi e SRAE

2021 annual report awarded Cover Design-Silver,
Interior Design—Bronze, Integrated Presentation —
Bronze by IADA.

2021 F FIRLLEIADAR [ HE LT RE - [RARET &
[4R&KRIF SR -

e 2021 annual report awarded Gold Award,
Top 50 Chinese Reports and Technical
Achievement Award by LACP 2021

Vision Awards.

2021 FE FEHETELACP 2021 FRFE D
22 SR{ESOARA F R K AT A B 4% -

e  Completed the first
acquisition since
IPO, expanding our
property footprint
from the Greater Bay
Area to capital Beijing.
JE A 2R B ORI
B BWEREK
EEhEEEEILR

2021

Awarded “Listed Company
Awards of Excellence” by
Hong Kong Economic Journal.
BERMEHERE W
NCIES -3

Held the first Unitholder’s
Extraordinary General Meeting.
BRERAESEBEMNFTABEA
FRIKE -

New Times Plaza achieved Pre-certification under WELL
BUILDING STANDARD.

SR ESEBWELLGREEABRE)FARE -

e Awarded the “Most
Investment Value
Award in the Greater
Bay Area” by Hong
Kong Ta Kung Wen
Wei Media Group.
BAAXEGHEEER
HE [EBRNEREK
AKREBEE] -
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Milestone o b2 B 27

e Awarded the Caring Company Logo by
the Hong Kong Council of Social Service
(HKCSS).
BEBT RS
Bt & A8 2 FFﬁE‘%

F"abkj Tﬂb ©

e L [, . 4
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e New Times Plaza achieved LEED
(Leadership in Energy and Environment)
operations and maintenance --existing
buildings.

A E 5B LEED (Leadership in Energy
and Environmental
Design 8¢ JR £
B ET Sk 18) ij"@
E é;&%ﬁi\nuuu"

2021

e 2020 annual report awarded the Honors
Award (Cover Photo/Design — Real Estate
Management Category) by ARC Awards 2021
and the Silver Award (PDF Cover) and the
Bronze Award (PDF Interior Design) by IADA.

2020 4F F ¥ 5t 18 JE 15 B PR ARC #2185 2021 )
[EHEAM Rt - EHESEMER | L8
4% IADARY [ TE % 5HPDFhR ISR 22 1% [ M B &
=T PDFR 848 -

Apr @A

e Disclosed quarterly operating statistics
announcement.

FARBEFTEEEHBEAE -

e Published the first whole year results
announcement.

NE N EEFEEFERE

D020

Awarded “The
Outstanding Listed
Companies Award”
by the Hong
Kong Institute of
Financial Analysis
and Professional
Commentators Limited
BEHABRE D TAD
gHE [ EmRaFERE] -

e Setting up the Environment, Social and Governance
(ESG) working group under the board of directors

REFGTRIERIR - L& RERESC) I NE -

Jul 78

o Published the first Environment, Social and
Governance (ESG) Report.

B EMRENTRR - L8 NEAESOWS -

° Published the first results announcement after
listing covering the period from date of listing till 31
December 2019.

N LHEENEERE
318 IHHAR -

B ETTHEAZE2019F 12 7

Listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code 01503.HK.

REBBZFERENE LT > TR
01503.HK

2019

China Mer chants Shekou
‘l 979 Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd.

(001979.82), the sponsor of China

Merchants Commercial REIT, is
established and becomes the flagship company of China
Merchants Group’s urban integrated development and
operation sector.

HERmEETES s ERBA —HEmRA D TR TR
D AR AR (001979.82) 8l - BRIEHEBREEET
WA AR ELIRR 2 EERE -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EREHRE

DEAR UNITHOLDERS,

This is the third full financial year that CMC REIT
has been listed. CMC REIT recorded a stable and
upward performance during the pandemic over
the first two years, but experienced a decline
in both Distributable Income and profit in 2022
due to unfavorable factors such as geopolitics,
pandemic prevention and control measures, high
inflation overseas and significant fluctuations
in interest rates. During this period, the REIT
Manager forged ahead and actively managed
CMC REIT’s properties, and enhanced CMC
REIT’s ability to withstand risks by expanding
its assets under management, so as to provide
long-term stable returns to the REIT investors. |
am pleased to take this opportunity to review the
performance of CMC REIT and share my vision
for the future with Unitholders.
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Chairman’s Statement ® = fE R4

PERFORMANCE AND DISTRIBUTION

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Year”),
CMC REIT achieved income for the year of RMB431.7 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 0.3%, and the
distributable income amounted to RMB138.6 million, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 18.7%. The REIT Manager intends to
distribute 100% of the distributable income to Unitholders. The
distribution per unit for the period from 1 July 2022 to 31 December
2022 is HK$13.07 cents. Together with the interim distribution
per unit of HK$13.07 cents, the total distribution per unit for the
Reporting Year amounted to HK$26.14 cents, equivalent to a
distribution yield of 13.1%, based on the unit closing price on 30
December 2022.

MARKET AND OPERATION REVIEW

2022 was a year full of turbulence. The recurring pandemic bogged
the development of major domestic cities and economy down, and
coupled with the Federal Reserve’s interest rate hikes and volatility
in foreign exchange, the confidence in investment and operating
activities was severely suppressed. The less business vitality
inevitably led to decreased demand for commercial properties.
Thus, the passing rent and occupancy rate for both office and
retail property in major cities across the country faced significant
challenges.

Amid such challenges, the operating results of CMC REIT
declined slightly but remained stable in general, with its income in
2022 basically the same as in 2021. During the year, CMC REIT
implemented a rental relief package aimed at tenants of the service
industry, small enterprises or individuals and waived a total rent of
approximately RMB36.40 million throughout the year. The income
would have been RMB470 million without taking into account such
rental relief, representing a year-on-year increase of 8.1%. The
Distributable Income was RMB140 million, representing a year-on-
year decrease of RMB31.85 million, mainly due to the impact of
rental relief and increase of interest.
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REIEE2022F 12 A1 B IEFE ([HEF
) BERBERTESERT2FWAA
REEANT7TEEL  LFTIB0.3% Al DRI
ABARMEA386EETT - B NE187% ° B
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TRUEA o 8202247 1B E20229F12 A31H It
HENEESBEMDIKA13.078 - EREGE
SEMNPEDIRIS.07E - SREFENFES
B D IRBEA26.14781l - 2022912 A30
BESBEMRMEE  2IkRKEEA181% °
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Chairman’s Statement ® = fE R4

The operating performance of the six assets was mixed. Amongst
the five properties in Shenzhen, three properties within the Shekou
Net Valley have improved in terms of occupancy but not the
remaining two properties. The completion schedule of the asset
enhancement initiative at Garden City Shopping Centre has been
delayed significantly due to the epidemic, which has caused the
a great impact on its operation, resulting in its occupancy rate to
collapse 18.3 percentage points to 72.2%. At the same time, New
Times Plaza was affected by very weak demand for high-end office
premises and a large increase in supply in the surrounding area,
and its occupancy rate weakened by 7.9 percentage points to
84.0%. In Beijing, the leasing transactions were lukewarm, and no
significant change can be seen for the occupancy rate of the newly
acquired Onward Science & Trade Center at the end of the year
from the time of acquisition.

It is encouraging to note that CMC REIT continues its sound
financial position. After the completion of the acquisition of
Onward Science & Trade Center during the year, the total assets
have exceeded RMB10 billion. The REIT also has adequate cash
reserves and sufficient liquidity. As of the end of 2022, the gearing
ratio of the REIT was 37.4%, representing a large room from the
cap of the REIT Code, i.e. 50%. In addition, during the year, the
REIT Manager successfully completed a debt replacement of up
to HK$4.45 billion for the REIT, and replaced all debts with fixed-
rate loans in RMB, eliminating the interest rate risk and foreign
currency exchange rate risk arising from the continuous interest
rate hike abroad, which laid a good foundation for the subsequent
development and growth of the CMC REIT.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY

The macroeconomic policies in early 2023 have brought new
impetus and opportunities to the market, and the overall market
expectations are improving. The Two Sessions held this year
have also released positive signals that China will promote
urban employment, improve residents’ consumption ability and
willingness, and facilitate the recovery of the commercial real estate
market. Meanwhile, the Report on the Work of the Government
indicates that efforts will be made to support technology
enterprises and cultivate small and medium-sized enterprises,
which will stimulate abundant demand of enterprises for office
buildings and industrial real estate. The stable demand of central
enterprises and state-owned enterprises for real estate and the
engagement of private and foreign enterprises will also stimulate
the demand for commercial real estate.

NEEEMNKERBTESYE - EFRYINAE
MED  WORARN=EYEELHRTE
BERAWE  MEBMEYERERL - EE
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However, the external situation is still severe, and it will take time
for market confidence to recover. It is expected that the short-
term development will still be relatively tortuous, and the challenges
to the entire commercial real estate market will still be enormous.
The year 2023 will be a crucial year for CMC REIT to optimize,
consolidate and enhance its operations.

In 2023, the REIT Manager will continue to strengthen asset
management. For the office sector, the REIT Manager will closely
monitor the market and focus on curbing the drop in occupancy
rate, with a view to introducing quality tenants and creating
industrial cluster effect, thereby laying the foundation for the
sustainable and steady operation and development of projects. For
the shopping centre sector, 2023 will be a year of transformation
and renewal for Garden City Shopping Centre. The REIT Manager
will work with the operations team to implement the operation
improvement plan upon renovation and upgrading of the project,
expecting the renovation of Garden City Shopping Centre to
generate better returns for CMC REIT and Unitholders.

The REIT Manager will also strengthen its interaction with CMSK,
CMC REIT’s sponsor, and leverage the sponsor’s influence in the
capital market to actively explore the possibility of optimising the
capital structure of CMC REIT and create more possibilities for the
future growth of CMC REIT.

APPRECIATION

Finally, | would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to all Unitholders for their trust and support in CMC REIT.
| would also like to thank the REIT Manager and operations team
for their dedicated efforts and contributions over the last year.

AMINEFBANARERE - THEOIREFRE -
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

SEENGREEAEERE

CHAIRMAN AND

TERFEHTES
HUANG Junlong
=9E

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Huang, aged 57, was appointed as a Director and the
Chairman of the REIT Manager on 11 July 2019.

Mr. Huang is a non-executive director of China Merchants
Land Limited (“CML”, stock code: 00978.HK) and the chief
financial officer of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK”, stock code: 001979.SZ). Prior to
that, he served successively as a deputy general manager of
the finance department of China Merchants Shekou Industrial
Zone Company Limited* (& Bt D LEEABR A F]) (currently
known as CMSK), the chief financial officer of Shenzhen China
Merchants Petrochemical Co., Ltd.* (ZIIBEL(LAERRQF),
China Merchants Port Service Co., Ltd.* (FREEERMD AR A F)
and China Merchants Logistics Group Co., Ltd.* (BRI B¥inEE
BBR A7), the deputy in charge of the finance department of China
Merchants Group and the supervisor of China Merchants Property
Development Co., Ltd.* (B B EERAR A AR A F) (‘CMPD”,
a company merged with CMSK in December 2016).

Mr. Huang obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from Changsha
Institute of Communications in 1988, majoring in financial
accounting of engineering. He obtained a Master of Business
Administration from China Europe International Business School
in 2008. Mr. Huang was appraised and approved as a senior
accountant of the PRC in 1998. He obtained a Qualification
Certificate for Secretary of the Board of Directors* (B =& WMEE IS
#2) issued by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2015.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BITESE
GUO Jin
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Mr. Guo, aged 54, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.
He is also one of the Responsible Officers and the Chief Investment
and Asset Management Officer of the REIT Manager.

Mr. Guo has extensive experience in the real estate and financial
industry. He used to serve at Savills Investment Management
(Hong Kong) Limited from June 2014 to January 2019 where
he took the position of the Head of Greater China and was also
a responsible officer for Type 1, Type 4 and Type 9 regulated
activities from August 2017 to January 2019. Prior to that, he
worked at ICBC International Holdings Limited (T R BIBR 15 A BR
2 a]) from November 2009 to November 2012, where he took the
position of the executive director of the investment management
department. He was a licensed representative for Type 1 and
Type 4 regulated activities at Standard Chartered Securities (Hong
Kong) Limited from August 2007 to September 2009.

Mr. Guo obtained a Bachelor of Commerce and a Bachelor of
Property from the University of Auckland in September 2003. He
was a CFA charterholder and a member of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors (Valuation).
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FHTES
LIU Ning
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Liu, aged 54, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.

Ms. Liu was a non-executive director of CML and a director of
China Merchants Property Operation & Service Co., Ltd (stock
code: 001914.SZ). She was appointed as a representative for
securities affairs of CMPD in 2001 and the secretary to the board
of directors of CMPD from 2008 to 2015. Ms. Liu was a member
of the listing committee of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and
acted as an expert on pre-listing review of corporate bonds of
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Previously, Ms. Liu also acted
as an independent director of Han’s Laser Technology Industry
Group Co., Ltd.* (FINT A& F B A D B R A 7], stock code:
002008), Shenzhen Fenda Technology Co., Ltd.* (FIITHE ERH
R BBR A 7], stock code: 002681), Shenzhen Sunwin Intelligent
Co., Ltd.* (RINITHFE B E LR BIR A A, stock code: 300044)
and Shenzhen Kingsino Technology Co., Ltd.* (#IIT & # 2R
f% 17 B R A7), stock code: 002548), all of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Ms. Liu completed courses of Master of Business Administration
at Nankai University in 2000 and obtained a Master of Business
Administration from Macau University of Science and Technology in
20083. Ms. Liu holds a Qualification Certificate for Secretary of the
Board of Directors* (EEEWEE1&EE) issued by the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in October 2004.
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YU Zhiliang
RER

Mr. Yu, aged 44, was appointed as a Director on 11 July 2019.

Currently, Mr. Yu is a Non-executive director of CML, a director
of China Merchants Property Operation & Service Co., Ltd., the
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 001914.S7) and he also serves as the Board
Secretary of CMSK. He is a director of China Merchants Properties
Development Ltd. (8% B E ¥ BFR A 7]), Wahsheung Finance Ltd.
FEREB 15 AR A R)) and certain major subsidiaries of CML.

Mr. Yu used to serve as general manager and chief financial officer
of CML. Mr. Yu has been a director of Champion Apex Limited (&
S BRR A7) since January 2013 and a director of Harvest Allied
Investments Limited (FEZE#2& B R A 7)) since April 2013. Mr. Yu
was chief financial officer of China Merchants Property (Xiamen)
Co. Ltd.* (g B E (EFT) B R A 7l) and Fujian Zhong Lian
Sheng Estate Development Ltd.*(18 & /R B % = 1 E R 3 B[R A A)).

Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor of Administration (major in accounting)
from Xiamen University in 2001 and a Master of Business
Administration (Finance) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in December 2009. Mr. Yu obtained the Qualification Certification
of Specialty and Technology for Accountancy issued by the
Ministry of Personnel of the PRC in May 2005.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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INDEPENDENT
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LIN Hua
MEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lin, aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin was appointed as an independent director of Bank
of Beijing Co., Ltd (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 601169) on 4 July 2022. He is also an
independent director of Generali China Asset Management
Co., Ltd* (FEEEEEBREM2AF]) and an adviser of King &
Wood Mallesons. Mr. Lin established Shanghai HeYi Information
Technology Limited (/8 A& {5 E & R B R A 7)) as its
controlling shareholder. He used to work at Jin Yuan Capital
Management (Xiamen) Co., Ltd.* (£ BI&AEE(EFT) AR A A)
and Xiamen Venture Capital Co., Ltd.* (EFIm A% E AR A F)
(a fund of funds of the Xiamen Municipal People’s Government) as
general manager.

Mr. Lin obtained a Master of Business Administration from the
University of California, Irvine in June 2007. Mr. Lin is a Chartered
Financial Analyst.
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INDEPENDENT

BYFHITES

LIN Chen
V-

Mr. Lin, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin has been the Chair of Finance and Stelux Professor in
Finance of The University of Hong Kong since 2013, the Associate
Dean of the Faculty of Business and Economics of The University
of Hong Kong, Director of the Centre for Financial Innovation
and Development, and the Associate Director of the HKU-SCF
FinTech Academy. He was a member of the Currency Board
Sub-Committee of the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee from
2016 to 2022.

Mr. Lin obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from the South China
University of Technology in 2000 and an MBA (2004), M.A. (2005)
and Ph.D. (2006) from University of Florida.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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INDEPENDENT
BYFHTES
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WONG Yuan Chin Tzena

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wong, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 28 July 2021.

Ms. Wong has extensive experience in real estate project
management. Ms. WONG is the founder and director of Abierto
Limited. Ms. WONG is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, in which she is a council member of the Quantity
Surveying Division. Ms. WONG is also a professional member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a visiting lecturer at
the School of Professional Education and Executive Development,
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Asian American
Studies from University of Massachusetts at Boston, a
Postgraduate Diploma in Surveying and a Master of Science
degree in Construction Project Management from The University of
Hong Kong.
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SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Information on the business and working experience of the senior
executives of the REIT Manager is set out below:

BRITHRAER

EREBANBRITHABHER R TIHER
ARBA LT -

GUO Jin

Mr. Guo is the Chief Investment
and Asset Management Officer and
one of the Responsible Officers
of the REIT Manager. He is also
the executive Director of the REIT
Manager and information on his
business and working experience
has been set out in “Executive Director” in this section.

2z
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=

CHOO Chong Yao, Patrick

Mr. Choo is the Head of Compliance
and Risk Management of the REIT
Manager, and one of the Responsible
Officers.

Mr. Choo was a director and Chief Investment Officer at Swenson
Asset Management Limited and Swenson Capital Limited from
April 2018 to September 2019, Mr. Choo served as Deputy Chief
Executive Officer and acted as the Chief Investment Officer at
Kingdom Investment Managers Limited from October 2015 to
December 2017. Mr. Choo served as the Chief Investment Officer
and one of the Responsible Officers of Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited, the manager of Champion REIT, from March
2006 until July 2015, during which he was responsible for the
strategic planning and management of Champion REIT and for
communicating and liaising with unitholders of Champion REIT.
Prior to joining Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, Mr. Choo
served at Kingsway Fund Management Limited from May 2001
until November 2005, where he took the position of director. Mr.
Choo first entered the asset management industry in 1989 when he
joined DBS Asset Management in Singapore.

Mr. Choo graduated magna cum laude from the University of
Pennsylvania with a Bachelor of Science in Engineering (Electrical
Engineering) in 1989.
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ZHONG Ning

Mr. Zhong is the Chief Operating
Officer, Head of Information
Technology, Deputy Investment and
Asset Management Officer and one
of the Responsible Officers of the
REIT Manager. He is employed by
the Onshore Manager Subsidiary.

Mr. Zhong was an investment director of CML from February 2017
until October 2019.

Mr. Zhong obtained a Bachelor of Management from Shenzhen
University in June 2006 and a Master of Business Administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
November 2017.
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ZHANG Zhe

Mr. Zhang is the Chief Financial
Officer of the REIT Manager.

Mr. Zhang has over ten years of
experience in the field of finance and
business management. He held the
positions of DFC of Hilton Shenzhen Shekou Nanhai, the financial
controller of business management segment of commercial
properties and hotels of China Merchants, the financial controller
of industrial park incubation segment of China Merchants, the
financial controller of China Merchants — Colisée Senior Care
Services Co., Ltd.*, the financial controller of Beijing-Shanghai
Fund Shanghai BangXin Enterprise Management Consulting Co.
Limited* and the financial manager of China Merchants Land. Prior
to these, he served as the senior manager of the UK Elite Center
of internal audit department of Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. from
July 2010 to February 2012, a project manager of Dezhengxin
Asset Appraisal Co. Ltd.* from September 2009 to July 2010,
and a senior auditor of Shenzhen Branch of Ermnst & Young from
February 2007 to September 2009.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Deakin University in Australia in 2005
with a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration (Accounting,
Economics).
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CHEN Yan R JHe

Ms. Chen is the Internal Auditor of 4+ AETEIE AMNIETED o
the REIT Manager.

Ms. Chen is a certified internal  [E&+ 2B ARG IS T 2 BETMH
auditor designated by the Institute  REE 6T - LTI EEREEEHNBT
of Internal Auditors. Ms. Chen is  ERREHBE: - 1 52017457 E20185F1 A
currently the executive director and chief financial officer of CML. SR BN BRILE c RIMAEEE
She previously served as the vice-financial controller of CML from 3l » (TR O B R0 H = 4% (LA o
May 2017 to January 2018. Prior to joining CML, she was a senior

manager of the financial department of CMSK.

Ms. Chen obtained a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business  [EZ+ 72002 F SR || KNSt EIRE Y
Studies from Sun Yat-Sen University in 2002. She was qualified as  FE+E{] o {FA2002F K AT EA BRI ES
a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC in 2002. =+ o
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Market Review

In 2022 bouts of COVID-19 resurged intermittently as the highly
infectious Omicron variant spread across Mainland China, bringing
various cities to an economic standstill at the end of the year. In
addition, the Federal Reserve’s interest rate hikes led to a strong
US dollar, creating certain imbalances in China’s economy and
increasing short-term volatility in the USD RMB exchange rate.
Consumer confidence was dampened with the total retail sales
falling 0.2% over the year. According to urban surveys, the national
unemployment rate was 5.5%, and the unemployment rate for
16-24 year olds even reached double digits. As such, economic
growth for the entire year was significantly impacted and GDP
increased by only 3%.

Source: National Bureau of Statistics, Cushman & Wakefield
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Market Review (continued)

The market launch of a large number of office buildings was
delayed due to the epidemic, resulting in a three-year low in
the supply of office buildings in Shenzhen and Beijing in 2022.
Although the supply pressure was relatively weak during the year,
demand was equally weak and leasing activity was subdued. At
the end of the year, the monthly rental rate of office buildings in
Shenzhen dropped by 3.3% year on year to RMB203.5/sg.m. while
the vacancy rate increased by 3.8 percentage points to 22.8%.
Nanshan District (excluding Qianhai) had also been significantly
affected, with monthly rent decreasing by 2.8% compared to the
same period last year, to approximately RMB 206.5/sq.m. and
vacancy rate increasing by 5.7 percentage points to 22.2%. The
overall market in Beijing was slightly weak, resulting in a decrease
in both transactions and rents. The CBD area performed better
with a monthly rental of approximately RMB358.0/sg.m, basically
unchanged from the end of last year, and the vacancy rate
decreased slightly by 1.0 percentage point to 10.1%.

In the retail sector, at the end of 2022, some tenants were forced
to temporarily close down; there was a manpower shortage and
a reduced number of consumers going out due to widespread
occurrence of epidemic infections in Shenzhen. This had a
significant operational impact on shopping malls. During the year,
overall monthly retail rentals in Shenzhen decreased by 5.2% while
the vacancy rate increased by 4.3 percentage points to 10.4%.
There was no new supply in the Nanshan District during the year,
and the rental levels were relatively stable. The monthly rental
of the first floor of high-quality shopping malls dropped by only
2.6% to RMB779.3/sq.m. However, vacancy rates increased by
5.6 percentage points to 12.1% due to the continued impact of
the epidemic. In order to stimulate the consumer market, various
consumption vouchers in respect of catering, retail and other areas
were distributed in all districts in the city.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW

MRBE

Occupancy rate (%) as at

B2 (%)

Passing Rent (RMB/sq.m.) as at
AR (AR%/THX) R

Property nE 31/12/2022  30/06/2022 31/12/2021 31/12/2022  30/06/2022  31/12/2021
Office BYE

New Times Plaza MERES 84.0 923 91.9 184.4 182.2 179.4
Cyberport Building HBAE 85.9 75.9 713 126.1 125.6 126.9
Technology Building REAE 100.0 100.0 100.0 129.8 122.3 119.6
Technology Building 2 BEAE-H 90.5 76.8 81.2 120.1 116.9 116.1
Onward Science & Trade Center BEEMEREDL 70.0 704 - 319.3 319.2 -
Average ¥4 85.9 84.1 86.9

Retail BE

Garden City Shopping Centre TERM 722 84.5 90.5 181.1 173.3 176.8
Property Portfolio VESIE 83.2 84.2 87.7

Over the Reporting Year, the occupancy rate of the overall property
portfolio decreased from 87.7% as at 31 December 2021 to 83.2%
as at 31 December 2022. This decrease of 4.5 percentage points
was partly due to the mid-year acquisition of Onward Science &
Trade Centre. Efforts to improve Onward Science & Trade Centre’s
70% occupancy rate have been hampered by COVID-19 and this
dragged down our overall occupancy by 2.2 percentage points.
Within the original portfolio, fortunes have been mixed. Three
properties within the Shekou Net Valley have improved in terms of
occupancy but not the remaining two properties. Disruption from
the asset enhancement initiative at Garden City Shopping Centre
has caused the occupancy rate there to collapse 18.3 percentage
points to 72.2%, this is understandable. At the same time, New
Times Plaza was affected by very weak demand for high-end office
premises and its occupancy rate weakened by 7.9 percentage
points to 84.0%.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the passing rent of our properties saw
increases all around as compared to a year ago, with the exception
of Cyberport Building. In particular, the passing rent at Technology
Building improved by over RMB10.2/sg.m. due to its transition to a
single-tenant building. There was a spillover effect on Technology
Building 2, which saw its passing rent increase by RMB4.0/sg.m.

MFEBE(E)
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Valuation (RMB million) as at

REAREEETIR

Property LS 31/12/2022 30/6/2022 31/12/2021
Office BFiE

New Times Plaza R ES 2,084 2,086 2,077
Cyberport Building BIEKE 1,073 1,067 1,065
Technology Building B A= 927 892 888
Technology Building 2 R OKE —HA 1,113 1,103 1,101
Onward Science & Trade Center B IERIE H 1) 2,730 2,730 -
Retail 2=

Garden City Shopping Centre TEER 1,620 1,620 1,615
Property Portfolio MEEE 9,547 9,498 6,746

A revaluation of our properties was carried out as at 31 December
2022, by Knight Frank Petty Limited, an independent property
valuer and CMC REIT’s principal valuer. The market value of our
portfolio increased from RMB6,746 million as of 31 December
2021 to RMB9,547 million as of 31 December 2022. RMB2,730
million of this increase came from the acquisition of Onward
Science & Trade Center, while the majority of the remaining
balance of RMB71 million came from higher valuations at
Technology Building and Technology Building 2.

New Times Plaza

There was a marked fall in occupancy at New Times Plaza in
the second half of 2022 from 92.3% to 84.0% as several leases
were not renewed when they expired. In Shenzhen COVID-19
has severely weakened demand for high-end office buildings, and
this coupled with the looming supply of new Grade A office space
in adjacent areas has made it very challenging to retain expiring
tenants or find replacement tenants for them. As the expiring rent
rates of exiting tenants was relatively low, the passing rent at New
Time Plaza actually increased to RMB184.4/sg.m., representing an
increase of 2.8% from the end of 2021. As the asset enhancement
initiatives for the lobby and common areas of New Times Plaza
have essentially been completed, in 2023 the management
will strive to rebuild occupancy through additional channels for
sourcing tenants and the use of more flexible leasing terms.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW (continued)

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and
Technology Building 2

Technology Building has been the bright spot of our portfolio
ever since it secured Shenzhen Qianhai Shekou Free Trade Zone
Hospital as its main tenant. It managed a 100% occupancy rate
throughout 2022 and as Shenzhen Qianhai Shekou Free Trade
Zone Hospital has continued to take over the leases of expiring
tenants at higher rents, over 2022 Technology Building recorded an
8.5% increase in passing rent to RMB129.8/sg.m.

Operations at Technology Building 2 and Cyberport Building
also saw significant improvements in 2022. Although small and
medium-sized firms have been heavily impacted by the ongoing
epidemic, the main target tenants of Technology Building 2 and
Cyberport Building, both buildings saw a significant increase in
their occupancy rates. At Technology Building 2 the occupancy
increased 9.3 percentage points to 90.5% while at Cyberport
Building the occupancy increased 14.6 percentage points to
85.9%. The rental rates of Technology Building 2 increased by
3.4%.

The Manager has established a healthy tenant cycle for our
three properties in Net Valley and we expect them to continue to
outperform our other properties in 2023.

Garden City Shopping Centre

In 2022 Garden City Shopping Centre saw a decrease in
occupancy rate of 18.3 percentage points from 90.5% to 72.2%.
This was mainly due to two factors: firstly, the reemergence of
the epidemic in Shenzhen has had a great impact on retailers
and many have opted to downsize or exit their businesses; and
secondly, the commencement of the upgrading and renovation
works for Garden City Shopping Centre, has also deterred some
tenants from renewing their leases. The works are being carried
out in three phases with each phase covering approximately one-
third of the Mall’s floor area. In addition we have left some shops
vacant with a view of introducing new tenants of higher quality
upon completion of the renovation works. The passing rent of
Garden City Shopping Centre increased slightly by RMB4.3/sg.m.
to RMB181.1/sq.m. as some rental sub-average tenants didn’t
renew their leases.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW (continued)

Onward Science & Trade Center

A majority stake in Onward Science & Trade Center was acquired
by CMC REIT on 30 June 2022. The property is located within
the prosperous business district in Beijing. In order to cope with
the escalating negative impact of COVID-19 in the second half
of the year, the leasing team of the property mainly focused on
maintaining stability, and minimizing any inconvenience to tenants.
The occupancy rate as of 31 December 2022 declined marginally
by 0.4 percentage point to 70.0% from that as of 30 June 2022,
while the passing rent remained stable at RMB319.3/sg.m. The
occupancy rate at Onward Science & Trade Center is expected to
recover with the gradual recovery of the China economy in 2023.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Total revenue of CMC REIT for the Reporting Year was RMB431.7
million, a decrease of RMB1.1 million over the revenue for 2021.
This revenue consists of property management income and rental
income. Rental income, the dominant component of total revenue
was RMB378.9 million, an increase of RMB5.3 million compared to

MFEBE(E)
BERMENEHL
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12 A31 B8y B X 202246 A30 B BE 1 T 7
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¥310.37T, F K o T E2023F S EH BILE
BEWENER - AEERHHEREER -
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ARBEASITEETT 82021 F Wz AR
1T1EETT - WEBBEeEmEEBRALES
WA - HR S AR W B EEA £ BHERRER
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2021, B3B8 °
Rental Income for each property BIEYENHES WA
2021
Reporting Year Relevant Year Change
BEFE 2021 1HEAFE g0

RMB million RMB million

Property L/ES ARBEBEER AREEER

New Times Plaza R ES 116.9 124.3 -6.0%
Cyberport Building HIEKE 33.7 41.6 -19.0%
Technology Building B XE 50.4 52.6 -4.2%
Technology Building 2 R OKE —HA 43.7 47.5 -0.8%
Garden City Shopping Centre TEE 79.0 107.6 -26.6%
Onward Science & Trade Center A& BMMERIE L 55.2 NAZ i@ A NAT#E R
Total st 378.9 373.6 1.4%
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)

Rental Income for each property (continued)

If we disregard the RMB55.2 million of incremental rental income
contributed by Onward Science & Trade Center, there was a year
on year decrease of 13.4%. This decrease in income was primarily
due to the rental relief package aimed at tenants that are individuals
or small enterprises provided to tenants. In the second quarter
of 2022, selected tenants were granted a maximum of 3 months
of rental rebate under the scheme. Cyberport Building which
has a disproportionately high number of these types of tenants
experienced a 19% drop in rental income. The total relief on rental
was RMB36.4 million. The rebated amounts by building are listed
below:

BSR4

BIEYENHESWAE)

AT HRERMERZERLERMMAREESS.2
BEITHESWA - BEASWARRLL TE
13.4% - W AR PO EZFRA LA BFKM
MEREIEE KNI ENBFPIRET (B8
T8l o £2022F F —FF - A BB
FZA 8 TEST®Z3EAMESRE - 85
REMHERAFHSERRZ  ExEB KA
ThHET19% - HeReBEAARKIBIEE
TL o EMEMBRFBINROT ¢

RMB million ARBEER

New Times Plaza R ES 4.0
Cyberport Building BIEKNE 8.7
Technology Building BRHEARE 4.9
Technology Building 2 RHEARE —H 2.6
Garden City Shopping Centre TR 16.2
Total st 36.4

A second factor in the fall of rental income was renovation activities
at Garden City Shopping Centre, which depressed occupancy
levels materially. The impact of both factors resulted in a 26.6% fall
in rental income at the shopping centre.

The property operating expenses of CMC REIT for the Reporting
Year were RMB113.4 million (2021 Relevant Year: RMB112.5
million). At RMB54.1 million, property management expenses was
the largest component contributing to 47.7% of property operating
expenses. Operation manager’s fee and other taxes contributed to
18.4% and 23.2% of the property operating expenses respectively.
After deducting property operating expenses, net property income
was approximately RMB318.3 million, down marginally from
RMB320.3 million in 2021.

Financial costs for the Reporting Year were RMB94.9 million
(2021 Relevant Year: RMB59.3 million), comprising RMB90.3
million in interest expense on bank borrowings, with the remainder
consisting of amortization of upfront payments.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)

Capital Structure

Total net borrowings of CMC REIT were RMB4,053 million,
equivalent to a gearing ratio of 37.4%. This ratio is lower than the
permitted limit of 50% as stipulated by the Code on Real Estate
Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”). Gross liabilities (excluding net
assets attributable to unitholders) as a percentage of gross assets
were 62.6% (2021 year end: 47.0%).

CMC REIT has obtained a new secured offshore loan facility of
up to HKD4,500 million maturing on 15 December 2025 and a
new secured onshore loan facility of RMB100 million. As at 15
December 2022, CMC REIT had drawn down RMB4,022 million
(equivalent to HKD4,445 million) from the new offshore loan
facility and RMB31 million from the onshore facility to repay all its
preexisting debt, comprising:

—
—

) HKD2,698 million drawn down from a secured offshore facility
repayable on 16/12/2022;

(2) RMB31 million drawn down from an unsecured onshore
facility repayable on 16/12/2022;

(8) HKD115 million drawn down from an offshore secured facility
repayable on 17/5/2028;

(4) HKD1,629 million drawn down from an offshore secured
facility repayable on 30/06/2023.

The new offshore loans bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.55% per
annum. The new onshore loans bear interest at a fixed rate of
3.20% per annum.

The above loan rollover has replaced all HKD loans with RMB
loans, eliminating the previous currency mismatch and its
associated currency risk. As the new loan facilities have a
concentrated maturity, in 2023 we plan to further optimize the
debt structure, by adjusting the maturity of our loans to diversify
this maturity risk. At the same time, to reduce interest expense,
we will explore new financing channels using cross-border RMB to
capitalize on lower RMB interest rates.

BSR4
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (continued)

Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders

As at 31 December 2022, net assets attributable to Unitholders
amounted to RMB3,659 million (31 December 2021: RMB4,007
million) or RMB3.24 per Unit, equivalent to HKD3.63 per Unit (“NAV
per Unit”) (31 December 2021: RMB3.55 per Unit, equivalent
to HKD4.34) based on central parity rate as announced by the
People’s Bank on 30 December 2022. As the change in appraised
value of our properties was marginally positive in 2022, the main
cause for the decrease in NAV per Unit was the depreciation of the
RMB against HKD.

The closing unit price of HKD1.99 on 30 December 2022 was at a
45.2% discount to the NAV per Unit.

ASSET ENHANCEMENT

In the second half of 2022, the renovation and acceptance of work
of the main lobby and the common areas on each floor of New
Times Plaza were completed and the landscaping upgrade of its
outdoor area, other than the area connected with the subway,
was also completed. As asset enhancement works at Cyberport
Building and Technology Building 2 were concluded earlier, the
asset enhancement program for our office buildings in Shenzhen
can now be considered complete. No asset enhancement of
Technology Building is planned and any upgrading in the future will
be dependent on the requirements of Shenzhen Qianhai Shekou
Free Trade Zone Hospital, its main tenant.

Upgrading works at Garden City Shopping Centre are in progress.
Upgrading works of the south zone have been completed and the
zone had a soft reopening on 15 January 2023. At present, the
central zone is closed for upgrading works and the updating of
facilities and various equipment (fire protection, air conditioning,
mechanical and electrical, etc.). For 2023, the anticipated capital
expenditure at Garden City Shopping Centre is RMB160 million.

Asset enhancement works at Onward Science & Trade Center had
mostly been completed before its acquisition. Elevator replacement
and firefighting acceptance, which were scheduled for 2022 were
delayed because of COVID-19, and are expected to be completed
in the first half of 2023.

The Manager continues to emphasize ESG considerations during
the asset enhancement process. Notably, the 32nd-34th floors
of Onward Science & Trade Center were awarded LEED Platinum
certification at the end of the year.
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IMPACT OF COVID-19

In 2022, there was a surge of COVID-19 cases in Shenzhen.
The Manager used its best endeavours to maintain the stable
operations at each property, while fully cooperating with
government requirements of pandemic prevention and control.

COVID-19 cases hit a peak in the first half of 2022, and had a huge
impact on commercial complexes. The accumulated number of
non-operational days for tenants offering training and education,
food & beverage and retail tenants were 88, 30 and 7, respectively.
Coupled with other restrictions on consumer activity, all types of
tenants were severely affected. In the second half of the year, a
new COVID-19 wave broke out across Mainland China. At the
end of 2022, after the relaxation of control measures against the
pandemic, the coronavirus was rampant in Mainland China and
infection rates soared. As a result, foot traffic at shopping malls
was depressed and merchants took a beating again.

In the face of the increasingly fluid COVID-19 situation in 2022, the
Manager maintained a calm and collected approach. As a result,
the Manager was able to minimize disruption to tenants’ operation,
and provide rental relief and support for the appropriate tenants.
At the same time, a flexible leasing strategy was also adopted to
mitigate falling occupancy.

With the receding pandemic, many pandemic prevention and
control measures have been lifted and operations are gradually
returning to normal.
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OUTLOOK

Strong inflationary pressures globally continue to push interest
rates higher. Despite a slowing in the rate at which the US interest
rate have been increasing, high financing costs have become a
headwind for corporate expansion. On the other hand, China eased
its epidemic prevention and control policy in early 2023, bringing
new impetus to the market. This is a promising development, but
the economy will take time to recover and will remain relatively
volatile in the short term.

The commercial real estate market is in flux, with tenants in
some emerging sectors, such as biopharmaceuticals, exhibiting
increased demand for space, but also tenants in some sectors
reducing their leased areas on renewal or even surrendering their
leases. A large number of commercial projects were delayed in
2022 due to the epidemic, and this will cause a peaking of supply
in 2023 increasing pressure on the leasing market. 2023 will pose
significant challenges in terms of passing rent and occupancy rate
for both office and retail assets.

During the epidemic period, the Manager has been actively
renovating and upgrading CMC REIT’s properties. Through
renovating and upgrading the properties, their market
competitiveness should be enhanced. The launch of Shenzhen
Metro Line 12 was delayed due to the Covid-19 epidemic but
eventually began operation in late 2022. Asset enhancement
initiatives of Shenzhen properties also achieved milestones. The
upgradings of New Times Plaza, Technology Building 2 and
Cyberport Building have been completed. Garden City Shopping
Centre South has also completed its upgrade, and was officially
reopened to the public on 15 January 2023. It is expected that the
remainder of Garden City Shopping Centre will be fully upgraded
by the end of 2023. The Manager is hopeful that the relaunch of a
fully renovated Garden City Shopping Centre under a brand-new
image will add more benefits and value to CMC REIT. The Manager
expected that 6 properties under CMC REIT will go through a
process of operational optimization, consolidation and building
momentum in 2023 as the economy gradually recovered after the
epidemic, together with the launch and operation of new metro
line.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

The Manager believes that China’s first-tier cities will continue
to attract talent and migrants from neighboring cities and
become even bigger centers of regional economic activity and
consumption. This will continue to support the demand for space
of our properties in Shenzhen and Beijing in the long run. The
Manager will closely monitor market conditions and adjust its
operating strategies flexibly to help its properties generate high-
quality returns for CMC REIT’s unitholders. At the same time, the
Manager will review the capital structure of CMC REIT from time
to time, with a view to further optimizing the debt structure and
exploring further reduction of debt costs by using cross-border
RMB to prepare for further asset acquisitions.
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THE TOP FIVE REAL ESTATE AGENTS AND hRFEHEREREAERE
CONTRACTORS
Value of
Real estate agents contract/
and contractors Nature commission paid %
Y kX
EEREREAECH BRI E eftfiE
RMB’000
ARETT
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Operation Management 14,481 19.56%
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
B O hERERCRYD AR QA EEER
Shenzhen Jinggong Architectural Renovation and Maintenance 5,580 7.54%
Decoration Group Co. LTD
YT R R EE AR A g R HE
Shenzhen Jinpengjia Decoration Renovation and Maintenance 4,774 6.45%
Group Co. LTD
Ale B ERAMEEGR AR KigRuE
Shenzhen Wenye Decoration Design Renovation and Maintenance 4,665 6.30%
Engineering Co. LTD
RYIX R RET TIRAR QA EEISE 32
Kaeda Global Architectural Design Renovation and Maintenance 3,293 4.45%

Consulting (Beijing) Co., LTD
SUERM R ERF R ULR)
BRAE]

R RigE

Note: The English name is for identification only.
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Property Portfolio ® #2484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS

China Merchants Commercial REIT’s portfolio comprises the following six properties:

New Times Plaza, a Grade A office building with an aggregate Gross Floor Area (“GFA”) of
87,337.0 sg.m. and Gross Rentable Area (“GRA”) of 67,600.0 sg.m. located adjacent to
the Sea World commercial area and Prince Bay, the core area of Shekovu;

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and Technology Building 2, three office building
complexes repurposed from industrial use with an aggregate GFA of 124,545.0 sg.m.
and GRA of 125,079.1 sg.m. located in Shekou Net Valley, a business hub for high- tech
companies and startups which has been earmarked by the Nanshan Government for
promoting and developing emerging industries;

Onward Science & Trade Center, a Grade A office building, is strategically located within the
China World Trade Center CBD, in the Chaoyang district of Beijing. The CBD is one of the
most famous international business districts in China, and its occupants are world leading
financial, media, IT, consulting and service company. Onward Science & Trade Center has
an aggregate Gross Floor Area of 48,370.3 sg.m. (including 7,546.3 sg.m. for parking) and
GRA of 40,824.0 sg.m..

Garden City Shopping Centre, the first large-scale comprehensive commercial complex
integrating shopping, dining, lifestyle and entertainment facilities in Shekou. The complex
has an aggregate GFA of 50,496.9 sq.m. and GRA of 56,720 sg.m..
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile

The following charts depict the industry profile of our tenants by
reference to their GRA as a percentage of the total GRA as at 31
December 2022, and their percentage contribution to Gross Rental
Income in December 2022:
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Note: The tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT

Manager.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HERE(E
Tenant’s Industry Profile (continued) HETEMR(E)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties WENEEZHER

wr
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza

New Times Plaza was completed in 1997 and is a Grade A office
building with a total GRA of 67,600.0 sg.m. It takes only 2 minutes
for walking to Sea World Station, which is the interchange station
between Metro Line 12 and Line 2. It comprises (a) a 2-storey
podium; (b) a 34-storey office tower; and (c) 212 car parking
spaces. New Times Plaza is acclaimed for the excellence of its
architectural design and the high quality of its construction and
workmanship. It has received numerous awards through the years,
such as:

e the China Construction Engineering Luban Prize bestowed by
the Ministry of Construction of the PRC (currently known as the
Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC)
and the China Construction Industry Association in 1999;

e the Shenzhen Outstanding Building for Property Management
from the Housing and Construction Bureau of Shenzhen in 1999;

et ———

NEW TIMES PLAZA
R ES

Heam=EE)
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FERESRIQ7TEEK  A—BBRHEF
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e recognition as a Building of National Standard because
of its building management quality, from the Ministry of
Construction of the PRC (currently known as the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC) in 2000;
and

e Achieved Pre-certification under WELL BUILDING STANDARD
in 2021.

e Achieved LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environment)
operations and maintenance —existing buildings in 2022.

R2000FAEEENEEEMFEPEAR

HMBZEHCEBAPEARENAF
%&fﬂé?ﬂ?@“*ﬁ)%ﬁ [2EMEEIRTRE
AE R

2021 EISWELL (A BIZE)TERE ©

2022 & 15 LEED ( Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design CREIRIZAR AT

KR EBEES RBRE
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties

HERE(E
MRS ()
UE S e

il

41.4% 53.3% 154% 172%  41% 43%  14.7% 16.4%
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2028 and
beyond
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWME(E)
Cyberport Building B ARE

Cyberport Building was completed in 2009. It is a Grade B office  ZI KER2000F 5K - B—RLBGEAEBE
building complex with a total GRA of 40,441.3 sg.m. comprising (a) 1 » A&t AITAE M 1540,441.3F 5K « Hi(a)
a 9-storey office building and a 6-storey office building connected —HOBE N —R6EaEFE  H—E K
on Levels 1 and 2; (b) commercial space for retail units located — #EBIRE : O EESER BN EDR
at Level 1; and (c) 255 car parking spaces. Cyberport Building [ : & (c)255EE S AI40RK o EHE AB A
features a central garden between its two buildings and glass ﬁEPFﬁ SHERAEL . KEMAWIEEFZES
facades that allow natural sunlight to penetrate into creating an airy — ANARRET AZWE - AR LERREMA
and spacious environment for tenants. I&iﬁ
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Cyberport Building is located on the western side of Nanhai &5 AEMNEEAEBER - REEAE LEI
Avenue, located in Shekou Net Valley, known as Silicon Valley of =& JBte MR RN - FaBEHRE - A8
Shenzhen. There is a kindergarten, a large scale hypermarket, a  #8m * B0« EERITFHIRTTRE H 2P
shopping centre, reputable banks and a local hospital nearby, and ~ ZFEEHRBEK A HERG RNt E - AHEF
these surrounding amenities form a sustainable complimentary IBEERR AEF o thoh - RBBEF] - BB A
community that provides great convenience to its tenants. The area B FEBEHI TR 4L/ M #5100 $E 1 TIRIE
is also well- served by public transportation; Cyberport Building is ~ BEBEF20224F B 14 4438 Ky H i3 1 255 42 10 G 0 15)
a 10-minute walk from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and Metro I R EE2H & HFTRRIR ©

Line 12 commences operations in 2022, it takes only 2 minutes to

walk to Sihai Station of Line 12.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Cyberport Building (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HERE(E
Cyberport Building (continued) BIEKE(E)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties WENEEZHER

ul
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TECHNOLOGY BUILDING
BB KRE

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building

Technology Building was completed in 2002. It is a Grade B office
building complex with a total GRA of 41,546.3 sg.m. The building
complex comprises (a) a 7-storey main building; (b) a 6-storey
annex building; and (c) 195 car parking spaces. Technology
Building has become a major office area of Shenzhen Qianhai
Shekou Free Trade Zone Hospital, and has also created the
business atmosphere for medical and related industries.

HeamEE)

BHEAE

RIS KER2002F % T » BLRGABFE -
A EAmIEA1,546.3F H K - BREGAEKRE
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BB ERERMEIMRARE - WK TE
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Technology Building is located on the western side of Nanhai Rt AEBE RO EAEE ERA - £5F
Avenue in the Shekou Net Valley, an e-commerce area integrated M (LEZ(BIETMH « 0 - ES KRS
with high-tech and cultural industries including publishing, the fine A —22HE FrfE A o fism B 25 B -
arts, advertising and design. Schools, hotels, restaurants, food B EREMMEERITMIERIT - Z5XRES
streets and reputable banks are nearby. Technology Building and ~ RHEZAEIRH A HERGRMNTE - AEEP
these surrounding amenities form a sustainable complimentary 2R AEF| o Z @ BEF - B A EER
community that is of great convenience to tenants. The area is 254K EnigIh150 8 H1TIRIZ - IEBER
well-served by public transportation; Technology Building is a  20224F B 14 4 18 f #b $21 295 45 T 22 /< 3R Hh 58k
15-minute walk from Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and Metro 4B A9 /I FH1TIEIE o

Line 12 commences operations in 2022, it will take approximately

5 minutes to walk to Gongye 6th Road Station of Metro Line 12.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEREE)
Technology Building (continued) MEAREE)
Tenant’s Industry Profile HETEBR
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building 2

Technology Building 2 was completed in 2010. It is a Grade B
office building complex. Technology Building 2 has a total Gross
Rentable Area of 43,091.5 sg.m. The complex comprises (a) two
6-storey industrial workshops; and (b) 220 car parking spaces.

Heam=E(E)

B XKE=H
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Technology Building 2 is located at the western side of Nanhai
Avenue in Shekou Net Valley. The surroundings of office building
complex are similar to those of Technology Building. There are
schools, hotels, restaurants, food streets and reputable banks
near the complex and these community amenities provide
great convenience to tenants. The area is well-served by public
transportation; Technology Building 2 is 15 minutes on foot from
Shuiwan Station of Metro Line 2 and Metro Line 12 commences
operations in 2022, it will take a minute to walk to Gongye 6th Road
Station of Metro Line 12.

B REZSuRte O @A EREAR - &
RAEZBHESRRERBSKER - 74
BYEMMLEER AE - £ ERERE
BRITHRTIT - ZELE R AEAFPIRER
RIEF) o ZMEIBEF] - BHEAE — BRFE B
Hb ISR AR R KB I U155 SE AP 1TREAE - TRRE
FR2022F FA & B R I 1258 48 T /N Bk b
VA D BRI T TREAE ©
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building 2 (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEEE(E)
Technology Building 2 (continued) BEAKE-H(EZ
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties YIENHEDHER

_ R
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Garden City Shopping Centre

Garden City Shopping Centre has completed in 2006 and is
the first large-scale integrated commercial complex featuring
shopping, dining, lifestyle and entertainment activities in the
Shekou sub-district. Garden City Shopping Centre a renovation of
a sub area of Garden City Shopping Centre in 2021. It comprises
(a) 5-storeys or retail shops; (b) 685 car parking spaces; and (c) a
2-storey basement with ancillary facilities that enhance the retail
experience of shoppers at the complex.

BEWEE)
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Garden City Shopping Centre is located at the eastern side of  JEEWAI M S AE R A & B ER A o
Nanhai Avenue and the southern side of Dong Bin Tunnel. There T BEJE - EE - EE2RIFHNETRAEER
are hotels, restaurants, reputable banks and a hypermarket nearby 1 * TTE{TAXREBEBRIERBBATER - £17
and it is a one minute walk from Garden City Shopping Centre to  (EI24158& - ZWEMRBEMMEER - B
the neighbouring residential complex via a footbridge. The complex @ f| - EATLE+RHHEEE QN HETET A
is located in a commercial cum residential area that is well-served ¥R B3 o 81255 46 P0G 1b $5 15 B & HA 2022
by public transportation such as franchised buses and taxis. One  FERMEBE  EF—EALOEEEZEBEEE
of the exits of Metro Line 12 has commence operation in 2022, and W SZM I BB TEET 2023 F FIR A %
the directly connection corridor to Garden City Shopping Centre is 18 o

expected to operate by the end of 2023.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Garden City Shopping Centre (continued)
Tenant’s Industry Profile
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HERE(E
Garden City Shopping Centre (continued) TEEBE(EZ)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties WENEEZHER

P >
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Onward Science & Trade Center

Onward Science & Trade Center was completed at the end of
1999 and put into formal use in 2000, as a Grade A office building
with a total GRA of 40,832.99 sqg.m., consisting of (1) 15-storey
office/mixed-use units and 3 commercial units of a 34-storey office
building (China Merchants Tower); (2) one commercial unit in a
4-storey commercial building (AIA NPA Centre); (3) one commercial
unit connecting the podium of China Merchants Tower and Ping An
Financial Center; (4) one commercial unit in a 3-storey commercial
building (China Merchants Bank Building); (5) two commercial
units in an 18-storey office building (China HP Building); (6) 528
underground parking spaces and 3 underground commercial units.
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Known for its strategic location in the China World Trade Center  $B7 B ZERIE F1 .0 A B A AL mEAG R B R
CBD in the Chaoyang district of Beijing, Onward Science & Trade /L F¥ RSB AT B R - HER I R4%EE
Center is located in the concentration of the world’s leading &4 &t - H8 BB - BN RRETEY
financial, media, IT, consulting and service companies, and directly EhiER  WEHEBEIIRMEIHE —2H
connected to Jianguo Road (also known as Chang’an Road East I (MMBRLTEHELLR) » W H1TR]EILREE
Extension), one of Beijing’s main thoroughfares, and within walking  [CH M E IR B UL - B BRMERIZE D0
distance of Guomao Station, Beijing’s busiest interchange subway 2019 BtA T AR (S BB - KI5 D
station. Onward Science & Trade Center commenced major  #&F20224FE TR ©

decoration and renovation in 2019, most of which was completed

by the end of 2022.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Onward Science & Trade Center (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HETHEE)

Onward Science & Trade Center (continued) HBERMENERL(E
Tenant’s Industry Profile HETEBR

ul M M

6.6% 5.2% 22.7% 38.0%  30.0% 0.0%

8.7% 8.6% 25.8% 39.9% 0.8% 1.1% 5.4% 7.2%

2028 and
beyond szi:am
2028 F R bl =
P Percentage LA E 1 Percentage of HAHEE
of GRA HBEBENBEDL Monthly Rental Income WANBED
Passing Rent and Occupancy Rate HEHESRHER
319.2 319.3
([ ([
70.4% 70.0%
[ ] (]
@ Passing Rent REFHAE

@ Occupancy Rate  HfA=
(RMB/Square Meter) (AR /FHK)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SoclAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

RIE -1 EREBHER

China Merchants Commercial REIT is managed by the Manager
who in turn has delegated the functions of property management to
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. and Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Estate Management
Co., Ltd. pursuant to the Operations Management Agreement
and the Property Management Agreements, respectively. China
Merchants Commercial REIT (together with the Manager and
parties who have been delegated functions are collectively referred
to as “we” hereinafter) established an ESG working group (“ESG
Working Group”) led by the members of the Board of Directors
of the REIT Manager (“Board”), to lead, organise, and execute our
strategies, policies and approaches on environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) issues. The ESG Working Group also assists
the Board in evaluating and monitoring ESG issues, developing and
reviewing our ESG policy, following up on the progress of ESG-
related objectives, and reviewing ESG reports to ensure that the
disclosures comply with the Listing Rules. The ESG Working Group
at least meets and reports to the Board annually.

To management ESG risks effectively, we continued to put
resources on promoting sustainability throughout the year, and
embedded ESG considerations in our business development
strategy. Focusing on various environmental issues, we
monitored and enhanced our environmental performance by
reviewing our historical environmental performance data and
setting environmental targets for greenhouse gas emissions,
energy consumption, water consumption and hazardous waste
management according to national policies and peer practices.
We will continue to take environmental initiatives to improve energy
efficiency and water efficiency in the properties we manage,
properly dispose of and reduce wastes, and pursue greener
operations, so as to reduce the impact of business development on
the environment and reach our environmental targets.

We are aware of the risks and threats that climate risk poses to our
business operations and the world. To this end, we have engaged
a third-party consultant to conduct climate risk assessment since
last year, and identified significant climate risks to our business.
During the Reporting Year, we also continued to deepen our
climate risk assessment by conducting scenario assessments to
identify the likelihood of extreme weather events and the impact
on the main operating locations of China Merchants Commercial
REIT. Extreme wind has been identified by us as a high probability
and severity of impact on the properties of China Merchants
Commercial REIT in Shekou, Shenzhen by scenario assessments.
We will implement measures to strengthen our resilience to climate
change based on the relevant assessment results.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Review o IR3E - (& L ESHIE

We believe that an equal and diverse work environment is the
cornerstone of our employees’ career development. We are
committed to providing equal opportunities for employees from
different backgrounds, and actively promote diversity and inclusion
in the workplace. We ensure that all employees are treated
fairly and transparently, and attract and retain talents through
competitive compensation, open communication and regular
employee care activities. Through a well-established training
system, we are committed to helping the growth of our employees
in their posts and develop their knowledge of the industry and
corporate culture. We see the wellbeing, safety and health of our
employees as an integral part of our business and developed an
occupational health and safety compliance assessment form for
their self-evaluation to protect our staff and workers from any
occupational safety hazards. During the outbreak of COVID-19, we
strived to provide a safe working environment for our employees by
actively implementing prevention and control measures in response
to the pandemic.

Our procurement procedures follow the principles of openness
and transparency, and we have built mutual trust and long-term
relationships with our suppliers to jointly promote sustainable
development. We require suppliers to comply with our supply chain
ethics and environmental policies, such as treating employees
with fairness and respect, opposing forced and child labor
and protecting environment. We support suppliers in building
their sustainable business models by raising their awareness
on environmental, social and corporate governance through
communication and training. We actively develop renewable energy
and low-carbon supply chains and promote environment-friendly
products and technologies, to promote the development of the
entire supply chain in a sustainable direction.

Looking forward, we are devoted to being a leader in sustainability.
We strive to make a positive contribution to society and
environment by actively managing ESG risks, ensuring employees’
well-being and customers’ satisfaction and developing sustainable
supply chains and environmental initiatives. In addition, we
will continue to strive for innovation and improvement, so that
sustainable practices and visions are embedded in our business
and communities.

For details of the ESG issues, please refer to our 2022 ESG Report.
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INTRODUCTION

With the objectives of establishing and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance, policies and procedures have been put
in place to promote the operation of CMC REIT in a transparent
manner and with built-in checks and balances. The Manager
has adopted a compliance manual (the “Compliance Manual”)
which sets out corporate governance policies as well as the
responsibilities and functions of each key officer. The Compliance
Manual also clearly defines reporting channels, workflows,
and specifies procedures and forms designed to facilitate the
compliance of the Manager with various provisions of the Trust
Deed, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”), the Code on Real Estate Investment
Trusts (the “REIT Code”) and other relevant rules and regulations.

The corporate governance policies of CMC REIT have been
adopted having due regard to the requirements under Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), with necessary
changes as if those rules were applicable to REITs. To prevent
the misuse of inside information and to monitor and supervise any
dealings of Units, the Manager has adopted a code containing
rules on dealings by the directors and the Manager equivalent to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

Throughout the Reporting Year, the Manager and CMC REIT has
complied with the REIT Code, the relevant provisions of the SFO,
the Listing Rules applicable to CMC REIT, the Trust Deed and the
Compliance Manual in all material respects.

Set out below is a summary of the key components of the
corporate governance policies that have been adopted and will be
followed by the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. Such policies may
be amended by a simple majority vote of all of the directors.

AUTHORISATION STRUCTURE

CMC REIT is a collective investment scheme authorised by the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) under
section 104 of the SFO and regulated by certain laws, regulations
and documents including the REIT Code.

The REIT Manager has been authorised by the SFC under
section 116 of the SFO to conduct the regulated activity of asset
management. The REIT Manager has three persons who are
approved as Responsible Officers pursuant to the requirements
of the SFO and the REIT Code. They are Mr. Guo Jin, Mr. Choo
Chong Yao, Patrick and Mr. Zhong Ning.

The Trustee is registered as a trust company under section 77 of
the Trustee Ordinance. The Trustee is qualified to act as a trustee
for collective investment schemes authorized under the SFO
pursuant to the REIT Code.
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ROLES OF THE TRUSTEE AND REIT MANAGER

The Trustee and the REIT Manager are independent of each other.

The Trustee is responsible under the Trust Deed for the safe
custody of the assets of CMC REIT on behalf of Unitholders and for
overseeing the activities of the REIT Manager for compliance with
the relevant constitutive documents of, and applicable regulatory
requirements applicable to CMC REIT.

The REIT Manager’s role under the Trust Deed is to manage CMC
REIT and its assets in accordance with the Trust Deed, and in
particular to ensure that the financial and economic aspects of
CMC REIT’s assets are professionally managed in the sole interests
of the Unitholders. In accordance with the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager is required to act in the best interests of Unitholders, to
whom it owes a fiduciary duty.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprises seven members,
three of whom are independent non-executive directors. The
Board oversees the management of the REIT Manager’s affairs
and the conduct of its business and is responsible for the overall
governance of the REIT Manager. The Board exercises its general
powers within the limits defined by its constitutional documents,
with a view to ensuring that management discharges its duties
and is compensated appropriately, and that sound internal control
policies and risk management systems are maintained. The Board
will also review major financial decisions and the performance of
the REIT Manager.

During the Reporting Year, subsequent to the publication of the
2022 Interim Report, the Manager was aware of the following
changes of Directors’ information:

e In January 2022, Mr. Lin Hua resigned as independent
director of Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601166);

e In July 2022, Mr. Lin Hua was appointed as an independent
director of Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd (a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601169);

e |In September 2022, Mr. Lin Hua resigned as independent
non-executive director of Zhenro Properties Group Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6158).
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEg(E)
Years as
Members of the Board Position Gender Age Director
ExEemE B gl FiR EEESFH
Huang Junlong Chairman and Non-executive Director Male 57 3
|mIE TRFIFNITES S
Guo Jin Executive Director Male 54 3
FhE HITES St
Liu Ning Non-executive Director Female 54 3
2%z FHITES g
Yu Zhiliang Non-executive Director Male 44 3
RER HFUITESF Esf
Lin Hua Independent Non-executive Director Male a7 3
M BUERTES B
Lin Chen Independent Non-executive Director Male 44 3
MR BUERITES St
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena Independent Non-executive Director Female 51 1
BrE BUERTES zi
Board Composition EEEAK

The Board composition will be reviewed regularly to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience and
that the directors being appointed have the relevant expertise and
experience in discharging their duties.

The composition of the Board is determined using the following
principles:

° the Chairman of the Board should be a non-executive
director;

e the Board should have a balance of skill, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of
CMC REIT’s business and should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption;
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

o the Board should have a balanced composition of executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board which
can effectively exercise independent judgement;

e the Board should have a policy concerning diversity of the
board members which is appropriate for the requirements
of CMC REIT’s business, and shall disclose the policy
on diversity or a summary of the policy in the corporate
governance report;

e at least one-third of the Board and a minimum of three
members of the Board should be independent non-executive
directors and at least one independent non-executive
director must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise; and

e the re-election and further appointment of any independent
non-executive director serving on the Board for nine years
shall be subject to a separate Unitholders’ resolution. An
additional independent non-executive director shall be
appointed if all existing independent non-executive directors
have served on the board for over nine years.

Roles of the Key Board Members

The positions of Chairman and the Executive Director are held by
separate persons in order to maintain an effective segregation of
duties.

The Chairman leads the Board discussions and deliberations and
is responsible for setting the meeting agenda of Board meetings.
He ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary. He
promotes high standards of corporate governance and the
maintenance of effective communications with Unitholders.

The Executive Director is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. The Executive
Director executes the strategic plans set out by the Board and
ensures that the directors are kept updated and informed of CMC
REIT’s business through management reports.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy of the REIT Manager ensures that
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of the Board is
maintained. This policy will be reviewed annually. Selection of
candidates is based on a number of factors, including but not
limited to age, cultural and educational background, gender,
knowledge, length of service and professional experience or skills.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, except in the
case of gender; at minimum one of the directors shall be female.
At present the board comprises 5 male directors and 2 female
directors.

Board Meetings

Board meetings will normally be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. To ensure that directors will
be given sufficient time to consider the issues to be tabled at the
various Board meetings, details of the venue, time and agenda of
the meeting are required to be given at least 14 days in advance of
the meeting (except if there are exceptional circumstances or if the
majority of directors agree to a shorter period of notice).

No Board meeting, or any adjourned Board meeting, will be
quorate unless a simple majority of directors are present at the
time when the relevant business is transacted. If a director who,
whether directly or indirectly, has a material interest in a contract or
proposed contract with the REIT Manager which is of significance
to the REIT Manager’s business, he must declare the nature of
his interest during the Board meeting or by giving a general notice
to the Board, whichever is earlier before the question of entering
into the contract is taken into consideration on behalf of the REIT
Manager. A director who is prohibited from voting by reason of a
conflict of interest or that the REIT Manager has excluded from
voting will not be counted for the purposes of establishing the
necessary quorum for the meeting.

Matters to be considered by the Board will be adopted on the basis
of a simple majority of votes.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees

The Board has the power to delegate to committees consisting
of such numbers of its body as it thinks fit. Four committees
have been established to assist the Board in discharging its
responsibilities. The committees of the Board have been set up
with clear terms of reference to review specific issues or items and
then to submit their findings and recommendations to the full Board
for consideration and endorsement. Unless the decision making
power has been vested in the relevant committee by the Board, the
ultimate responsibility for making final decisions rests with the full
Board and not the committees. The committees of the Board are
currently as follows:

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises the Chief Investment and
Asset Management Officer and two directors one of whom shall
be an independent non-executive director. As at the date of this
report, the members of the Investment Committee are Mr. Yu
Zhiliang, Mr. Guo Jin and Mr. Lin Hua. Mr. YU Zhiliang is the current
chairman of the committee.

The Investment Committee is responsible for, among other
matters, evaluating and making recommendations on proposed
acquisitions and disposals of assets, approving budgets and
reviewing actual expenses on all key expenditures and reviewing
quarterly financial performance, forecasts and annual financial
plans of the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. The Investment
Committee also reviews and recommends changes to delegated
authority, policies or procedures in areas such as accounting,
taxes, treasury, distribution payout, investment appraisal,
management and statutory reporting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises at least three members
appointed by the Board from among the non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors. A majority of the
members of the Audit Committee shall be independent non-
executive directors and at least one of them shall have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Audit Committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. As at the date of this
report, the members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Lin Hua, Mr.
Lin Chen and Ms. Liu Ning. Mr. Lin Hua, is the current chairman of
the committee.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee is responsible for establishing and
maintaining an adequate internal control structure, effective
financial reporting and risk management systems and ensuring the
quality and integrity of financial statements. The Audit Committee
is also responsible for the nomination of independent external
auditors and reviewing the adequacy of external audits in respect of
cost, scope and performance. The Audit Committee also ensures
the existence and working of an effective system of internal control
and risk management, in respect of both the REIT Manager and
CMC REIT.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities also include:

reviewing dealings of the REIT Manager and the directors on a
half-yearly basis;

reviewing all financial statements and all external audit reports
and developing and implementing a policy on the engagement
of external auditors to supply non-audit services;

ensuring the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and guiding the management to take appropriate actions to
remedy any faults or deficiencies in internal controls which
may be identified;

assisting the Board in its monitoring of the entity’s overall risk
management profile and setting guidelines and policies to
govern risk assessment and risk management;

periodically reviewing and monitoring all connected party
transactions and related party transactions; and

reviewing the REIT Manager and CMC REIT’s compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is appointed by the
Board from among the directors. A majority of the members of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall be independent
non-executive directors. The chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee shall be the Chairman or an independent
non-executive director. As at the date of this report, the members
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are Mr. Huang
Junlong, Mr. Lin Chen and Ms. Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena. Mr. Huang
Junlong is the current chairman of the committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities
include, among other things:

* reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and its committees
at least annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the REIT
Manager’s corporate strategy;

e developing the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship;

e identifying individuals who are qualified/suitable to
become a member of the Board and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or removal of directors and succession
planning for directors;

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
and retirement policies and packages for directors and
ensuring that no director is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration;

e assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors to determine their eligibility;

e  reviewing, monitoring and reporting on the REIT Manager’s
board diversity policy; and

e reviewing the terms and conditions of employment of all staff
and directors, the manpower deployment plan (including the
succession plan for the management), remuneration and
retirement policies and packages.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Disclosures Committee

The Disclosures Committee is appointed by the Board from
among the directors. The Disclosures Committee consists of
three directors, one of whom shall be an independent non-
executive director. As at the date of this report, the members of
the Disclosures Committee are Ms. Liu Ning, Mr. Guo Jin and Ms.
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena. Ms. Liu Ning is the current chairman of
the committee.

The role of the Disclosures Committee includes reviewing matters
relating to the disclosure of information to Unitholders and public
announcements. The Disclosures Committee also works with the
management of the REIT Manager to ensure that the disclosure of
information is accurate, complete and not misleading.

The Disclosures Committee’s responsibilities include:

e regularly reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on matters of corporate disclosure issues and
announcements regarding (without limitation) financial
reporting, connected party transactions, and potential areas
of conflicts of interest;

e overseeing compliance with applicable legal requirements and
the continuity, accuracy, clarity, completeness and currency
of information disseminated by or on behalf of CMC REIT to
the public and applicable regulatory agencies;

° reviewing and approving all material non-public information
and all public regulatory filings of or on behalf of CMC REIT
prior to such information being disseminated to the public or
filed with applicable regulatory agencies, as applicable;

o reviewing periodic and current reports, proxy statements,
information statements, registration statements and any other
information filed with regulatory bodies;

o reviewing press releases containing financial information,
information about material acquisitions or dispositions or other
information material to the Unitholders; and

e reviewing correspondence containing financial information
disseminated to the Unitholders.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Attendance

The REIT Manager held four board meetings over the period from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022. The attendance of individual
directors at the Board Meetings and various Board Committee

Meetings convened is as follows:
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

All conflicts of interest shall be managed by the Board in
accordance with the articles of association of the REIT Manager
and applicable laws, rules and regulations. The REIT Manager shall
ensure that all conflicts of interest relating to CMC REIT shall be
managed and avoided. The following measures are taken in this
regard:

e the REIT Manager will be a dedicated manager to CMC REIT
and, unless with the approval of the SFC, the REIT Manager
will not manage any REIT other than CMC REIT nor manage
other real estate assets other than those in which CMC REIT
has an ownership interest or investment;

e the REIT Manager will ensure that it will be able to function
independently from its shareholders and all senior executives
and officers will be employed by the REIT Manager or the
Onshore Manager Subsidiary on a full time basis and solely be
dedicated to the operations of CMC REIT;

e the REIT Manager has established procedures to deal with
conflicts of interest under its compliance manual;

e  The REIT Manager has established internal control systems to
ensure that connected party transactions between CMC REIT
and its connected persons are monitored and undertaken
according to procedures and/or on terms in compliance
with the REIT Code (or where applicable, in compliance with
the waiver conditions imposed by the SFC) and that other
potential conflicts of interest that may arise are monitored;

e all conflicts of interest involving a substantial Unitholder or a
director, or a connected person through such entities, will be
managed by a physical Board meeting rather than through a
written resolution and all independent non-executive directors
who, and whose associates, have no material interest in the
matter should be present at such Board meeting; and

e adirector who has material interests in a matter which is the
subject of a resolution proposed at a Board meeting of the
REIT Manager shall abstain from voting on the resolution
concerned.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (continued)

All connected party transactions must be:

o carried out at arm’s length, on normal commercial terms and
in an open and transparent manner;

e valued, in relation to a property transaction, by an
independent property valuer;

e consistent with CMC REIT’s investment objectives and
strategy;

° in the best interests of Unitholders;
e properly disclosed to Unitholders; and

e approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the REIT Manager (or a committee thereof). Where the
prior approval of Unitholders is required, the independent
non-executive directors of the REIT Manager (or a committee
thereof) shall confirm in a letter set out in the circular to
Unitholders, whether the terms and conditions of the
transaction are fair, reasonable and in the best interests of
Unitholders, and whether Unitholders should vote in favour of
the resolution.

The REIT Manager must demonstrate to the independent
non-executive directors and the Audit Committee that all
connected party transactions satisfy the foregoing criteria,
which may entail (where practicable) obtaining quotations from
independent third parties, or obtaining one or more valuation letters
from independent professional valuers.

Prior approval of Unitholders is required for connected party
transactions unless the Assets, Revenue, Consideration and
Equity Capital percentage ratio of the transaction (as defined
under paragraph 14.07 of the Listing Rules) are all less than five
percent. Save for the appointment or removal of the REIT Manager,
a Unitholder is prohibited from voting its Units at, or being part of
a quorum for, any meeting of Unitholders convened to approve
any matter in which the Unitholder has a material interest in the
business to be conducted and that interest is different from the
interest of other Unitholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of CMC REIT and
ensuring that these systems are effectively maintained.

The Board will meet regularly to review the risks to the assets and
business of CMC REIT and discuss the implementation of risk
mitigations measures. Various risk areas relevant to real estate
investment trusts are analysed regularly and monitored by the REIT
Manager, including the following:

° Property Related Risks (broken down into Tenant
Concentration risk, Sector Concentration risk, Geographical
Concentration risk, Tenant Expiry risk and Property Damage
risk)

o Legal Risks (broken down into Property Liability risk, Litigation
risk and Land Use risk)

e Financing Risks (broken down into Interest Rate risk,
Refinancing risk and Gearing risk)

° Market Risks (essentially Currency risk)

° Operational Risks (broken down into Premises Denial risk,
Cyber Security risk and Fraud risk)

e  (Climate Risks (broken down into Acute Physical risk, Chronic
Physical risk, Reporting Transitional risk and Technology
Transitional risk)

The internal auditor of the REIT Manager (“Internal Auditor”)
conducts independent reviews to ensure the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of operational processes and internal
controls. The Board will consider and, if appropriate, act upon any
recommendations from the Internal Auditor. The Internal Auditor
conducts financial, operations and compliance reviews, recurring
and ad-hoc audits, fraud investigation and process efficiency
reviews. A summary report with key findings, improvement
recommendations and implementation status is provided to the
Audit Committee on a regular basis.

For the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of CMC REIT’s risk management and internal control systems,
covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance. Based on the recommendation of the Audit
Committee, the Board confirmed that the REIT Manager’s risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate, and identified no significant areas of concern.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

CMC REIT will in each calendar year hold an annual general
meeting in addition to any other general meetings in that year. The
Trustee or the REIT Manager may at any time convene a meeting
of Unitholders. The REIT Manager will also convene a meeting of
Unitholders if requested in writing by not less than two Unitholders
registered as holding together not less than 10% of the Units
in issue. In general, a circular shall be sent within 15 business
days to holders after the issuance of an announcement. Where a
general meeting is to be held, the relevant circular shall be sent to
holders at the same time as or before the relevant notice of general
meeting. Such notice will specify the time and place of the meeting
and the terms of any resolutions to be proposed.

Two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered
as holding together not less than 10% of the Units for the
time being in issue and outstanding will form a quorum for the
transaction of all business, except for the purpose of passing a
Special Resolution. The quorum for passing a Special Resolution
will be two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy
registered as holding together not less than 25% of the Units in
issue and outstanding. The quorum for an adjourned meeting shall
be such number of Unitholders who are present in person or by
proxy, regardless of the number of Units held by them.

REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY

CMC REIT will prepare its accounts in accordance with IFRS with
a financial year end of 31st December and a financial half-year
end of 30th June. In accordance with the REIT Code, the annual
report and accounts for CMC REIT will be published and sent to
the Unitholders no later than four months following the end of each
financial year. Semi-annual reports will be published and sent to the
Unitholders no later than three months following the end of each
financial half-year.

The REIT Manager shall ensure that a full valuation of each of
CMC REIT’s properties shall be conducted by a principal valuer
appointed in accordance with the Trust Deed at least once a
year, and may require the principal valuer to carry out additional
valuations or inspections in any other circumstance prescribed by
the REIT Code and at such occasions as the REIT Manager may
determine is necessary.
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REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY (continued)

The REIT Manager shall keep the Unitholders informed of any
material information pertaining to CMC REIT in a timely and
transparent manner as required by the REIT Code and the
provisions of Part XIVA of the SFO shall have effect, mutatis
mutandis, as if CMC REIT is a ‘listed corporation’ and as if the
Board of Directors of the REIT Manager are the Board of Directors
of a ‘listed corporation’. As required by the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager will inform Unitholders as soon as reasonably practicable
of any information or transaction concerning CMC REIT which:

o is necessary to enable Unitholders to appraise the position of
CMC REIT; or

o is necessary to avoid a false market in the Units; or

o might be reasonably expected to materially affect market
activity or the price of Units of CMC REIT; or

o requires Unitholders’ approval.

DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Under the Trust Deed at least one distribution shall be made in
respect of each financial year and paid no later than five months
after the distribution calculation date for the relevant distribution
period. CMC REIT’s present distribution policy is make two
distributions in respect of each year, being distributions with
respect to the six-month periods ending 30th June and 31st
December. Distributions to Unitholders will be declared and paid
in Hong Kong dollars. In accordance with the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager’s will distribute to Unitholders an amount of no less than
90% of CMC REIT’s Annual Distributable Income for each financial
year.
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, “Annual Distributable Income”
for a financial year is the amount calculated by the REIT Manager to
be the consolidated audited Net Profit After Tax of CMC REIT and
its subsidiaries for that financial year, adjusted for various non-cash
gains/losses or expenses including:

unrealised property revaluation gain and losses, including
impairment provisions and reversals of impairment provisions;

goodwill impairment (charged) and/or negative goodwill
(credited);

differences between financial costs recognised on the
financial statements and interest paid and payable in
accordance with contractual obligations during that financial
year or that distribution period (as the case may be);

realised gains or losses on the disposal of financial
instruments or the disposal of properties and/or disposal of
the Special Purpose Vehicle which holds such properties;

fair value gains and losses on financial instruments;

deferred tax charges/credits in respect of property valuation
movements, fair value changes on financial instruments
and commercial building allowances/capital allowances,
withholding tax on retained profits to be distributed and other
tax losses or other deductions claimed;

allocation of statutory reserve as required by applicable laws;

the portion of the REIT Manager’s fee that is paid in the form
of Units;

non-cash foreign exchange gains or losses;

costs of any public offering of Units, Convertible Instruments
or other forms of debt and/or securities that are expensed
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income but are funded by proceeds from the
issuance of such Units, Convertible Instruments or other forms
of debt and/or securities;

depreciation and amortisation in respect of a real estate
directly or indirectly owned by CMC REIT, and its ancillary
machinery, equipment and other fixed assets;

the effects of any amount paid to CMC REIT for the express
purpose of distribution to Unitholders; and

other material non-cash gains/losses, in each case as
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income for the financial year.
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

For the avoidance of doubt, the Annual Distributable Income is
calculated after accounting for the Base Fee and the Variable
Fee payable to the REIT Manager and excludes any additional

discretionary distributions out of capital.

The REIT Manager has the discretion to direct the Trustee to
make distributions over and above the minimum 90% of Annual
Distributable Income if and to the extent CMC REIT, in the
opinion of the REIT Manager, has funds surplus to its business
requirements. The present policy is to distribute 100% of the

Annual Distributable Income.

The Trustee, the REIT Manager and Eureka Investment Company
Ltd (“Eureka”), a wholly owned subsidiary of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co. Ltd., have entered into an
agreement where Eureka will make cash payments as necessary to
the Trustee for the benefit of CMC REIT such that when such cash
is paid out to Unitholders in addition to the Annual Distributable
Income, the DPU of CMC REIT will be no less than the amounts

specified here:

DIRBER (48 )
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Relevant Period

BB

Committed DPU
BESBENDIREAE

Listing Date to 31 December 2019
L+ HEE2019412A31H

F/Y ended 31 December 2020

B Z2020F12 A1 AL BFE
F/Y ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31 B LHHFE
F/Y ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022%12 A31H LHHEFE

HK$0.0142
0.01427& 7T
HK$0.2360
0.23607 7T
HK$0.2541
0.254178 7T
HK$0.2614
0.2614/8 7T

Pursuant to the agreement between the three parties, the REIT
Manager intends to distribute to Unitholders all of such payments

received from Eureka.

ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS

To minimise the possible material dilution of holdings of Unitholders,
any issue of Units will need to comply with the preemption provisions
contained in the REIT Code, the Trust Deed and any other applicable
laws and regulations. The REIT Code provisions require that issues
of Units be first offered on a pro rata pre-emptive basis to existing

Unitholders except that Units may be issued:

e free of such pre-emption rights up to an aggregate maximum
in any financial year of 20% of the number of Units outstanding

at the end of the previous financial year; and

e free of pre-emption rights in other circumstances provided
that the approval of Unitholders by way of an Ordinary

Resolution is obtained.
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ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS (continued)

Subject thereto, Units may be issued as consideration for the
acquisition of additional real estate.

Unitholders’ approval is required for all issues of new Units to
connected persons unless a waiver has been granted by the SFC.
The SFC has granted, a waiver that allows the REIT Manager to
issue new Units to a connected person under these situations:

e arightsissue or as part of any offer made to all Unitholders on
a pro rata basis;

e g capitalisation issue in so far as such issue is offered to the
Unitholders on a pro rata basis;

e anissue of Units in respect of re-investment of a distribution to
Unitholders;

e the connected person receives a pro rata entitlement to Units
and/or Convertible Instruments in its capacity as a Unitholder
(provided that such issue will not increase the market
capitalisation of CMC REIT by more than 50%);

e top-up subscription by a connected person to facilitate a
placing of Units and/or Convertible Instruments to other
parties, subject to certain restrictions.

Where Unitholders’ approval is required for an issue of new Units
to a connected person, both the connected person subscriber and
any other person who has a material interest in the resolution to
approve such issue, and that interest is different from that of other
Unitholders, shall abstain from voting on such resolution.

During the Period under Review, there were no new Units issued.

INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

To prevent the misuse of inside information and to monitor and
supervise any dealings of Units, the REIT Manager has adopted a
code containing rules on dealings by the directors and the REIT
Manager equivalent to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to this code, all directors and employees of the
REIT Manager, subsidiaries of the REIT Manager or Special
Purpose Vehicles of CMC REIT who, because of his/her office
or employment is likely to be in possession of unpublished price
sensitive information in relation CMC REIT (“Management
Persons”) wishing to deal in securities of CMC REIT must first have
regard to provisions in Parts Xlll and XIV of the SFO with respect
to insider dealing and market misconduct as if those provisions
applied to the securities of CMC REIT.
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INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(continued)

In addition, a Management Person must not make any
unauthorised disclosure of confidential information or make any
use of such information for the advantage of himself/herself or
others. Management Persons who are aware of or privy to any
negotiations or agreements related to intended acquisitions or
disposals which are notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules as if applicable to CMC REIT or any connected party
transactions under the REIT Code or any inside information must
refrain from dealing in the securities of CMC REIT as soon as they
become aware of them or privy to them until proper disclosure of
the information in accordance all applicable rules and regulations.
Management Persons who are privy to relevant negotiations
or agreements or any inside information should caution those
Management Persons who are not so privy that there may be inside
information and that they must not deal in the securities of CMC
REIT for a similar period.

A Management Person must not, unless the circumstances are
exceptional, deal in any of the securities of CMC REIT on any day
on which CMC REIT’s financial results are published and:

e during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the period
from the end of the relevant financial year up to the publication
date of the results; and

e during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) or half-yearly
results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant
quarterly or half-year period up to the publication date of the
results.

The REIT Manager is subject to the same dealing requirements as
the directors, mutatis mutandis.

The provisions of Part XV of the SFO with respect to disclosure of
interests are deemed to apply to the REIT Manager, the directors
of the REIT Manager and each Unitholder and all persons claiming
through or under him. The REIT Manager has adopted procedures
for the monitoring of disclosure of interests by directors of the
REIT Manager, and the REIT Manager. Under the Trust Deed,
Unitholders with a holding of 5% or more of the Units in issue, and
the directors of the REIT Manager with an interest in the Units, will
have a notifiable interest and will be required to notify the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the REIT Manager of their holdings
in CMC REIT. The REIT Manager shall keep a register for these
purposes and it shall record in the register, against a person’s
name, the particulars provided pursuant to the notification and the
date of entry of such record. The said register shall be available for
inspection by the Trustee and any Unitholder at any time during
business hours upon reasonable notice to the REIT Manager.
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INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Specific enquiry has been made of all directors and all of them
have confirmed that they have complied with CMC REIT’s rules on
dealings by directors which are equivalent to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in this report and previous disclosures
(including announcements, circulars and Offering Circular) issued
by the REIT Manager, there are no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significant subsisting during the Reporting Year in
which a Director or any entity connected with a Director is or was
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly.

MATTERS TO BE DECIDED BY UNITHOLDERS
BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, decisions with respect to certain
matters require specific prior approval of Unitholders by way of
Special Resolution. Such matters include:

e changes in the REIT Manager’s investment policies or
strategies for CMC REIT;

e  disposal of any of real estate investments which have been
held for less than two years;

e any increase in the rate above the permitted limit or change in
structure of the REIT Manager’s or Trustee’s fees;

° certain modifications of the Trust Deed; and
° termination or merger of CMC REIT;

Unitholders may also, by way of a Special Resolution, remove the
Trustee or appoint new auditors in place of the existing auditors.
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UNITHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

Maintaining an ongoing dialogue with Unitholders and the
investment community at large is an important priority for CMC
REIT. To this end, the REIT Manager has in place a Unitholder
Communication Policy that dictates timely and effective
dissemination of information regarding the business strategies,
property operations and prospects of CMC REIT. This policy also
promotes engagement with all other stakeholders, giving them
equal access to pertinent information about CMC REIT.

Beyond statutory disclosure requirements, after the end of
each calendar quarter CMC REIT voluntarily releases unaudited
operational statistics containing the occupancy rate and passing
rent of each owned property. These leasing statistics help
investors and other stakeholders keep abreast of CMC REIT’s
progress in a fast changing business environment. CMC REIT’s
website is updated on a timely basis as an effective channel of
communication with Unitholders. It contains general information on
the Trust as well as all information released through the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. The website also allows Unitholders and potential
investors to contact the IR team electronically, and a timely
response is given to all enquiries. Furthermore, barring unforeseen
circumstances, Unitholders are provided with the opportunities
to communicate directly with the Chairman and Directors of CMC
REIT at general meetings.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
Unitholder Communication Policy annually and is of the view that
the current Unitholder Communication Policy is effective and has
been implemented properly.
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UNITHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY TENFEANBBRBR(EZ)
(continued)

The following Unitholders engagement activities were conducted in LA TE S BR1I3H AR EREE D K 20224 5
2022: & :

AGM/EGM — Unitholders are able to attend and vote in person

BERE/FHRIRE

B

— Received high voting approval rate on all resolutions
— Board chairman attend all general meetings

- HSBURBAAREHELRSE

- FABEZRNAZRODESSREFFXRER

- BEXgIERSLEERRE

Investor Meetings
REEGH

Conducted non-deal roadshow presentations and meetings with investors mainly
from Hong Kong and Mainland China, covering matters including annual/interim
results and the acquisition of Onward Science &Trade Center
HEITHERXIBERNEG  BXERGEENFTRAENREESH  FEAHRF
€/ FREREURBERMERZ R ORI ESE

Results presentation

Results presentations were held on the day immediately after the annual and interim
results, including an analyst briefing and media briefing. The directors and senior
management provide answers and updates on business performance, financial
review and outlook.

EFEEE /THEEZHNTA  B|REEVHG  BEREEHEN RERG
N-BENSRERELF  MEAUEERR  MBKRALEREERE -

Analysts and Media Briefings
REELEREN

Covering matters including annual/interim results and the acquisition of Onward
Science &Trade Center

Reports, circulars and
Announcements
i&i m I_I&/\tt

TEAREE P HEEUARBEHRMENET LN KEEIER

Published Annual Report, Interim Report and ESG Report
— Voluntarily published Quarterly Operating Statistics announcement
— Key circular regarding the aoquisition of Onward Science & Trade Center
- TUBEFR  PHRARRE  HEREBRE
- BRMERFELEIBRS
- EREK - ARKEBHERMENETD

Website www.cmcreit.com
Enquiry email ir@cmcreit.com.hk
EREE Responded to comments, suggestions and questions received through the email in

a timely manner.

BEEBRINER  ZELHEECEEETELLFEOE -
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EMPLOYEES

CMC REIT is an externally managed trust and does not employ any
staff.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and as far as
the REIT Manager is aware, not less than 25% of the outstanding
units in issue of CMC REIT were held in public hands as of 31st
December 2022.

TRUST DEED AMENDMENTS

The Trust Deed was not amended during the Reporting Year.

AUDITORS

The final results of CMC REIT for the Reporting Year have been
audited by the independent auditor Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu and reviewed by the Disclosures Committee and the
Audit Committee of the Board in accordance with their respective
terms of reference.
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REPORT OF TRUSTEE

TRUSTEE REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (‘CMC REIT”)
has, in all material respects, managed CMC REIT in accordance
with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 15 November 2019 (as
amended from time to time) for the period from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2022.

For and on behalf of
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited
(in its capacity as trustee of CMC REIT)

Hong Kong, 20 April 2023
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BEEALTRS

The REIT Code contains rules on connected party transaction
governing transactions between the China Merchants Commercial
REIT Group and its connected persons (as defined in paragraph
8.1 of the REIT Code). Such transactions will constitute “connected
party transactions” for the purposes of the REIT Code.

In addition to “substantial Unitholders” (that is, holders of 10%
or more of the outstanding Units within the meaning of the REIT
Code), China Merchants Commercial REIT’s “connected persons”
will include, among others:

(1)

the controlling entities, holding companies, subsidiaries and
associated companies of the “substantial Unitholders”, and
associates of the “substantial Unitholders” within the meaning
of the REIT Code;

the REIT Manager as well as controlling entities, holding
companies, subsidiaries and associated companies of the
REIT Manager within the meaning of the REIT Code;

the Trustee as well as controlling entities, holding companies,
subsidiaries and associated companies of the Trustee
within the meaning of the REIT Code. As a result, the list of
“connected persons” of China Merchants Commercial REIT
shall include Deutsche Bank AG (which indirectly wholly owns
the Trustee) and other members of the DB Group; and

the directors, senior executives and officers of the REIT
Manager and Trustee, and their respective associates within
the meaning of the REIT Code.
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Connected Party Transactions i A T35 5

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH

BFrZESEVRHEASRENEE

SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP AERS

The following sets out information on connected party transactions TXHFHMpPRBEEEmERETES REBEA
between China Merchants Commercial REIT and its connected T (FEEREEESTRIESAR )HNEEA T
persons (as defined in paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code): FER

Connected Party Transaction — Income

BEALXRZ-IRA

Nature of Income
Relationship with connected for the
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEFER
BEATER HEBREEETESCHE BEXSME A
RMB’000
ARETT
China Merchants Taiping Bay Development & Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 2,144
Investment Co., Ltd.
HERK T EREREERAR BREANEEAR EEAON
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 4,267
AE R RERROBRAR BrEwANBELR HEWA
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Intermediate holding company  Rental income 7,484
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. of a Substantial Unitholder
R0 TERERRRERAR] FEESEUFAAN HeWA
IR A A
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 3,905
RINEVIRBIR AT R OAHEAR) MEKA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.  Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 35,711
RYEEEERRAR] BRELAKFATE HEWA
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 8,376
Company Limited
BERREERARAQT HEROEHEAT) e ON
China Merchants Life Insurance Company Limited ~ Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 1,444
BERCRMASRBROERAE BAEwArBELR] HEHBA
China Merchants Commercial Property Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 13,238
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
A IEEHEREERAA A8 FRE BEKA
China Merchants International Technology Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 3,922
AR RERER AR AR BAEwArBELR kA ON
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 689
RYIE R RMTSERA A HBEROHHEAT) e ON
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 6,217
Technology Co., Ltd.
B BT AR AR BEwOF AT HEWA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)
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BEALRZS - WAE)

HITHSBNUREASENEE
AERG(E)

Nature of Income
Relationship with connected for the
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEFER
BEALTER HEBREEETESCHE BEXSME A
RMB’000
ARBTT
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 1,863
AYIAEMEER AR HEkOAHEAR) EEA N
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 240
A REMRBER AR BRI AREELR HEWA
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 462
BN BIEMTS B R A A) sealeAmko)i NG| KON
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 595
RGIESERBEARAR] BREwAREELE HEWA
Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui Technology Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 36
YA KERR AR AR BRRAKFRF AN
International Container Leasing Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 92
B ERAEHERR AR AR OABHEAR] AEKA
China Merchants Property Management Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 1,425
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.
It RYEERER AT EEEpamk ) YN HEWA
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Intermediate holding company  Building management 197
Holdings Co., Ltd. of a Substantial Unitholder fee income
BaRA IERERRHERAR] FEESEURFAAN EFEEBRA
R AR
China Merchants International Technology Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 716
fee income
BERBERESRMERAR BAEw AR EELE BFEEERA
China Merchants Commercial Property Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 1,024
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. fee income
A EEHEREBR AR el AR aNG BFERBRA
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK  Building management 946
Company Limited fee income
RHRREERARAT EREEp ARk 0) s S YNS| BFERERA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 2,539
fee income
A BEEERR AT BAEkO8FRE BFEBEKRA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH B
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction -

Income (continued)

Aix

EHESE
5%

BEALRZS - WAE)

%Q%EAEIM%E

Nature of Income
Relationship with connected for the
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEFER
BMEALER HABRMEETESZHEER HEXZME O
RMB’000
AREBTFT
China Merchants Taiping Bay Development & Associated company of CMSK  Building management 190
Investment Co., Ltd. fee income
BERATEREREBRA BrEwAREELR BFEBRBRA
China Merchants Commercial Management Associated company of CMSK  Building management 592
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. fee income
BamEER(RIDERAF EEEp im0k YN BFEBREKRA
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co. Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 362
fee income
AYRERERR R Rk OABHEAR) BFERBRA
Sinotrans Sh|pp|ng Limited Associated company of CMSK  Building management 671
fee income
TINEMIRBRL gty O R BFERBIRA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 672
fee income
BERERERBRNERA HREROHHEAT) BFEREERA
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Sh|pping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 37
fee income
WwRRAERBERA HENaBER BFEEERA
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 89
fee income
A B IEEEREER AR R OAHEAT) BFEBRERA
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 134
fee income
FYERRERMEBEERA EARRHBRER BFEEERA
International Container Leasmg Co. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 18
fee income
IR ERAEHERRAR AR OAHEAR) BFEREERA
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 71
fee income
BINEGIEMBEER L REEL AR 0) s NG| BFEEEWA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)

BEALRZS - WAE)

HITHSBNUREASENEE
AERG(E)

Nature of Income
Relationship with connected for the
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEFER
BEATER HEEREEETESZBE BEXSME WA
RMB’000
ARETT
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 626
Technology Co., Ltd. fee income
R OgFEmEHRARAR BRRLAKFATE BFEEERA
China Merchants Financial Technology Associated company of CMSK  Building management 12
Co. Limited fee income
BERERRRARRAR Ak OHHEAR) BFEBRERA
China Merchants International Associated company of CMSK  Car park income 47
Technology Co., Ltd.
RERBRESRMERAR BAEw AR EELR] FEBIA
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK  Car park income 114
Company Limited
BERREERARRLQA Ak OaHEAR) FEBWA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 144
AYBEEERR AT BEELAKFRTE FEBIA
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Car park income 50
A REMEER AR Ak OAHEAR] FEFWA
China Merchants Commercial Property Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 19
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AFEHEREARAA BEw AR FRE FEIZWA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK  Car park income 46
FINEMIIRBIR AR B A AR FEBWA
China Merchants Commercial Property Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 29
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
AEEHEREARAA AR08 FRE HA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 91
A BEEERR AT EEElaAml: 0N HlA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company of CMSK  Other income 3
FINEMRAER AT Rk OAHEAR) HA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Other income 7
BE R RERRND AR AR BRRAMEEAT HAWA
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Connected Party Transactions ® #@:#E A+ 5
CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH TEHSENEEAEBENEE
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP Ai“'%(ﬁ)
(continued)
Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued) BEALZTZ-WA(E)
Nature of Income
Relationship with connected for the
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEFER
BEALTERE HABRMEETESZHEER HEXZME A
RMB’000
AREBTFT
China Merchants Commercial Management Associated company of CMSK  Other income 57
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
BEEEER(RIDERAF BrEwAREELR HA
China Merchants Shekou Digital City Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 5
Technology Co., Ltd.
B OHFRHEHRARAR BRRLAKFAF HA
Shenzhen Huanan Liqueﬁed Gas Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Other income 4
RYERRIERMBERR BREwAREELR HA
China Merchants International Technology Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Other income 2
BERERR AR AR BEOHE HWA
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co. Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Other income 1
RYREMEERD HREROABHEAT) HlA
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK  Other income 2
Company Limited
HERREERABRAR] ERRArHER HWA
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd Associated company of CMSK  Other income 1
A B IEE R RIEER AR Ak ORHEAR) HA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction - Expenses

RFZESENVHAEARENEE

AR5 (&)

BAEALRS-XH

Nature of Expenses
Relationship with connected for the
Name of connected party CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEEE
BEATER HARRHEETESZHE BERSHE ZX M
RMB’000
ARBTT
Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Property management 53,248
Management Co., Ltd. expense
Y BEMEERBRAR BRRAKFRF MEERE
China Merchants Property Management Subsidiary of CMSK Property management 820
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. expense
IR EENEERER AR REEO8T AR MEERE
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Subsidiary of CMSK Operations management 20,456
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* expense
Ao tEERORINERRE BRELAKFRTE CES=piik=
Shenzhen Merchant Real Estate Consulting Subsidiary of CMSK Other expense 57
Co., Limited.
AT HEEEXERERAR A8 TR HAthFx
Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Other expense 231
Co., Limited.
Y BARKERR AR AR BERAKFRTE Hihfx
China Merchants Property Management Co., Subsidiary of CMSK Other expense 302
Limited. Building Intelligent Technology Branch
BERYMEERARAREESERES AT RERO8TAH HAhFIx

The English names are for identification only.

RXHBEEHS2E -
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

Annual Caps applicable to the CM Continuing CPTs

On 30 June 2022, the Manager convened an extraordinary general
meeting of the unitholders, at which, an ordinary resolution
amending the annual caps applicable to the CM Continuing CPTs
for the three years ending 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 was
duly passed by way of poll. For more details please refer to the
circular of CMC REIT dated 14 June 2022.

FTEEHEENEBEASENEE
Ai_‘_%(ﬁ)

FEFEREALRZ2ERFELR

20226 H30H F EBABRAT —RESLEN
BHEANERAE & LUEERRNANER
BT —BETRAEER - EFTEAREE2022
£ . 2023202412 31 H IF=AFE8HA
AFEREALRSNFE LR - EZHIEH
REEEEREAAES 202206 A 14HNAK

The details of the revised annual caps applicable to the CM AR EHFEBEA LT ZBE B2 FE L
Continuing CPTs thereto are set out below: FREFFIBHN TX
1/1/2022 - 1/1/2023 - 1/1/2024 -
Categories of CM Continuing CPTs  {BEHEREA TR 585 31/12/2022  31/12/2023  31/12/2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT
CM Tenancies HEisg 114,200 122,194 130,748
Operations and Property CBRYMEEERS
Management Transactions 88,025 100,358 102,812
The annual caps set out in the table above should not be taken  FRFIHFE LR TN ESRIEREREEETERE

as the anticipated growth projections or indicators of the future
performance of CMC REIT.

BARRKRBR W FRHPERITRIHIER -
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
REIT MANAGER

REIT Manager’s Fees

The REIT Manager’s fees amounted to RMB30,964,989 in relation
to the services provided for the Reporting Year.

The REIT Manager’s fee includes a base fee, variable fee,
acquisition fee and divestment fee. The base fee is 10.0% of the
Distributable Income based on the audited financial statements of
CMC REIT for the Reporting Year. The REIT Manager has elected
to receive the base fee in cash.

CMC REIT issued an acquisition circular dated 14 June 2022
(“Acquisition Circular”). On Completion (as defined in the
Acquisition Circular), the Manager will be entitled under the Trust
Deed to receive an acquisition fee, which is equal to 1% of the
Initial Consideration (as defined in the Acquisition Circular). The
acquisition Fee of RMB13,415,372 has be paid to the Manager in
the form of cash in HKD based on the then prevailing exchange
rate.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
TRUSTEE AND/OR TRUSTEE CONNECTED
PERSONS GROUP

Trustee’s Fees

During the Reporting Year, the trustee’s fee of approximately
RMB1,719,600 was incurred for services provided by DB Trustees
(Hong Kong) Limited as the trustee of the China Merchants
Commercial REIT.

BEEEEANBEALRS

EEEEAERA

RpEFERENEERENETEEAEZR
A AREE30,964,9897T °

FREEABAREEAER FHER WK
BER LEER - EABARTHIIKEA
M10.0%  DIZARRREEEESNEEF
ENREZTBHRERGFE - EXERBURS
SN TFEREEA -

FrRBEEMESEM T —H B HA20224F
6A14ARMR ZEK([REER]) - RFERCE

HRATHEK) - BIEARBEEZOEEREK
BB B 13,415,372 AR - HEE N AK

BEI1%(EXRRZEE) - WEBABIREE
BIRTIER AR SN AB TAE R AT -

/\ﬁﬁ%\k SHERTEABBEALE
EEEALTR
ZEAER

RBEFE - HEEEET(EB)BRAFIMN
HE5APRAREETESNTTEAMEHR
BMEEANSTAEABROAAR1,719,600
ﬁo
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS

Based on the information available to the REIT Manager as at 31
December 2022, each of the following entities was considered as
a substantial Unitholder and hence a connected person of China
Merchants Commercial REIT under the REIT Code. The substantial
Unitholder held or was interested in the Units of China Merchants

Commercial REIT as follow:

BHAMT

i FE

RESEBENVEAARR

RIEETEEARNR2022FE12 A1 B AIBHE
B TS EEREEAEESTRHEATE
AESBUHAA  TAKRWRAREREER
AECNEEAT -BHERERAEETESD
MESENSNETHEEEGNEEESEN

Approximate
percentage of

Name of substantial unitholder Capacity in which Units are held Interests in Units interests”

TEESENEEAGE BEESENz 5% RESBVzEE HOREADL(%)

China Merchants Group Limited Through controlled corporation 400,332,310 (L) 35.49

HEREEER LR RXEE 2 EERE

China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Through controlled corporation

Holdings Company Limited 400,332,310 (L)* 35.49

HERER T ERERRHERL B EERE

EUREKA INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED  Beneficial owner 400,332,310 (L)* 35.49
ERBEAA

Pacific Asset Management Co., Ltd. Investment manager 146,954,000 (L)* 13.038
REKE

HSBC International Trustee Limited Trustee 146,798,000 (L)* 13.02
XEEA

CWL Assets (PTC) Limited Trustee 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
XA

K. Wah Properties (Holdings) Limited Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
B EERE

Polymate Co., Ltd. Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
XIS EERA

Premium Capital Profits Limited Beneficial owner 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
ERERA

Star Il Limited Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96

R AR bS]

(L) - Long position

# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of i

1,127,819,549 units at 31 December 2022.

INTERESTS HELD BY DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES OF THE REIT MANAGER

The REIT Code requires connected persons (as defined in
paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code) of China Merchants Commercial
REIT to disclose their interests in units. Further, certain provisions
of Part XV of the SFO in relation to disclosure of interests are
deemed, pursuant to the Trust Deed, to apply to the Manager itself
and the Directors or chief executive of the Manager, and persons
interested in units (including short positions).

F&

u

iy

B ETH2022F12 431 HE #17,21,127,819,549

ARG B EHE -

3 Z
=

ANEENESTHRAE

FREETHRTHRRREEREES CHE
AL (EEREFAESTAESNMF) ARERSE
RESE 2 - Rl RIFEFLERL -
7 M EEIRPIEXVER G AR TR 2 B TIRX
BESERAREEAREEAZETSIERS
TTRAR » WRERESBUHEAER(BIEA
BIZAL e

E23

e
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INTERESTS HELD BY DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES OF THE REIT MANAGER (continued)

The interests of the REIT Manager’s directors in the Units recorded
in the register maintained by the REIT Manager are as follows:

As at 31 December 2022
7A2022F12H31H

EXEEANESNEEFRAS
B () e

FrREEAEERBEAEEATENELH
FOSRER BRI

Name of director

Approximate

Number of Units percentage of interests*

EEgE HEBUHAE B R B 2 B (%)
Huang Junlong =& Nil & -
Guo Jin 2532 160,000 0.014
Liu Ning 2% Nil = -
Yu Zhiliang RER 160,000 0.014
Lin Hua #RZE Nil Z -
Lin Chen #2 Nil Z -
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena &% & Nil = -

# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of
1,127,819,549 units at 31 December 2022.

INTERESTS HELD BY SENIOR EXECUTIVES OF
THE MANAGER

The interests of the senior executives of the REIT Manager in the
Units are as follows:

As at 31 December 2022
A2022F12H31H

# B ETH2022F12 431 HE #17,21,127,819,549
BEES B ASEE -

BEANSTITHAEMSGER

EBERBARRITRAERGESELAERN
T

Name of senior executive

Approximate

Number of Units percentage of interests*

ERITHRABH R HESBENHE B R A 2 L (%)
Zhong Ning &% 32,000 0.003
Choo Chong Yao, Patrick 4<fhZE Nil = -
Zhang Zhe 5K&4 Nil & -
Chen Yan [R & Nil & -

# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of
1,127,819,549 units at 31 December 2022.

INTERESTS OF THE REIT MANAGER

As at 31 December 2022, the REIT Manager did not hold any Units
in China Merchants Commercial REIT.

INTERESTS HELD BY OTHER CONNECTED
PERSONS

Saved as disclosed above, the REIT Manager is not aware of any
other connected persons of CMC REIT, including the Trustee, who
are interested (or deemed to be interested) in any Units as at 31
December 2022.

# B ETEH2022F12 431 HE #17,21,127,819,549
AR B AREE -

EEEE AR
R2022F12 A31H » EEEEATEZREEE
PEEREAES T ESEN -

EARIBA £ FriS i

BEXFTHEEIN BB EATTME  ©
20224F12 A31H - AMAMIBEBEEEFTE
EHBEEBEAT(BEZITA)FEIRAEF AT
A& Bl RS -
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VALUATION REPORT
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Frank 35

Prepared on behalf of

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited

(in its capacity as REIT Manager of China Merchants Commercial
Real Estate Investment Trust)

Room 2603-2606, Level 26

China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre

168 — 200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited

(as trustee of China Merchants Commercial real Estate Investment
Trust)

60/F, International Commerce Centre

1 Austin Road West

Kowloon, Hong Kong

21 March 2023

4/F Shui On Centre EH R
6-8 Harbour Road T EE6-85R

Wanchai Hong Kong ML LATE

RATE R
BEREMEERRAA
(RSB BEEENER AR

EEA9 517
BB

T 5538 168-2005%
EERLBEREAE
26122603 E 2606 =

EEEET(EB)ERAR
((EBEBRBEEHERESFED FHIA)

BB
] - @iE P 158
IRIRE 5 E560E

20233 21 H
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Valuation Report ® {&1{&E %k

Dear Sirs

Valuation of Various
Properties located in
Shenzhen and Beijing,
the People’s Republic of
China

R E AR A MERYIR
ERBEYEZMGE

Basis of Valuation

HEEE

S

[}

AERE

In accordance with your instructions for us to value the above-mentioned property
interests held by China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“CM
REIT”) and exhibited to us by China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited
(the “Company”) and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”), we confirm that we have carried out inspections, made relevant
enquiries and obtained such further information as we consider necessary for the
purpose of providing you with our opinion of the market values of the properties as at
31 December 2022 for your accounting purpose.

EEZER HTRAESZHELNET  HREREMEEARAR([EAR ] RMEEE
S (BR)ERARMEEFRTHBEREXFHEREGTEES((BERETER])
R ARKMB([HE DG Dl EESETHE - E5ER - E5288%E
M - (EHEBASALRGEERR/VENEMER - R BTRESSEHZEYE
202212 A1 BMTEZ BR - &A% -

Our valuation is our opinion of the market value of the property interests, which we
would define as intended to mean “the estimated amount for which an asset or liability
should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in
an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had each
acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.”
EENMEDNESEHMERSNTEZER - FTEME  HESMTEEMS @ VI8
[EEHEE  BREREGRERNMEERR —HEEN B EETATRSNME
ReeH  MEFDEFE - FELTEBRANERLTERETRS - |

Market value is understood as the value of an asset or liability estimated without
regard to the seller’s costs of sale or the buyer’s costs of purchase and without
adjustment for any taxes payable by either party as a direct result of the transaction.
TEDERAEEXBENGAEE  MEBZEESHENAXERBEXAE - IE
SEM—HTEEERZENOEATHIBELFEE -

Market value is the most probable price reasonably obtainable in the market on
the valuation date in keeping with the market value definition. It is the best price
reasonably obtainable by the seller and the most advantageous price reasonably
obtainable by the buyer. This estimate specifically excludes an estimated price inflated
or deflated by special terms or circumstances such as atypical financing, sale and
leaseback arrangements, special considerations or concessions granted by anyone
associated with the sale, or any element of value available only to a specific owner or
purchaser.

ZRMEER  mERAINGEREMS LSERISHRAEER - ANAE A S ER
SOREEERETABISHRERER A LEIE S RERKRIERKIERS]
BEVEEHER ST - PIan3EHEAVRE - SREMTHE - BEFEEERB AL
PR LBV R ESUEE - S EHR ASE 7 7 AT S EAEETE °

In preparing our valuation report, we have complied with “The HKIS Valuation
Standards 2020” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and “The RICS
Valuation — Global Standards” issued by the Royal Institution of Surveyors.
RREEZNHERSR  SECEREBASMESRHN(EBASMBSHESE
AI(20205FR) Y R EX A EMB S RMNCERFTASMB S HE—2IRER]) -
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Valuation Report ® (B

Valuation Methodology
fHER*E

Title Documents and
Encumbrances

REXHRERER

In the course of our valuation, we have adopted Income Approach, where
appropriate, cross-checked by the Market Approach.
NESHHEBREP - EFEHEBRAE - WEERBR NATHZEAR XAZE o

Income Approach estimates the values of the properties on a market basis by
capitalising the existing rental of all lettable units of each of the properties for the
respective unexpired terms of contractual tenancies whilst vacant units are assumed
to be let at their respective market rents as at the valuation date. Upon expiry of
the existing tenancies, each unit is assumed to be let at its market rent as at the
valuation date, which is in turn capitalised for the remaining life span of the property.
The summation of the capitalised value of the term rental for the leased portion,
the capitalised value of the reversion market rental as appropriately deferred for the
leased portion and the capitalised value of the vacant portion provides the market
value of each of the properties.

WAEF B SENEANRB A HEEVNREBHSRNENHARARFRAANTIAER
£ MEEBMLRAIRRRGEEAPEBNSEMERSHE - BHSEEGAYENE
18 - REARLERR - SFEEUARRIIZENGERRERNmEESEME - Wik
BZEMERNHBRFIHTIAERL - SEYRNOTERSREEBIEPAESHNER
LEE  EMBIFLES RENERTSESENMLBERZ=EFONEREE
HAEAD -

For cross-checking purpose, we have made reference to Market Approach, which
is the most common valuation approach for valuing property by reference to
comparable market transactions or listings of similar properties. The rationale of this
approach is to directly relate the market comparable transactions with the property
to determine the market value. Adjustments will be applied to the said comparable
transactions to adjust for differences between the property and the comparable
transactions.

TR XZE - BEL2BMSE  MSEDMEGRERTRANMGELE A2
ZAALEM SRS IEAUMENER « AN RE RSV EETISA AR H1E
BHELR  {MEEHE - AIELBRXSSEHERAE  UHABRMEEAENBRR 52
FrELR -

We have been provided with copies of the title documents relating to the properties
and have carried out title searches at the relevant local Real Estate Registration
Centres in December 2022 and February 2023. We have sighted each original title
documents held in safekeeping in the local offices of the Company. All documents
have been used for reference only and all dimensions, measurements and areas are
approximate.

EHFCERHEZFVEABNEEXMEIAR - WEN2022F12 A M2023F2 A EE )
BRATBESZHOETERST - EZCERRETE SRREMREENTNHERE
MHER - IAXMHEHRSZE - MAERT - BELEBEERR -

We have assumed in our valuation that the properties have proper legal titles and are
freely transferable to local and overseas purchasers without any onerous payments.
EEONEETRRAZEVEABERAEEE  EHAEHENEENKTIEAL
ETHERNREINER -
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Valuation Report o {H{E %

Source of Information

BERRIR

Inspection and Structural
Condition

RER AR

No allowance has been made in our valuation for any charges, mortgages or amounts
owing on the properties nor for any expenses or taxation which may be incurred in
effecting a sale. Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that the properties are free
from encumbrances, restrictions and outgoings of an onerous nature which could
affect their values.
f“mmﬁl T SRR E Y FEA AR - ISR AA R FRIA - TR R B AR
BEEEMEAIFR X AIE - lRBITHAEIN - EEBREZEMEN BN ERAIE
EE@W%EE%E%\@%&&%D

We have relied to a considerable extent on the information given by you. We have
no reason to doubt the truth and accuracy of the information provided to us which
is material to the valuation. We have accepted advice given to us on such matters
as tenure, ownership, particulars of occupancy, tenancy information, floor areas
and all other relevant matters. Dimensions, measurements and areas included in the
valuation report are based on information contained in the documents provided to us
and are therefore only approximations. We have not been able to carry out detailed
on-site measurements to verify the correctness of the floor areas of the properties
and we have assumed that the floor areas shown on the documents handed to us
are correct. We were also advised that no material facts have been omitted from the
information provided.

EERAEE LG BEATRENER  TEEHRERESAEREASEEMS BEXR
HEZERNERNY - MEEMREE - FTERE - (AT HOER  BE %EE%
EABHMBBEE LG TESHNER ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁmRT 2EMABORES
BREH XX HAENER Mt E - ERAVE - Iﬁﬁ&i%%LﬁﬁmMamﬂ
B UREEZEEAEERSS EHE - Itﬁia%%§f?ﬁ%%zﬁ¢Eﬁsz##ﬁﬁ§§a<Eﬁﬁi%ﬁz%lEﬁ@%&
F o BEIVEEM  FIEERHNERTEERMENEEEE -

We have inspected the exterior of the properties and the inspection was carried out
by Tara Luo and Charrisa Xia in December 2022. No structural survey has been made.
We are not, therefore, able to report that the properties are free from rot, infestation or
any other structural defects. No tests were carried out on any of the services. For the
purpose of this valuation, we have assumed that the properties have been maintained
in satisfaotory condition commensurate with their building ages and use.
ZEBEZZFMENING - MABREIIHESEHNEEE KCharrisa Xialt 2022412
Hﬁﬁ°£wlﬁﬁﬁm%ﬂi Et %ﬁﬂifﬁ%$%¥iéﬁﬂﬁﬁ FRMF sk
R A ARBIRE - TMESEAREETEMAR - REXEENS - EEBREZZY
FNRIFPRATIBME - B EETHEE XM -
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Environmental Issues
RIEEE

Compliance with
Relevant Ordinances
and Regulations

BT AR ERSI R AR5

Remarks

-

We are not environmental specialists and therefore we have not carried out any
scientific investigations of sites or buildings to establish the existence or otherwise
of any environmental contamination, nor have we undertaken searches of public
archives to seek evidence of past activities that might identify potential for
contamination. In the absence of appropriate investigations and where there is no
apparent reason to suspect potential for contamination, our valuation is prepared on
the assumption that the properties are unaffected. Where contamination is suspected
or confirmed, but adequate investigation has not been carried out and made available
to us, then the valuation will be qualified.

EEWIFRFRER - WEFW ALK DB TF 2 EEYETEMIRR T LA ZBER
B MERARAFRRGINSHAIER B TR BETARE - EWEETEE AT
BWEABIEREREREL A ZERT - BEZMEENBRAZENERZZE MR
- BERIERLISR  HERETRD AT ENGEFA - ZEESTDABFR

We have assumed that the properties have been constructed, occupied and used
in full compliance with, and without contravention of any Ordinances, statutory
requirement and notices except only where otherwise stated. We have further
assumed that, for any use of the properties upon which this report is based, any and
all required licences, permits, certificates, consents, approvals and authorisation have
been obtained, except only where otherwise stated.
EEFERBALEMHED T2 ER R AE REMES  EERERBHESBIERE
BroN) HE - (R RER - EHEE—HPRBEEUSERZSWEN AARREMERE
ZEAR—YIMEERR  FFoFE  BFE  RAEE  HXEEEESERBERI)

Knight Frank has prepared the valuation based on the information and data available
to us as at the valuation date. While the current market is influenced by various
policies and regulations, increased global conflicts could add further fluctuations in
real estate market. It must be recognised that enactment of emergency measures,
changes in mortgage requirements or international tensions could be immediate and
have sweeping impact on the real estate market apart from typical market variations.
It should therefore be noted that any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social
changes or other unexpected incidents after the valuation date may affect the value of
the Properties.

RO ERBEGERAAFZENRBBRRMAE - BEER TSI ZIBBRERY
2 BRHERIEMALE-—FNBEFHEDT SRS - BEEE - BRAERNTISEE)
HN - BRI - IR E KB Bk BT EoR /BE Y9 Rl Be T E A T 5 E R BN 2
W E - At - BHIENEERRRLRNEMTISKE - BX - wEBra kit es
B H M AR N E M A e S HRENENEEENTE
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Neither the whole or any part of the valuation report nor any reference thereto may be
included in any published document, circular or statement nor published in any way
whatsoever whether in hard copy or electronically (including on any web-site) without
our prior written approval of the form and context in which it may appear.
AMEEEZEREEEE - AERSHE “Iﬁfiﬂﬁﬁ S E AR S TG LAE AT g
2 2R EAREH AR FIEESH - B ER - IS AMEAZIEMG s EF
(BB T4 £ ) 34 -

In accordance with our standard practice, we must state that this valuation report is
for the use only of the party to whom it is addressed and no responsibility is accepted
to any third party for the whole or any part of its contents.

BEEEFNEETR  EELERRARGERSERKRGSER - ESH A2k
HABHARREAE=FEE °

We hereby confirm that we have neither present nor prospective interests in CM REIT,
the Company or the properties.
%ié&tﬁﬂﬂ FWENEEERERET S BEARIZEVETHEARSHEERE

o

BX I

Pursuant to Chapter 6.5 of the REIT code, we confirm that we are independent of the
Company, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited and any of the significant holders of CM
REIT.

BE(EHEREETERTR)FOLE  EFRREFHE LN BEAR - EEE]
(BE)VERAFINEEERETEA—BERFFA

DH}'

+t

Unless otherwise stated, all money amounts stated are in Renminbi.

B =T1TREAESN - AU ARBIIE

We enclose herewith our summary of values and valuation report. BE K _E R PIREAEERE MMHERE -

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
Knight Frank Petty Limited

(A

FORBEITARAR

Clement W M Leung MFin MCIREA MHKIS MRICS RPS (GP) {2 BAMFin MCIREA MHKIS MRICS RPS (GP)
RICS Registered Valuer SERFEFTAEMES(GERM
Executive Director, Head of China Valuation & Advisory HITES - PRGHERBASEE
Reviewed (but not undertaken) by: B (B EHE)

Gary S K Lau VMHKIS MRICS RPS (GP) CESGA 2| JK FEMHKIS MRICS RPS (GP) CESGA

RICS Registered Valuer

SEXFFFRIEMBE S HER

Senior Director, China Valuation & Advisory FEIGEERBATSRES
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SUMMARY OF VALUES
HEME

Property

LUES

Market value in
existing state as at
31 December 2022

7A2022512H31H
B N H{E

New Times Plaza, 1 Taizi Road, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
P B AR A R IR R LU [ e O K F B8 1 SR TR (R %

Cyberport Building, 1079 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
H B A AR LU= FE g R E 10795k B K=

Technology Building, 1067 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
B ERE AT L RS RE 10675 A E

Technology Building 2, 1057 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
HR B A AR R LU= R g R 1057 SR RHR R B — BA

Garden City Shopping Centre, 1086 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
P B & 5 A R I e L [ R 8 K38 108655k B B

Various Office and Retail Units of Onward Science & Trade Center
located at 108, 108A, 108B, 110, 112, 116, 118, 118A and 118B
Jianguo Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC

AR BIIE R ARG [ 22 B B 10855 ~ 108A%E + 108B5KE

1105% ~ 1125% « 11657 * 1185%  118A% K&

118BSE AV BT ERIE R ORI 2 A R EE B

Grand Total:

Gt

RMB2,084,000,000
AR #2,084,000,0007T
RMB1,073,000,000
AR #1,073,000,0007C
RMB927,000,000
AR#927,000,0007T
RMB1,113,000,000
AR#1,113,000,0007T
RMB1,620,000,000
AR #1,620,000,0007C

RMB2,730,000,000

A #2,730,000,0007T

RMB9,547,000,000
A K %9,547,000,000T
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VALUATION REPORT
HERES

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2022
R20225128318
VIES S ERFE BRT2mE
New Times Plaza, New Times Plaza is an office building which comprises Portion of the property RMB2,084,000,000
1 Taizi Road, 2-storey commercial area (Level 1 to Level 2) and 34-storey  with a total lettable (RENMINBI
Nanshan District, office (Level 3 to Level 33, Level 35, 36 and 38), erected ona  area of approximately TWO BILLION
Shenzhen, parcel of land with a site area of 8,642.45 sq m. The property ~ 56,753.80 sq m has EIGHTY FOUR
Guangdong Province,  was completed in 1997. been leased under MILLION ONLY)
the PRC R ES R — B EREE (1B E2E) RUEHRRE various tenancies with A& #?2,084,000,0007¢
i (3IZZ331E - 3512 - 361 3B12) 2 BTIBMMK » ZMERR  the last term expiring (ARERRBERIF
BRE RRTETE 438,642.45F TR ENM 2 FIWEIMOI7HFRT - in December 2026, BRAETE)
I yielding a total monthly
HIlE Detalils of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable  rental of approximately
RFEIH area (the “GLA") are as follows: RMB10,000,000
MBS eanE(EEng) kinsame( THAELEHHNEF  exclusive of

fEEFIT -

Approx. Approx.

Use GFA* GLA*

BHEE BHAHE

iike [ BEE

(st m) (sam)

(FAR) (FAR)

Office 82,591.17 62,654.22

Commercial 4,745.81 4,945.81

Total 87,336.98 67,600.03
st

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.

BEEEEZEX AN EESEER  mAREeaERERLES
B

The property also comprises 212 basement car parking
spaces.
ZIEN 21 2{RE B -

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 50 years expiring on 27 January 2045 for office and
commercial culture uses.

ZYFE LEREERLERAREE U RS - RS0
& R204551 A27REIH -

management fee and
value-added tax.
ZE—HDIEE
BEEXA56,753.80
Ak BEREBZER
A - REESER
202612 AFE] -
ASBBENAARE
10,000,0007T + ~ELE
ERE RILET o

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.
RN T BRI

ZE
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Notes: His -

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000594829 1. RIERHA2014F7 A290A 2 B EREE OREHFE

dated 29 July 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of 40005948295% ) + Hh AR [ 15 48,642.45F 7 K U541
8,642.45 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor 2 TifE RREER I EEEA87,336.98F K2
area of 87,336.98 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate ZYEZERMAREEBR AT OFMERESE
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (Il AR EEEEGRAR) EBRARAR - B ARBEEXCRS - TibFERE
for a land use rights term expiring on 27 January 2045 for office and commercial 1R2045F1 A27 B EIE] -

culture uses.

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (1) 2.  REAHA2022F 12158 2 A BHEELEEEHALE

EERE B A MLEREE) no. CD-100000659251 dated 15 December 2022, B4 M8 (5CD-1000006592515% ) » EESMHEWN

details of the title search are as follows: e

Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee

=EMEE A HEREHRT 8

Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000594829 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. R T 5400059482955 ERFT(FE)ERAREYDTT

RYTIE OB X EE AR AR

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3. RE BRRREZANER  BEEHRBHROHR

provided by the Company is set out below: ZANEINT
Occupancy Profile 1 AR
Type BH Approximate GLA % of total
BHAMHEAEE TREEENE DL
(sqm)
(SEAK)
Leased [SAst:l 56,753.80 84
Vacant NE 10,846.23 16
Total: @t 67,600.03 100
Tenancy Commencement Profile (excluding rental income from turnover rent) LRI (T EERAESKA)
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAREE HABEEN 8A 1hAAZEN bz ) fHAAEH
BER Bk FHE Aok A Bk
(sqm) (RMB)
(SE72K) (AR¥T)
2019 20194 5,599.52 10 733,720 7 5 5
2020 2020%F 3,072.22 5] 572,012 6 5 5
2021 20214 9,826.73 17 1,820,730 18 17 20
2022 20224 38,255.33 68 6,921,272 69 64 70

Total: st 56,753.80 100 10,047,734 100 91 100
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Notes: (continued) Hist - (&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Expiry Profile (excluding rental income from turnover rent) FLZ LR (T REREASKRA)
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F13 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAEE IR EEN =3z 1hAEEER bk o Y
BEE BotE pe:2iched Botk HAE BotE
(sgq m) (RMB)
(FF7HK) (AR¥TT)
2022 20224 27,998.23 49 5,369,968 53 18 20
2023 20234 10,437.28 18 1,723,538 17 34 38
2024 20244 2,747.94 &) 427,189 4 14 15
2025 2025%F 9,922.21 17 1,649,018 16 18 20
2026 2026%F 2,277.93 4 498,899 5 3 3
2027 20274 108.26 1 16,290 1 2
2033 2033%F 3,261.95 6 362,832 4 2 2
Total: #Et - 56,753.80 100 10,047,734 100 91 100
Tenancy Duration Profile (excluding rental income from turnover rent) TRAFHIBER (T BEERAESWA)
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BRHEE THBEEN 8A 1hEBEEN LB S
BER Bk FHE Bk #E ADt
(sq m) (RMB)
(SF7A2K) (AR¥T)
Up to 1 Year TEBE1F 26,118.05 45 4,938,884 49 33.00 36
More than 1 Year and ~ 14ELA 1B
up to 2 Years @2 7,762.27 14 1,321,076 13 15.00 16
More than 2 Years and  24ELA H{B
up to 3 Years NHBBIF 14,887.77 26 2,538,864 25 33.00 36
More than 3 Years and 344 B
up to 4 Years TEBiB4F 1,998.30 4 312,368 3 2.00 2
More than 4 Years and 444 H1B
up to 5 Years THBIB5EF 2,725.46 5 573,710 6 6.00 7
Over 5 Years 5FELAE 3,261.95 6 362,832 4 2.00 3
Total: et 56,753.80 100 10,047,734 100 91 100
4. We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions: 4. SEERANMBRRETHE :
()  the property has a proper legal title; (0] ZNERR ETVATE R
(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services i) FAELHMEEERETEEURANAREREE
have been fully settled; HEBHES
(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with (i)  EYERBFRERFEH T RERGINLE R
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant TERABUTERFIHLE -

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers. (v ZYFFAEAHETEMSCRINET -
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VALUATION REPORT
HERE

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2022
R20225128318
IES S LS BRT2mE
Cyberport Building, Cyberport Building is a commercial development building Portion of the property RMB1,073,000,000
1079 zoned for industrial use erected on a parcel of land with a site~ with a total lettable (RENMINBI
Nanhai Avenue, area of 15,561.45 sq m. The property comprises a 9-storey  area of approximately ONE BILLION
Nanshan District, office building and a 6-storey office building connected by 34,744.73 sq m has SEVENTY THREE
Shenzhen, a corridor at Level 1 and 2 respectively. The Property also been leased under MILLION ONLY)
Guangdong Province,  comprises commercial units located at Level 1. The property  various tenancies for A R#1,073,000,0007T
the PRC was completed in 2009. office and retail uses (NREAABET
HE HEAEATERANELERAE N REHR with the last term SEERE)
BRE 15,561.45F o RMMISR 2 £ - —EEOEMIAMERGEIHAE  expiring in August 2027,
/%ﬂ”ﬁ %ﬁﬁi ! Iﬁ)\*@&jﬁim ° §§%¥W$7@%1ﬁ¥$1ﬁ Yle|d|n9 a total mOth (p/ease see note 4)
HIlE 187K ZWHEE 20095 KT © rental of approximately (ZREWI)
FEAE RMB4,300,000, e
10795 Details of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable  exclusive of
HIEAE area (the “GLA") are as follows: management fee and

SEEA(RAER) kTSR TRESER) 0
T ¢

Use Approx. GFA * Approx. GLA *
Bagm BHTHE
iikes [l BER
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAK) (FAR)
Office 38,957.55 37,455.41
BTE
Retall 1,477.54 2,985.84
2E
Total 40,435.09 40,441.25
Bt

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.
BEREEEXENMMOEEFEEE  mHSEEREKES
B -

The property also comprises 255 car parking spaces.

EAUE DL HEE A

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 50 years expiring on 22 May 2057 for industrial use.
ZMF 2 TIERBEREETIERSE - RE50F - 12057
F5/22R%15 -

value-added tax.
ZE—HD A
AHEEEELE
34,74473F K - BB
BLEETERTER
#RHNH - HEEH
R2027F8 A g -
A BBENAARE
4,300,0007c ° FEUEE
BERIEER o

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.

TOREBR T HNEE °
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Notes: Hiat -

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595164 1. RIEEHAB2014F8 A5H 2 B E#E OFFEHFE

dated 5 August 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of 4000595164%5% ) » HAREITE 415,561.45F 75 KEV:Z 9
15,561.45 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor 2 7 0 (F A E R A M S 540,435.00F K 2
area of 40,435.09 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate ZMECEREBRECEENFYMBBAEEEE
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RYITEHBAEE X EEFRAA) for a BAERAR - (ELERS - TibFERER2057F5A4
land use rights term expiring on 22 May 2057 for industrial use. 22HFHf -

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (&) 2.  REBHA2022F12 A15A Z T BES L 8B M

EERLE B A AR EHE) no. CD-100000659251 dated 15 December 2022, R4 M (FCD-1000006592515% ) » EiEBMFEm

details of the title search are as follows: T

Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee

AEMEEA SERE MRS 718

Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595164 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. R 8540005951645 (ERRT(RB)BRATRNDT)

(FRINTEHAEEXEEERAR)

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3. REEARAREZANER  FFHREEORZ

provided by the Company is set out below: AITEINAT :
Occupancy Profile 15 AR
Type B Approximate GLA % of total
BHTHEAER TEEENE I
(sqm)
(SEFAK)
Leased B 34,744.73 86
Vacant WNE 5,696.52 14
Total: @t 40,441.25 100
Tenancy Commencement Profile TRARIAEN
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year Fip GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BARHEE IR EER 8A 1RIBEEMN bk LEECE Gy
BEE Bk FHE B A Aok
(sq m) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR¥TT)
2018 20184 2,990.44 9 394,643 9 8 5
2019 20194 2,645.26 8 292,367 7 2 3
2020 2020%F 9,226.60 26 1,169,294 27 13 20
2021 20214 7,498.60 21 927,964 21 14 22
2022 20224 12,383.83 36 1,662,880 36 88 50

Total: Mt 34,744.73 100 4,347,148 100 65 100
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3.

Notes: (continued) Kt - (48)
(continued) 3. (B
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1 AR (48)
Tenancy Expiry Profile iz i)
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F5 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BMATHEE IR =R 1HEAZEN HA LSSt S
BmER Bk FHEE BoL HAE Ak
(sqm) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR¥ETT)
2022 20224F 2,806.56 8 357,342 8 2 3
2023 20234 10,101.72 29 1,286,974 30 18 28
2024 20244F 11,446.68 32 1,378,855 32 22 33
2025 20254 6,091.23 18 768,222 18 19 29
2026 2026%F 1,956.09 6 238,643 5 1 2
2027 20274 2,342.45 7 317,112 7 3 5
Total: wct 34,744.73 100 4,347,148 100 65 100
Tenancy Duration Profile FRLF IR
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year FE5 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAREE THBEEN 8A 1h#8EEN EiE) {RABEH
BEE ADtE FHE ADtE #E Atk
(sq m) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR¥TT)
Up to 1 Year BB 236.27 1 26,956 1 2.00 8
More than 1 Year and 144 1B
up to 2 Years TBiEoF 1,690.67 &) 216,081 5 4.00 6
More than 2 Years and 2414 B
up to 3 Years TEBBIF 21,357.52 60 2,673,987 61 45.00 69
More than 3 Years and 34 LA H{B
up to 4 Years BiE4F 1,626.03 5 187,359 4 5.00 8
Over 4 Years 4F P 9,934.24 29 1,242,765 29 9.00 14
Total: =t 34,744.73 100 4,347,148 100 65 100
Pursuant to the Reply Letter from Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources 4,  1R¥E201968 A23HHRYITTARBIFM B AZRHrE WL
Bureau — Nanshan Management Bureau Regarding the Planning, Function and EERLANCTREMERERFHEALEERBAR
Orientation of the Land Parcel(s) of Cyberport Building, Technology Building WARARERIEAE @ BERAEZHRESHERNEAR
and Technology Building 2 located in Shekou Wanggu District (7322151 & %A Hh 35 B Th A6 B iz B9 78 ) OF R 818 R 7 E[2019] 515
BRFBELEERANEABAREREAE - BIHRAE - REHEAER 5%) - ZWEMER REEREMLNEREER ST R
b 38 BN §EE LAY 7B ) no. Shen Gui Hua Zi Yuan Nan Han 2019 515 dated MER - EERY - BEAF SR - XAIF -
23 August 2019 issued by Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources Bureau
— Nanshan Management Bureau, the development positioning and industry
orientation of the district where the property situated at are zoned for uses such
as development science and technology research and development, information
services, scientific innovation and finance, cultural innovation etc.
We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions: 5  BEERUATRRETHE :

(i) the property has a proper legal title;

(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services
have been fully settled;

(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers.

) REOEBEEEREERE

i) FELLHESRRERARABRIGREE
BEEBES

(i)  FEMFER R RIERT G M R EIR PN E &
TRRABUBBFTHLAE ¢ R

(v ZOWEABEBEETEENET -
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VALUATION REPORT
HERES

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2022
R20225128318
VIES S ERFE ARTzmE
Technology Building, Technology Building is a commercial development zoned for  The property is fully let RMB927,000,000
No. 1067, industrial use erected on a parcel of land with a site area of  under various tenancies (RENMINBI NINE
Nanhai Avenue, 17,563.80 sq m. The property comprises a 7-storey main  for office use with the HUNDRED
Nanshan District, building and a 6-storey annex building. The property was  last term expiring in TWENTY SEVEN
Shenzhen, completed in 2002. October 2025, yielding MILLION ONLY)
Guangdong Province, HMBAEAIX(RANRPEXEAE  ERHEERE atota monthly rental AK#927,000,0007T
the PRC 17,66380F okttt b —R7TESMFER—1R6ER  of approximately (ARERERFEE
th HIMTRAERK - ZMEM2002F K T RMBS5,000,000, BE)
BRE exclusive of
wIm Details of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable  management fee and (please see note 4)
MIlE area (the “GLA”) are as follows: value-added tax. (F2El134)
YN T RERER(EEEE) RUHELER(EEAE ZWFEREZEMRY
10675 BRIz TEHBIERARE
BRAE RIEHEEIN2025%10A

Approx. Approx.

Use GFA * GLA *

Bem BaTEg

itkos [ AER

(sqm) (sq m)

(F5K) (K

Main building 33,529.22 33,472.43
Fig

Annex building 8,049.29 8,049.29
g

Total 41,578.51 41,521.72
At

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.

BEEEEEE AR EER  MEOTESaEEREKE
£

The property also comprises 110 car parking spaces.
ZIF 11 0ERELL o

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 50 years expiring on 7 January 2051 for industrial
use.

ZMEZLHERBCRLETIERSE  RH50F 1
20511 A7HEIE -

B BABESEEN
A ARS5,000,0007T
TEEEERERILER
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Notes:

Bt

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595344 1.
dated 7 August 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of
17,563.80 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor
area of 41,578.51 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Technology Building Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RYITRIAEEEEGRAF)

for a land use rights term expiring on 7 January 2051 for industrial use.

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (") 2.
EEEBERGEREME) no. CD-100000659251 dated 15 December 2022,
details of the title search are as follows:

Registered Owner

EMERA

Title Document No.

SERESLAT AR

BiE A A2014E8 A7 B 2 Bt E#B (FRM TS
40005953445 + #bB& 15 /517,563.80F 75 K E ¥ 3
2T fE R RIS E EE A41,67851F K2 %
ECEEMERDFBRRYMRABLEEERA
A ELERS - T FER#ER205141 A7H S -

RIE B A2022F 12 A 158 2 B EE RS S B
R4 M (FCD-1000006592515% ) » EEEMFEm
—F 2

Mortgagee
718

Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd.

RYTRABREEERAA

Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595344
R 854000595344

DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
ERRT (FE) BRAFTRIND T

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3.
provided by the Company is set out below:

REEQRREZHEOER  EEHRAROBRZ
DEZT

Occupancy Profile 15 AR
Type | Approximate GLA % of total
BHHEAEE THEEENE DL
(sgm)
(FFK)
Leased [=haaic! 41,5621.72 100
Vacant NE 0.00 0
Total: @t 41,521.72 100
Tenancy Commencement Profile THA LA
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year Fp GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHEEE IR 8A 1H4AZEN B REESE 26
BEE Aok FHEe Aot A Aotk
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFHK) (AR
2020 2020%F 1,401.97 3 178,945 4 1 5
2021 20214 19,034.59 46 2,343,858 46 10 50
2022 20224 21,085.16 Bil 2,524,548 50 9 45
Total: st 41,521.72 100 5,047,351 100 20 100
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Notes: (conti

inued)

(continued)
Occupancy Profile (continued)
Tenancy Expiry Profile

Mz : (%)
3. (&)
ARSI (E)

ERSE

Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F13 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BMATHEE IRAE R =R 1H4AZEN Bk Lt 4
RmEE Bk FHEe Bl HAE Aok
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR
2023 2023%F 13,625.74 32 1,666,221 33 8 40
2024 20244 10,676.95 26 1,236,870 25 6 30
2025 20254 17,319.03 42 2,144,260 42 6 30
Total: st 41,521.72 100 5,047,351 100 20 100
Tenancy Duration Profile TR FEIER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year Fp GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BATHEE IHAAE R 8A IR4AEER Lt 4o
REE Aot FiHE Bk HNBE AZt
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR¥)
Up to 1 Year BB 1,187.47 128,428 3 1 5
More than 1 Yearand  14ELA H{E 2,762.90 298,808 6 1 5
up to 2 Years NBiBoF
Over 2 Years 2FLAE 37,571.35 90 4,620,115 91 18 90
Total: 5t 41,521.72 100 5,047,351 100 20 100
Pursuant to the Reply Letter from Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources 4. RIE2019F8 A23HARIYITREIME AR LR HE L
Bureau — Nanshan Management Bureau Regarding the Planning, Function and EERBEAN(MRETERERHELEEBBAR
Orientation of the Land Parcel(s) of Cyberport Building, Technology Building WARARERIEAE @ BERAEZHRESHEREAR
and Technology Building 2 located in Shekou Wanggu District (77372151 5 %A 3 17 &1 T 88 FE i 8978 B ) OR #3218 JRE BH[2019] 515
BERFEEALERSENEAAARERMEAE - BIBRAE S RBIHAER 5%) - ZWEMERROERELNEXEREERE
38 2T 8EE AR 78 BK) no. Shen Gui Hua Zi Yuan Nan Han 2019 515 dated HEE - S8R5 - BHEREF SR - XAIZE -
23 August 2019 issued by Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources Bureau
— Nanshan Management Bureau, the development positioning and industry
orientation of the district where the property situated at are zoned for uses such
as development science and technology research and development, information
services, scientific innovation and finance, cultural innovation etc.
We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions: B, EEERATREREITHE

(i) the property has a proper legal title;

(ii) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services
have been fully settled;

(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant
government authorities; and

(v)

the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers.

(ii)

()

ZMERAESVEEEE

FIBELHEREEURLTERA

REEEES

ZOMENRARERT A EHHRERE -

AR APPIRLIE ¢ K

R IERTH &

WE

ZYHEABRBE TEMSGINETT -
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Property

EES

VALUATION REPORT
HERE

Description and tenure

PR K5

Particulars of
occupancy

fE RS

Market value in
existing state as at
31 December 2022

R2022F12A31H
BRT2mE

Technology Building 2,
1057,

Nanhai Avenue,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC

I

ERHE

il

BLlE

ZNE]

10575%

R ARE =5

Technology Building 2 is a commercial development zoned
for industrial use erected on a parcel of land with a site area
of 17,232.03 sq m, which comprises two 6-storey buildings,
namely Building A and B. The property was completed in
2010.

BBAE_HEATXRENREEERER - BNMRER
17,232.03F A REMR 2 I - BAERIIROIEREEE - BIEZEEAR
BEB o ZMEER2010FKRT -

Detalils of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable
area (the “GLA”) are as follows:
eaEE(EEEE]) kemasna( EgemnEl)

BT
Approx. Approx.
Use GFA * GLA *
BHem BATHE
ii}: i BEE
(sarm) (sarm)
(F5K) (TR
Building A 20,991.01 21,080.78
FEA
Building B 21,540.36 21,960.68
EEB
Total 42,531.37 43,041.46
st

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.
BEARRZEXAMIARFEEE TREEEREEKESS
e

The property also comprises 220 car parking spaces.

ZE TN 220 MRS Ef -

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 50 years expiring on 29 June 2057 for industrial use.
ZYFE DERECRILETERRE - BHIS0E « 12057
F6R20REM ©

Portion of the
property with a

total lettable area

of approximately
38,973.95 sq m has
been leased under
various tenancies for
office and retail uses
with the last term
expiring in September
2029, yielding a
total monthly rental
of approximately
RMB4,400,000,
exclusive of
management fee and
value-added tax.
ZE—HD 2
HEEEERY
38973.95F 7K E
BELESTERE
EREROEH &
1478 H8 20299
B - GAHSEE
£/ AER#4,400,000
7 MEARERER
12ER -

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.
RN T AR

B2 -

RMB1,113,000,000,
(RENMINBI ONE
BILLION ONE
HUNDRED THIRTEEN
MILLION ONLY)

AR%1,113,000,00075

(ARBRER
Sf2AELE)

(please see note 4)
(B2 BME4)
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Notes: Hst -

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595343 1. REBHA2014E8A7TE 2B E#ZE (FEMTFSE

dated 7 August 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of 40005953435% ) + HiB& TR 49/A17,232.08F 5 K /Uit
17,232.03 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor 2 1+ {F M REE AL B42,531.37F K Z 7%
area of 42,531.37 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real MEZEEMEBRECEENFIITRIA-_HEXEIE
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (ZIITRIAZHBEEZEEGRA BRARE - ELEAR - i fEAER2057F6A29
7)) for a land use rights term expiring on 29 June 2057 for industrial use. HEH -

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (1) 2. RIEAHIA2022F12 A158 2 A BEELE LT

EERLE B A A REAE) no. CD-100000659251 dated 15 December 2022, R4 M (5CD-1000006592515% ) » EEBMEFEm

details of the title search are as follows: R

Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee

AEMEEA SREMHR 718

Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real Estate Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595343 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. R B 5 5540005953435 (BRIBIT(FRBR)ARRABRYDTT)

(YA _HEXEEARAA)

s

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3. WREEARREZELER BEHHEFAOERZ

provided by the Company is set out below: DEIIT
Occupancy Profile 15 ARER
Type BH Approximate GLA % of total
BHATHEAER REEENE I
(sqm)
(FFK)
Leased [Sfusti:| 38,973.95 91
Vacant NE 4,067.51 9

Total: #t 43,041.46 100
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Notes: (continued) Hiat - (%)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Commencement Profile TRA IR
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F5 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAHEE IR EEN =3z 1RBEER B EECE 2t
RmEE Aok pe:2iched BoL B Ak
(sq m) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR¥TT)
2018 20184 3,911.05 10 447,169 10 3 10
2019 20194 2,449.16 6 254,876 6 1 3
2020 20204 7,338.91 19 824,767 19 3 10
2021 20214F 14,761.96 38 1,742,645 40 10 35
2022 20224F 10,512.87 27 1,132,390 25 12 42
Total: @t 38,973.95 100 4,401,847 100 29 100
Tenancy Expiry Profile AL HAER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BARHEE {RBEEN 8A 1REBEEMN bk 1h4BE
BEE Aok FHEE Bl B Ak
(sqm) (RMB)
(EHK) (ARMT)
2023 20234 21,007.32 54 2,363,890 54 11 38
2024 20244 6,840.85 18 845,192 18 7 25
2025 2025%F 5,334.95 14 507,831 12 5 17
2027 20274 5,601.00 14 642,223 15 5 17
2029 2029%F 189.83 0 42,711 1 1 3

Total: st 38,973.95 100 4,401,847 100 29 100
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Notes: (continued) Hist - (&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Duration Profile TRAFEIBER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of

Year FEp GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total

BAEE TRAEEER 8A 1hBREN Y 1L

RS Bl e Aot 4= Elal=4

(sgq m) (RMB)
(FFAHHK) (AR¥TT)

Up to 1 Year TiBiE1 & 1,087.47 8 141,151 8 2 7
More than 1 Yearand ~ 14ELA H{B

up to 2 Years NHiBoF 5,718.72 15 615,661 14 2 7
More than 2 Years and 24 LA H{B

up to 3 Years THBIBIF 16,217.46 42 1,774,202 40 113 45
More than 3 Years and 344 B

up to 4 Years THBIBALE 3,799.26 10 483,854 11 2 7
More than 4 Years and 4414 18

up to 5 Years NHBBSF 11,961.21 30 1,344,268 31 9 31

Over 5 Years 5F LA 189.83 0 42,711 1 1 3

Total: st 38,973.95 100 4,401,847 100 29 100

4. Pursuant to the Reply Letter from Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources 4.  R¥E201968 A23BMRYITIARBEIMBEAERHE L

Bureau — Nanshan Management Bureau Regarding the Planning, Function and EERLANCTRENERERFHEALEERBBAR
Orientation of the Land Parcel(s) of Cyberport Building, Technology Building WARAREREAE @ BRAE-ZBHEBHEAEAR
and Technology Building 2 located in Shekou Wanggu District (7722151 & %A 3 33 &1 T 88 FE 2 8978 B ) OR R 218 JRE E[2019] 515
BREEALEEREANEABAREREAE  IBRAE-_HREBAER 5%) - ZWEFER ROEEELNERXE RS AR
048 E) I BEE LAY 78 BK) no. Shen Gui Hua Zi Yuan Nan Han 2019 515 dated HEE - EEM0RE - B RER - A% -

23 August 2019 issued by Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources Bureau
— Nanshan Management Bureau, the development positioning and industry
orientation of the district where the property situated at are zoned for uses such
as development science and technology research and development, information
services, scientific innovation and finance, cultural innovation etc.

5. We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions: 5. EBEERUTRRETHE :
() the property has a proper legal title; 0] ZNERR ETVETEERE
(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services (i) FIAELMEESARTERDNARERENHE
have been fully settled; AEEBEAES
(i)  the design and construction of the property are in compliance with (i) ZUENRTERERFTEEHHRERE - B
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant TERRBEERAT SRR ¢ K

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers. (v ZMEAEALETESEINER -
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VALUATION REPORT
HERE

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2022

R2022F12A31H
/ES BRRFH R E BRTHmE
Garden City Garden City Shopping Centre is a 5-storey shopping centre  Portion of the RMB1,620,000,000
Shopping Centre, erected on a 2-storey basement which comprises ancillary  property with a (RENMINBI ONE
1086 facilities and car parking spaces. The property was erected  total lettable area BILLION SIX
Nanhai Avenue, on a parcel of land with a site area of 25,629.40 sq m and  of approximately HUNDRED TWENTY
Nanshan District, was completed in 2006. 40,948.75 sq m has MILLION ONLY)
Shenzhen, TEERA—ESESENTL - BR2EME - BFHM  been leased under AR#1,620,000,0007T
Guangdong Province, EEEHEREBN - ZWERNMBETEA25,62940F 7K  various tenancies (NREHRIEE
the PRC R 2 FXRA2006F R T - with the last term BFETE)

HE
31l
AIlE
ElisNE]
10865
TERY

Detalils of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable
area (the “GLA”) are as follows:

BEER(MEEEE)RAMERER(FHEaEE)E
mr
Approx. Approx.
Use GFA* GLA*
BRgE  BOTEE
itk [y BER
(sam) (sa m)
(FHK) (F7K)
Commercial 50,496.85 56,720,09
Total 50,496.85 56,720,09
st

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.
BEEEEXEXHAMIIAREECESEH HELEEERLES
B -

The property also comprises 644 car parking spaces.

ZE TN o44 EE L -

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 40 years expiring on 14 April 2044 for commercial
use.

ZMEZIHERREKEERERE - AHI40F R
20444 R14RERM °

expiring in September
2027, yielding a

total monthly rental
of approximately
RMB7,000,000,
exclusive of
management fee and
value-added tax.
anE—HA2A
STAMEEERA
40,948.75F 7K - E
REZERLLHA -
R{EMEEIN2027F9H
B BARSEE
#)m A K H7,000,000
7 MARERER
1A -

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.
FORNER TR D=
E J
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Notes: Wizt

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000594827 1. RIBE2014F7A0BNEHERZ(ZEHFTE

dated 29 July 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of 40005948275% ) + HiB& TR 49/4525,629.40F J5 K Ayt
25,629.40 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor $8 2 b 57 FA 4 IR AR TEN D A8 /950,496.85F 77 K Z 5.4
area of 50,496.85 sg m was vested in Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate 2 UOEREMBHCEBN A MEEMEEEEAER
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RYITIEEMREEEEGRAR) for a DA ERERE - T AER2044F4H148 %]
land use rights term expiring on 14 April 2044 for commercial use. Hf o

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (1) 2. IRE2022F12 A 15 AN B EELEEEAGREN
EEREBEAAREHE) no. CD-100000659251 dated 15 December 2022, 8 (5CD-1000006592515% ) + EEEMEFIBFMAT
details of the title search are as follows:

Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee

AEMEEA SEREMHR 78

Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Investment Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000594827 DBS Bank (China) Limited Shenzhen Branch
and Management Co., Ltd. B HL T 854000594827 5% (BRRT(REDBRARRNDT)

(FITERREXERARAR)

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3. BEEAFREZHENER  EZFHBRBHEOMRZ

provided by the Company is set out below: AITEHHAT
Occupancy Profile 15 AR
Type BH Approximate GLA % of total
BHTHEAER TREEENE I
(sq m)
(SEFAK)
Leased [Sfusti:| 40,948.75 72
Vacant NE 15,771.34 28
Total: e 56,720.09 100
Tenancy Commencement Profile FHARRLABER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year 45 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHORHEE {RBEREN 8A 1RIBEEMN bk LEECE Gy
BEE Bk FHE B A Aok
(sq m) (RMB)
(FF752K) (AR¥)
2008 20084 4,101.00 10 409,586 6 1 1
2017 20174 2,639.77 6 408,823 6 2 2
2018 20184 910.62 2 200,794 3
2019 20194 7,774.30 19 1,453,246 21 18 15
2020 2020%F 10,796.83 26 1,868,508 26 24 20
2021 20214 14,726.23 37 2,643,351 38 69 59

Total: et 40,948.75 100 6,984,308 100 117 100
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Notes: (continued) Kt - (48)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Expiry Profile iz i)
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F7 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAHEE IR EEN =3z 1RBEER B oY Y
BEE BotE pe:2iched Bot B BotE
(sgq m) (RMB)
(FF75K) (AR¥T)
2022 20224 1,648.47 4 370,002 5 10 9
2023 20234 14,083.99 34 2,696,302 39 62 58
2024 20244 4,725.43 12 1,046,230 15 18 15
2025 2025%F 8,495.83 20 1,479,896 21 19 16
2026 2026%F 9,737.80 24 1,062,623 15 7 6
2027 20274 2,257.23 6 329,255 5 1 1
Total: #Et 40,948.75 100 6,984,308 100 117 100
Tenancy Duration Profile TRAVFHBER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BMHOTHEE THBEEN 8A {HAAZEN bz ) IHAAEH
BER Aokt FHE Bk #E Bk
(sqm) (RMB)
(FF72K) (AR¥T)
Up to 1 Year TiBiE1F 10,951.12 26 1,900,084 26 51 44
More than 1 Year and 144 1B
up to 2 Years B iE24F 4,436.30 11 1,060,307 15 18 il5
More than 2 Years and 2414 HE
up to 3 Years TBEIF 5,285.42 13 1,084,471 16 24 21
More than 3 Years and 34 LA H{B
up to 4 Years TEBBAF 2,414.72 6 541,527 8 8 7
More than 4 Years and 4414 B
up to 5 Years TEBB5F 10,692.10 26 1,502,005 22 12 10
Over 5 Years 5L+ 7,169.09 18 895,914 13 4 3
Total: wet 40,948.75 100 6,984,308 100 117 100
4. We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions: 4. SEHEERUTNMRERRMEE :
()  the property has a proper legal title; [0} ZYERAEETEERE
(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services i) PIBELMHESRLZEBUARLRBRERSE
have been fully settled; HEBHLEE
(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with (i) ZUEHRTRERGEH T RERGILEE
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant MBI PR -

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers. (v ZEAEBRLETEMSIEINES -
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VALUATION REPORT
HERES

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as

Property Description and tenure occupancy at 31 December 2022
20225124318
L/ES & ERAFE BRT2HE
6.  Certain Units of Onward Science & Trade Center (A& RMERZH L) is  Portion of the RMB2,730,000,000
Onward Science & a large-scale commercial development comprising China  property with a (RENMINBI TWO
Trade Center located ~ Merchants Tower, AIA NPA Center, the 01-04 Connecting  total lettable area BILLION SEVEN
at 108, 108A, 108B,  Podium, China Merchants Bank Building, China HP Building,  of approximately HUNDRED THIRTY
110, 112, 116, 118,  Henggqin Life Tower, Inner Peace, ICBC Building and Taiping  28,574.32 sq m has MILLION ONLY)
118A and 118B Financial Centre. All were erected on a parcel of land with a  been leased under AR #2,730,000,0007C
Jianguo Road, total site area of 42,566.00 sq m completed in 1998. various tenancies with (NRERREE
Chaoyang District, BERMENERLE—EAREEERIAE - MAEBA  the last term expiring 2FETE)
Beijing, the PRC E - RARBNPARL « 01-04# 5418 - BERTAE © in April 2029, yielding
fRRESRmEAlE  REEIAE BEASAE - X108 FEIIEHETA  atotal monthly rental (lease see note 4)
BZEIE1085% - 108A ERATEmTOERN - fAHEE RN —IRENRERA  of approximately (F2EHzt4)
5% - 108B%; 1105 ©  42,566.00F A K13 F - WH199BFKT RMB9,100,000,
112%% + 1165% 118 exclusive of

5 - 118A3 2118B3%
WRERMERE L
T B

The property comprises various office and retail units of the
development. Detalils of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and
gross lettable area (the “GLA") are as follows:
ZNEREERBEANSENARTEEN - BEER(EE
EiE]) RAAEREE( IREAEE ) OFESFINT :

Approx. Approx.
Use GFA * GLA*
BARE B EHEE
iikes [ BEE
(sam) (sam)
(FAXK) (FAXK)
Office 21,856.81 21,856.81
Commercial (L1-L4) 15,020.24 15,020.24
HEE(F124E)
Commercial (Basement) 3,946.94 3,946.94
R ()
Total 40,823.99 40,823.99
@t

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title
document(s) while GLA relates to receivable rent.

IEE SRR P EEE A - AIAEEAEE
HEWAESHA -

The property also Cclmprises 528 car parking spaces.
ZIE S8 {RIF B o

The land use rights of the property have been granted respective
terms expiring on 28 August 2034 for commercial use; and 28
August 2044 for office and car parking use.
ZMFERRLERE - FHDHIN2034F8 A28 (17
FRE) k204458 A28H (R AERFESL AR ER °

management fee.
ZIE—H DT
HEERELA
28574.32F 7K E
BEZERLHHAE -
RETEAN2029F4 A
I8 5AMcEE
#5 AR#9,100,000
T TEREES -

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.
TR THDR

HEE -
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Notes:

Pursuant to 6 Real Estate Ownership Certificates listed below, the title

ownership of the Property was vested in Onward Science & Trade Center
Company Limited (A& @i ZERIEZ F 0B A R) for respective terms expiring
on 28 August 2034 for commercial use; and 28 August 2044 for office and car

parking use, details are as follows:

Hiet

1. BETI6HEHMERET  ZYENEEEBEREN
PMEMEBROBERAR - (Er ¥R RHFHN2034
F8A2HER  (ERAEREESHENEHN
20444F8 A28H fEim ' FEIBEAT :

Certificate No. Issue Date Use Gross Floor Area
HERT AR Jizkes BEEE
(sq m)
(FFK)
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0110616 26 August 2016 Commercial, office, 24,434.12
multi-functional use
R(2016)FA5 @ N EYEEFE01106165% 201648 A26H EER - BFE -
EQILEbS
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123247 22 September 2016 Commercial 3,073.00
T (2016)%Ak5 @ BN E#E S5 01232475 201659 A228 GESR
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123246 22 September 2016 Commercial, office 6,143.20
R (2016)5Ak5 & B E#E S5 012324657 201659 A22H [SE=E2:
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123244 22 September 2016 Commercial 2,671.94
(2016)2AF5 (@ T ENEHE S 012824457 201649 H22H [SES
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123245 22 September 2016 - 554.79
7(2016)5515 & N Eh EHE 55012824557 2016F9H22H
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123183 22 September 2016 Car park (7,546.27 sq m) 11,493.21
Unspecified
(3,946.94 sq m)
R(2016)HF5 [ T ENEREF01231835% 201659 A22H 2835 (7,546.27F 77 2K)
Pt
(3,946.94FJ7K)
Total: 48,370.26

EE
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Notes: (continued)

Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information () 2.
EEREBE AL REXE) No. 2023 Chao Zi Di 76243 (Zi) dated 15 February

RIEEHEAB2023F2 A 15 AN A B EE LGB EMNLE
BB (5520235 i 76243(F) ) - EAEEMEE

2023, details of the title search are as follows: BT ¢

Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee

AEMEE A R AR %%

Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0110616 Nil
(BrRBRMmEMEHLERAA) R(2016)EA5 B S B ERE 011061655 i3

Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123247 Nil
(HBrERMmEREFROERARF) (2016385 @ T BN EHE 5012324757 i3

Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123246 Nil
(BrEBRMENMEHLERAA) R (2016)8A5 & T B E#E 55012324655 i

Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123244 Nil
(BRI BRMmEMEHLERAA) R (2016)8AF5 & S B ERE 5£01232445% i3

Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123245 Nil
(HBrERMmEREFROERAR) (2016)58k5 & N Eh E#E 5012324557 i3

Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123183 Nil
(BrERMEREZEFRLERAF) 1(2016)58F5 & T E E £ 5012318357 s

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3. BEEARREZHENER  EFHHRBHEOBRZ

provided by the Company is set out below: DITEIIAT

Occupancy Profile HAER

Type Approximate GLA % of total

AEEEEE THREEENE D
(sg m)
(FFAK)

Leased [=huaich 28,574.32 70

Vacant HE 12,249.67 30

Total: Mt 40,823.99 100
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Notes: (continued) Hiat - (%)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Commencement Profile TRA IR
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F5 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
AR HE (HABEER &R I AEFERY LizE) IEAEEREY
4TS [E2)54 e Btk A AL
(sq m) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR¥TT)
2018 20184 13,123.68 46 4,137,636 46 12 37
2019 20194 8,541.31 30 3,224,675 85 B 15
2021 20214 5,080.64 18 1,210,268 13 10 30
2022 20224F 1,828.69 6 553,208 6 6 18
Total: P 28,574.32 100 9,125,787 100 33 100
Tenancy Expiry Profile TRAREAER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAAHEE TRAEREN FAF 1REBEEMN biE) LEESE GY
BEE Aok He BoL B Ak
(sq m) (RMB)
(FF7K) (AR¥TT)
2023 20234 3,556.88 12 786,128 9 7 21
2024 20244 10,544.47 37 3,630,835 40 10 31
2025 20254 325.80 1 104,262 1 2 6
2026 2026%F 2,211.92 8 658,770 7 3 9
2027 20274F 2,688.64 9 478,860 4 12
2028 2028%F 813.11 3 170,366 2 1 3
2029 20294 8,433.50 30 3,296,566 36 6 18

Total: et 28,574.32 100 9,125,787 100 33 100




® CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT

Valuation Report o {H{E %

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes: (continued) Hist - (&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Duration Profile TRAFEIBER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year FEp GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAEE TRAEEE 8A IRBEEN HH LB Y
BEE Aotk e Bk 4= Bk
(sgq m) (RMB)
(FF7HK) (AR¥TT)
More than 1 Yearand  14ELA H{B
up to 2 Years THBiBoF 2,703.35 9 494,548 5 8 25
More than 2 Years and 24 LA H{B
up to 3 Years NHBBIF 633.89 2 198,394 2 3 9
More than 3 Years and 3% LA B
up to 4 Years TBiE4F 996.25 3 328,763 4 1 8
More than 4 Years and 4414 H{E
up to 5 Years THBBSF 3,572.09 13 1,070,534 12 5 15
More than 5 Years and 54 LA H{B
up to 6 Years T EBiB6F 1,649.64 6 571,938 6 1 3
More than 6 Years and 644 B
up to 7 Years NEBIETF 8,444.02 30 2,927,582 32 6 18
Qver 7 Years TEE 10,575.08 37 3,534,028 39 9 27
Total: EHI 28,574.32 100 9,125,787 100 33 100
4. According to the specific instructions by the Company, it is assumed that the 4. BIBEEARIEEHE  BREZYERE(E1R4E)

land use rights of the commercial (L1-L4) portion of the property expiring on
28 August 2034 will be extended to 28 August 2044 without any land premium
and/or any associated payments.

B, Further to note 4, we have also prepared our valuation based on the following 5.

assumptions:

(i) the property has a proper legal title;

(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services

have been fully settled;

(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with

the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant
government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers.

0 187 20344F 8 A28 H B HAR £ b5 FAAE i IEEAE
20448 A28H - BBAX HEMMER, HIEMIE
RAfTEK

fBFERIRES -

(i)

(i)

)

=EE
=i

ERA TR AR SUEE -

AERAIESEEEE

AL RS RLZEBEARRAREREE

BB

ZMENRRERT AT RERFILE
MRRIEATREFIALE © T2

ZMER EBHETEMIEINET -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB AR

Deloitte

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CHINA MERCHANTS
COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

(a Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under
section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong))

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“China
Merchants Commercial REIT”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 138 to 233, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders, consolidated
statement of cash flows and distribution statement for the year
ended 31 December 2022, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial transactions and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

=2

BIRERAEEHERECETESCESENE
A

(IRIE BB L BIFEET1 EE SR EIE XA E 104
1657 n] 2 B B FEHR B 51 E)

ZAZEEM (AT BS578 [ 34 ) B iz a5 55138
ZoBEBERREEHEREGEEES ([
BREEERES D) REMBAR (KB &K
)RR A S mK - EeiER2022412 431
HH4RE ISR SR EAEL 2 2022F 12 H31H LE
FEMNGEBERREMEAKEE  GK6ES
BUFEABLEEFEEDE  LKAHER
EREDIRFARIGE PRI T (BIBEEKR
SETHRBEE) o

BRE  ZERAVERREBREEE S
=g ((ERSTENEES )BEMZH
BREf TSR SR ([ BB ARG 2R ) EE'EM
NP EEBER2022F12 531 H 2 817
R REHZEZBLEFEZEEUBRI R

o A TH A =
%Féﬁiwmi°

BRE®E
HAMERETESFAMAS([EREMA
EREMNEEZEEL ([ FREBER ) E
T&EA - BAEZSFERTAZNEECER
BE [ZBER R AV RERAENEE]
Mo EE—THL - REBEBSFTMRER
rEE e EERT AR - BFPBL
R BEXRE - YEETTATNEMERER
BT - BIE1E - RAIFAERSHETRERE
RIEEMREFINE RIRHER -
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)
Key Audit Matters

e ISR ERT RS (A

?;T‘\

BRETSER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional EREEEARERMGEL YL - 2aY

judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the AL REN RS RSB =IE -
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These sy S S TE AR (PEE ST R B 4= A B TR SR SR ) B

= W

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the  pwE=gmEE  HREATSYZESEEH
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming EER o
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRETEE BANESNAEERRENSE
Valuation of investment properties
REYEMSLE

We have identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements, as a whole,
combined with the significant judgments associated with
determining the fair value.
ERREMEMELEALREUBRRERBZEZE - N
FEERAARBESREARAG - RGHBR RERET
IR -

As disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s office buildings and a shopping
centre at Shenzhen and Beijing, the People’s Republic

of China (the “PRC”), which are classified as investment
properties amounting to RMB9,547,000,000, representing
approximately 88% of the Group’s total assets, with its
change in fair value included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. During
the year, an increase in fair value of investment properties
amounted to RMB32,912,000.

WA A SRR M T 13ATHKEE © EXESERREY
FEURFEARLME([PEDRIRIEROEFER
Byh LB A AR 547,000,0007T « 1 BEEE
EHRENSS%  HARBEEI AGaBERRAMEE
Wk - FR - REMEAABEEMARKES2,912,000

ﬁo

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BMBABRENEHEZREFEE

e  evaluating the competence, capabilities, and
objectivity of the Valuer;

o HEKEEZER  BEHREFEIL

e understanding the Valuer’s valuation process and
methodology, the performance of the property
markets in Shenzhen and Beijing, the PRC,
significant assumptions adopted and key inputs
used in the valuations;

o THRHERZHEBRRERTZE - REURYIRIERY
FMH KRB MEMRAZEABRRIREZHA
67

e evaluating whether the methodology used in the
valuations are in line with industry norms; and

o  FHAMEMAIDERTEITRMREAEN - &
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter (continued)

RRESSEH(E)

RREEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(continued)

BMWETOMEEBERETEERE)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)
REWHEMAEE)

The Group’s investment properties are carried at

fair value based on the valuations performed by an
independent qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”)
who adopted income capitalisation method to arrive at
the valuation of investment properties as at 31 December
2022. Details of the valuation techniques, significant
assumptions and key inputs, namely monthly term rental,
term yield, reversionary yield and reversionary rental,
used in the valuations are disclosed in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. China Merchants
Land Asset Management Co., Limited, the manager of
China Merchants Commercial REIT (the “Manager”) has
reviewed and exercised its judgment on the key inputs to
the valuations and result on valuations.
EXEEREMERBE LS ERBERMER ([ HEE ) E
TRRERAREBEDIER o MERMKARGEE MMOEIAE
BR20225F12 A31 B REMEMEE - MEMRAHGE
ERM - EABRXLRBABEBVAES - FHEHREX
BEEHRXRERES) ZFBERGEE P EHRERME13H
- HARREEREcNERAREREMEERRA
A([EBEADEEHNGHENEZGAZRBERMEEESR - I
FLULVE S 16 -

e  assessing the reasonableness of key inputs used in
the valuations by (i) checking the details of monthly
term rental on a sample basis to the respective
underlying existing tenancy agreements; and
(i) comparing them to relevant market information
on rental and term yield, reversionary yield and
reversionary rental derived from other similar
properties in the neighbourhood.

e FBR(NMEERZMEERAHEERRAESHFS
R (i) EEA T RO ENE S - FHERE 18
BEHREREREHEE 2 BETISERETLER @ &7
HHEEA F 2/ AR S EM
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Other Information

The Manager is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as
the Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Manager
is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Manager either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the Manager is required to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the deed of trust dated 15 November
2019, as amended from time to time (the “Trust Deed”) and the
relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the Code on Real
Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”) issued by the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures Commission.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

?;T‘\

e ISR ERT RS (A

Hitb& s
BEABHEMEHNAR - HWENBREFR
AFFEMER - BTBREGEMHHRE R
N E PR BE RS

BMESAMBEHRENEBERY NRERMBE
£ P EREEME BRI AR

IRAE#Em °

REMBSEAMBHRRNETME - HANE
ETAMEMER - EiiBiET  ZEEME
FHEAR S M MR AR PIERHERET AR
MIEREEFHEEAEBREBEUFEERHR
Rt > ERFEAISHITH IR - WEFARAE

ENFEEAHERRL - BAIFTERSEH
B o It W BRI FIEFTERS

BEARAEERGRESMBREAREN
BfE
BEABRARRBERSHEANEEERMZ
BB BHREENREREEN QTGRS W
BE WERBERSREGAMBRERALE
MIRBPIE ] - IAEAR S I MAR T E R
FERFRRR M BB E A FRARFRAL ©

EREGEVBHRRE  EEAREMNE &
SESERENED  YEERBATHRESR
SERERANEIR  URERAKERERS
AHER RIFEEABER BEEEFRAF
&S - HRIEEMBROBEANER -

FHh - BB ABRREAEVHIRREIEZBHA
2019511 A 15 A MERER A (K TEHERT) ([ 15
FERZA ) ANBBGIREBES MAEER
ERFEeHmNEMEREELESTE
((ETXES TR DI ERCAMIBRI R B IF X E =

CTE

AEARREE BEREZUBHRESRE -
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Appendix C of the REIT Code, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. In addition,
we are required to assess whether the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Trust
Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of Appendix C of the
REIT Code.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Manager.

mEMKHRRE

AHERE (A

/
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

REMRELGEMBRREAREZEL
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on matters under the relevant provisions of the
Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of
Appendix C of the REIT Code

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure
provisions of Appendix C of the REIT Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Chung Yin Lawrence.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEBRRREMEEHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | Ei(ZE2022412 A31HIEFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Revenue Wzs 5 431,702 432,831
Property operating expenses eSSl 6 (113,416) (112,527)
Net property income e EyE 318,286 320,304
Exchange (losses) gains & 5 (B8 ) W (336,288) 64,530
Other income, gains and losses BN - e REHE 7 16,681 11,426
(Impairment losses) reversal of TEEEEEIEERT
impairment losses under expected OREE1R) A E B
credit loss model, net B F5E (4,794) 18
Increase in fair value of investment REMHEN AR EBEE N
properties 32,912 81,507
Manager’s fee EEAEHR 8 (17,550) (18,934)
Trust and other expenses SRR EMAX (7,366) (13,034)
Finance costs BhE AR 9 (94,863) (59,252)
(Loss) profit before tax and Aet RGERES B
distribution to unitholders BB AR (BE) & 10 (92,982) 386,565
Income taxes FriSHt 11 (104,405) (118,864)
(Loss) profit for the year, before Rt MBS BMIFFG ADIRA
distribution to unitholders FRN(ER) =R (197,387) 267,701
Distribution to unitholders ESBUFAADIK (138,551) (170,409)
(Loss) profit for the year and total T R E S BN ADIRA
comprehensive (expense) income FR(EER) & HRFEANZHE
for the year, after distribution to (X)) W=Aazs
unitholders (335,938) 97,298
(Loss) profit for the year, before AR AT REfR R R E S BN
distribution to unitholders BHEADIRREAN(EE)
attributable to: il
Unitholders AEBAIFAA (209,544) 267,701
Non-controlling interests FEFE R e a 12,157 =
(197,387) 267,701
Total comprehensive (expense) income LA N ATE(LEET RE S B
for the year, after distribution to FEADENFRNEZE(FAX)
unitholders attributable to: Wes 4858
Unitholders EBAIFAEA (348,095) 97,298
Non-controlling interests FEFE R e aR 12,157 =
(335,938) 97,298
Basic (loss) earnings per unit FHEEBNMEAN(EHE) AT RMB(0.19) RMBO0.24
12 ABR¥(0.19)t ARK¥O0.247TC
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2021
20214
NOTES RMB’000
BaE ARETFTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment properties wEME 13 9,547,000 6,746,000
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NERAE 695 425
9,547,695 6,746,425
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables, and %%&E@ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ
prepayments ISSELNE 14 3,442 10,171
Amounts due from related companies FEH&F‘%&’A 27 77,221 73,280
Time deposits with maturity over B|HIH tiﬂ_ﬂﬂ Y
three months TFHIFER 15 55,290 =
Cash and cash equivalents He RIESZEEY 15 1,140,712 734,089
1,276,665 817,540
Total assets EEHAE 10,824,360 7,563,965
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables %%&,ﬁ\mﬂgﬁm 16 150,570 105,926
Amounts due to related companies JE{S A A BIFUR 27 140,308 15,528
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  FE{< JE% Hﬂ&ﬁl 27 17,929 -
Distribution payable B IR 130,040 136,392
Tax payable FERTHLIR 26,246 15,172
Secured bank borrowings BIERITER 17 - 2,209,875
465,093 2,482,893
Non-current liabilities, excluding net ¥ REBEE(FTEBFEELE N
assets attributable to unitholders BEABRLEEZRE)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests & FE15 f&AE =5 21 1E 27 1,125,586 =
Secured bank borrowings ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂfﬁfﬂ%%ﬁ 17 4,052,639 =
Rental deposit received from tenants B FEH&IZ S 16 23,909 -
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 18 1,109,865 1,074,088
Total non-current liabilities, FRBEEBEAEE
excluding net assets attributable (TEEESENEEA
to unitholders EihEEFE) 6,311,999 1,074,088
Total liabilities, excluding net assets EE&A%E(FTEEELEN
attributable to unitholders BEAELEERHE) 6,777,092 3,556,981
Non-controlling interests FEFEISRE RS 19 388,379 -
Net assets attributable to unitholders E & B {viFH A B EEFE 3,658,889 4,006,984
Number of units in issue ERTESENHE 20 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549
Net asset value per unit attributable E£BE{ViFEARESESEN 27

to unitholders

HEEFE

RMB3.24

RMB3.55

The consolidated financial statements on pages 138 to 233 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited, as the
Manager of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment
Trust (“China Merchants Commercial REIT”), on 22 March 2023
and were signed on its behalf by:

Guo Jin
]
DIRECTOR
o

£ 1382 F 233 H M4ra M5 KM 2023F3 A
EERREREEHEREETES([BHE
PE%(ERES NEEABBREMEES

RABINEETGHAERKETIE  WATIIA
TREREE
Yu Zhiliang
RER
DIRECTOR
FE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS
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Issued
units
GE ]
EOEf

RMB'000
AERTR

Other
reserve

RitRe
RMB'000
ARBTT
(note i

Profit
(loss) less
distribution
(58
RMB’000
ARETR

Net assets Non-
attributable to  controlling
unitholders interests
ELEREA
ElEEERE
RMB’000
ARETR

Total

FEbR it
RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR  ARBTR

Net assets attributable to unitholders as at R00F12A31 HES BB A

31 December 2020 fEfh ﬁﬁ/?@ 3,391,629 379,499 138,698 3,909,686 - 3,909,686
Profit for the year, before distribution to unitholders Azt RES BIHEE ADTREERER] - - 267,701 267,701 = 267,701
Distribution paid and payable ENRERDIR

~ Interim distribution paid -EHAK = = (97,600) (97,600) - (97,600)

- Final distribution payable ~ERENE = = (72,809) (72,809) - (72,803)
Total comprehensive income for the year EREANGEE = = 97,298 97,298 = 97,298
Deemed contribution from a significant — T ERSBEAAN

unitholder (note | BIETEW:H) - 63,589 - 63,580 - 63,589
Distrioution commitment from a significant — T ERSBEAAN

unitholder (note | AAGEW ) = (63,589) - (63,589) - (63,589)
Net assets as at 31 December 2021 Ro0R1E12A31REEFE 3,391,529 379,499 235,956 4,006,984 - 4,006,984
Acquisition of subsiclaries WEEHB AR - - - - 376,222 376,222
(Loss) profit for the year, before distribution to KT RECBUAEADRS

unitholders ER(BiE) &7 - - (209,544) (209,544) 12,157 (197,387)
Distribution paid and payable ERRERDR

- Interim distribution paid -ERHAK - - (75,918) (75,918) - (75,918)

- Final distribution payable ~ENRHAK - - (62,633) (62,633) - (62,633)
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year — FRZE (% ) lia ez - - (348,005) (348,005) 12,157 (335,938)
Deemed contribution from a significant —REEESE(FEAR

unitholder (note RETE W) - 120,188 - 120,188 - 120,188
Distrioution commitment from a significant —REEERE(FEARN

unitholder (note j MkAE) - (120,188) - (120,188) - (120,188)
Net assets as at 31 December 2022 R200E12A31REEFE 3,391,529 379,499 (112,139) 3,658,889 388,379 4,047,268
Note: Bt -
(i) Pursuant to the Distribution Per Unit (“DPU”) commitment deed as descripted [0) BESRRM VAN SES BN D K([SESEN

(i

in note iv of distribution statement, Eureka Investment Company Limited
(“Eureka”), a company with significant influence over China Merchants
Commercial REIT, shall make a cash payment to the DB Trustees (Hong Kong)
Limited (the “Trustee”) for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT of
an amount equal to the shortfall multiplied by the number of units at the record
date. The cash to be received from Eureka for the distribution commitment is
considered as deemed contribution from a unitholder.

In 2019, China Merchants Commercial REIT acquired the property holding
companies established in the PRC held by a fellow subsidiary of a significant
unitholder of China Merchants Commercial REIT. The amount represents
excess of fair value of the acquired property holding companies over acquisition
costs amounting to RMB379,499,000.

(i

DR FEGERY - HRRRREEAESHETERY
BNNEEREBEFARAR([HREDEAREEE
EFEAESNNERRESER(FE)ERAR(R
RADEHRSMR - STERERZRRANLEH
HWESEUHE - S0 IkAqE B nE KRNRE
R/ —BESEMRAANRELIE -

R20195F - MERRHEAETESKBEERNRHERE
EEE— %I%%A“Duhﬁ/\ﬁ’l fel [F) 2 8 22 )
FA MR BERIHMEER AR © 2 BERKE
%%hﬂ”“TE’J"M“TEFL}BLIW%J%ZKE’PB PARE
379,499,0007T °
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2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETEE
(Loss) profit before tax and distribution to Rt RMIBRESEVFEA
unitholders kA (E51E) %= F (92,982) 386,565
Adjustments for: AT FIEEL FAE -
Increase in fair value of investment properties & & ¥)EE A 2 [BEIL N (32,912) (81,507)
Depreciation e 81 110
Interest income from structured deposits KRB BB TR F EMA - (1,695)
Interest income from bank deposits RERITERAF WA (11,898) (8,563)
Interest expenses BRI 90,263 54,452
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment TEHEEEIERR TRE
losses) under expected credit loss B OREEERRE ) F5E
model, net 4,794 (18)
Amortisation of loan front-end fee HIEERIEER 4,600 4,800
Exchange losses (gains) b 18 () 336,288 (64,530)
Operating cash flow before movements in EEESEHINEERERE
working capital 298,234 289,614
Decrease (increase) in trade and other B 5 R EA R GIE
receivables, prepayments TETFRIE R A (42 0) 2,545 (1,294)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from FE K B ES A B IE R A (38 00)
related companies 503 (1,962)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables & 5 & Efth fE{~ 7718 (R 4> ) 120 (65,501) 11,601
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to JE 15 RAES A R IEIE AN CRlA)
related companies 4,661 (8,306)
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling BN SRS AR A 25 IR I 1
interests 17,929 -
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIE S 258,371 294,653
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) paid BB ESH
([ EH ) (49,982) (48,783)
Withholding tax paid EAITERL (8,023) (10,776)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES && TSRS FHE 200,366 235,094
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received BEUF S 11,898 10,258
Addition to investment properties NBIE M (74,398) (20,493)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWME - KE REE (5) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 26) B BT 8 A 7] (Fii7E26) (1,082,999) -
Withdrawal of structured deposits REVAER TR - 129,514
Withdrawal of time deposits with maturity over 2ELEHA B #8238 =& A &
three months TE BifF K 82,523 =
Placement of time deposits with maturity over ZAZR|EHBEE={AAK
three months TE BiTF 3K (5,220) -
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING  R&EE (FTA)FISRLFE
ACTIVITIES (1,068,201) 119,279
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Distribution paid

Interest paid

Receipt from Eureka for the distribution
commitment

Repayments to related companies

Advance from non-controlling interests

New bank borrowings raised

Repayments of bank borrowings

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENT

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE END OF YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash

BLEEE

B9

BERFIE

P IR AEGEWE 5 R OR

mREE R RIEK
FEIERRAE TR EATN
TEERITER
ERITIEFIEFN

BMEEFBAEREFHR
RERREESEYIRINFHE

FORERREEEY
FRRERREEEY

BIERTTHERR IR S

2022
20224

RMB’000
ARET T

(275,187)
(80,924)

116,370
@)

2,171
5,553,003
(4,040,968)

1,274,458

406,623

734,089

1,140,712

2021
20214
RMB’000
AREFIT

(239,497)
(54,320)

61,338

256,875

24,396

378,769

355,320

734,089
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2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETIT
(Loss) profit for the year attributable KA RESBENHEEAD RN
to unitholders, before distribution to HEBENFEABRLER
unitholders (F18) =7 (209,544) 267,701
Adjustments on amount that are attributable ~ E & BfirisHE AEE ST T
to unitholders:
Increase in fair value of investment properties & #2892 # (BB N (27,819) (81,507)
Non-cash finance costs RSB KA 4,600 4,800
Exchange losses (gains) i 5 518 (e ) 333,657 (64,530)
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment  FEEf{E E/E1BER TRE
losses) under expected credit loss B8 R EE 1R B O ) /558
model, net 4,792 (18)
Depreciation e 80 110
Deferred tax PRI IE 32,785 43,847
Total distributable income to unitholders TEELEViEE A DKM
WAL 138,551 170,403
Interim distribution, paid to unitholders BENESEMIFE AN
(note (if)) o BRI (B (i) 75,918 97,600
Final distribution, payable to unitholders ERESEMLEE AR
(note (i) B IR (AT i) 62,633 72,808
Total distribution for the year FRAD KA 138,551 170,403
Payout ratio (note (i)) DIRECZR (FrEE(i)) 100% 100%
Distribution per unit (“DPU”) BEEBENDIK
((BESENDIK])
Proposed final distribution per unit to be paid EZF Y (MHTES B HZEDIK
Before taking into account the effect of st R IR R 2R RMBO0.1228 RMBO0.1511

the distribution commitment
After taking into account the effect of
the distribution commitment (note iv)

At R IRAEGR T ER (i)

ARM0.1228T AR¥0.15117T
RMBO0.2294 RMBO0.2075

AR#0.2204T AR#0.20757C
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Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(v)

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the total distributable income is profit for the
year, before distribution to unitholders as adjusted to eliminate the effects of
Adjustments (as set out in the Trust Deed) which have been recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the relevant year. China Merchants Commercial REIT is required to distribute
to unitholders not less than 90% of its distributable income of each financial
period. The Manager’s policy is to distribute to the Unitholders an amount of
100% of annual total distributable income of China Merchants Commercial
REIT for each relevant period from 10 December 2019 (“Listing Date”) to 31
December 2022, and at least 90% of the total annual distributable income for
each financial year thereafter.

The interim distribution per unit of RMB0.0673 for the six months ended 30 June
2022 is calculated based on the interim distribution of RMB75,918,000 for the
period and 1,127,819,549 units in issue as at 30 June 2022.

The proposed final distribution per unit of RMB0.0555 (2021: RMB0.0646) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is calculated based on the final distribution
to be paid to unitholders of RMB62,633,000 (2021: RMB72,803,000) for
the year and 1,127,819,549 (2021: 1,127,819,549) units in issue as at 31
December 2022.

Pursuant to the DPU commitment deed entered into among, Eureka, China
Merchants Commercial REIT and the Trustee, Eureka has undertaken to make
a payment to the Trustee for the benefit of China Merchants Commercial REIT if
the annualised provisional DPU is less than the annualised committed DPU for
the relevant periods as set out below:

Relevant period

R

Listing Date to 31 December 2019

12 months ending 31 December 2020
12 months ending 31 December 2021
12 months ending 31 December 2022

T AEE2019F12A31H

HZ=2020%F12 831 H 1E121@ A
HZ=2021F 12831 H 11218 A
#HZE2022F12 A31H1E12@ A

The final DPU for the year ended 31 December 2022 after taking into account
the effect of the distribution commitment is HK$0.2614 (equivalent to
RMBO0.2294). All distributions are settled in Hong Kong dollars.

Bt -

(i)

(i)

()

BIREERY - ADIRIRALRE AR RES B
BADRKERNEF - WAATELUHERRSABBEEE
e BmEREMEERERN AR (ERETERZOAN)
WEE - BHRAERAESARNESBMBEAD
Ik L 58 B BUEA R R D PR90% HY AT 75 IR UL © B IR A
NBCRAMESBNFEAD KBEBRNERTES
FE2019F12 8108 ([ LT AH ) Z=20224 12 A31
B &8 HR100% FE AT DR IRA LS - MEBKRE
B R EEZE DD IRFEE R D IRBALLEER0% °

HE202F6 A0BLEAEAASESBEMNNF
Bk AR B 0.0673 T HIRBE AR B DIk A
R # 75,918,000 7T & 7 2022 £ 6 B 30 H B & 17 &)
1,127,819, 549 EE & BT H ©

HZE2022F 12 A1 AL FEBES BMAZEERS
DR AR #0.05557T (2021 4 : AR #0.06467T) J5
BEENRAESEMNIZIEAIMNORESRARYE
62,633,000 7T (2021 4 : A R #72,803,0007T ) &
2022412 A31 HE #17H91,127,819,5491E (20214 :
1,127,819,549(F ) & BT E -

Rz BRARAXERESRIEAMILNE
EeBUNIRE®ERLY  hREEAAFLEEEE:
BN KMER BB F TR S EM D IRAGE R
AZFEAELNRABERHEETEER/ZHEA)
W

Annualised committed DPU

FBESEMDIREE

HK$0.2360 per unit &4 B170.2360/% 7T
HK$0.2360 per unit &£ & B70.2360/8 7T
HK$0.2541 per unit B & & B70.2541%8 7T
HK$0.2614 per unit BE € &{70.26147% 7T

Kt RO IREGHR R B EBIE2022F 12 A31 B IEFE
CREEBESEMDIRA02614BTHHERARE
0.22947T) ° FiE DIk ABTTIRAT ©
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China Merchants Commercial REIT is a Hong Kong collective
investment scheme authorised under section 104 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and its units are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”). China
Merchants Commercial REIT is governed by the deed of trust
dated 15 November 2019, as amended from time to time
(the “Trust Deed”), entered into between China Merchants
Land Assets Management Co., Limited (the “Manager”) and
the Trustee, and the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts
(the “REIT Code”) issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong.

The principal activity of China Merchants Commercial REIT
is investment holding and its subsidiaries own and invest in
income-producing commercial properties in Shenzhen and
Beijing with the objective of producing stable and sustainable
distributions to unitholders and to achieve long term growth
in the net asset value per unit. The address of the registered
office of the Manager and the Trustee, are Room 2603 to
2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, Nos.
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong and Level
60, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road, West
Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional
currency of China Merchants Commercial REIT.

—RER
HERREEAES S —HREFEEM
FET1EF 75 LI E GO F 104 1RERA]
MEERENERE HESBUNELS
BAaRZMARAR(IEBBRAM]) TR
Lt - B REERAEERBRREN
BEARAR([EEA]EZFEARN2019
F11 16 B A S BRI (EEFHERT)
(MEERN D EBBBSFRPEEHER
ZEERMNEHEREETEES TR
([ERESFR DARE -

RARREETESNEEER BIRER
B MENBARNEZERAHA RI%
BERFEYEIEZMEINEAYE - BiIZA
MESBEMFEARBBEFEND KK
ERBECENEEFENREEE - &
BARZTARN MR EEDL D B AT
7T 381682005 (Z 1= LB E AR
[E 26122603 E 2606 %= kBB LEEM A
EPE1RIRIE 5 EI5601E ©

HAMBREAARB (AR 27
ARBTRAERAXERESNINEE
ﬁé}o
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

China Merchants Commercial REIT and the entities controlled
by it (collectively the “Group”) have entered into various
service agreements in relation to the management of China
Merchants Commercial REIT and its property operations. The
fee structures of these services are as follows:

(i)

(i)

Manager’s fees

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive:

(@)

On a semi-annual basis, a base fee of 10.0% per
annum of the base fee distributable income; and

On an annual basis, a variable fee of 25.0% per
annum of the difference in DPU in a financial year
compared to the preceding financial year, multiplied
by the weighted average number of units in issue
for such financial year (for the purpose of calculating
the variable fee only, the DPU shall be calculated
before accounting for the variable fee but after
accounting for the base fee distributable income
for the relevant financial year). No variable fee will
be payable for the period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2022.

Trustee’s fees

China Merchants Commercial REIT pays the Trustee an
one-off acceptance fee of HK$180,000 upon Listing.
Regular trustee’s fee is calculated and paid semi-
annually as an ongoing fee of not more than 0.025% per
annum of the value of the investment properties (which
may be increased up to a maximum of 0.06% per annum
of the value of the investment properties) subject to a
minimum of RMB56,000 per month.

—RERI(E)

HERREEAES LEEHEE (5H
(A8 )R AR REEEAESNEE
REMZEELT N ZERG e - %Sk
B BERRBAT -

(@)

(ii)

EEAEH

RIBEFERY - ERASKEUATE
A :

@ BFFREABMAIHIIKEA
AEEF10.0%NERER &

b)) EFRE-—URFENEESE
7 kLR —(EE BE B R TR
S BN IR 2 ZFBIRAZT R
EEBTES BN MIETFHH
Bt EM25.0%HF 8 E M (2
HATETHEANS  BESE
DR R B F 7 8)
BT E T RIEATME RS EAR
&R IR AET TSR RE
%B5HE) - B LT AR E2022
F12A31 8 IF SR E RN Z
EHEF o

ZEAER
RERREEAESH/R LTRA
REA—RMUES X E180,000/8
T BREIFARRKELFHER
XMHERFEER - @R IZRERE
MEBETF0.025% (2 B A
MERBEMEEENTF0.06%)
WS ARESEEA RS ARES6,000
I o
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Operations manager’s fees

Under the operations management agreement, China
Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd* (AR A b EEECRI) BB QA (the
“Operations Manager”) is entitled to receive from the
PRC subsidiaries of China Merchants Commercial REIT
(“the PRC Subsidiaries”): (i) an amount equivalent
to 5.0% of the monthly rental income of the PRC
Subsidiaries, payable on a monthly basis; and (ii) an
amount equivalent to 2.5% of the PRC Subsidiaries
semi-annual capital expenditure for refurbishment and
renovation of the properties, payable on a semi-annual
basis.

Property manager’s fees

Under the property management agreements of
Shenzhen properties, Shenzhen China Merchants
Property Holding Management Co., Ltd.* (ZIIHEmE
EEARAF) (the “Property Manager”) is entitled to
receive from the designated account jointly maintained
by the relevant PRC Subsidiaries and the Property
Manager: (a) with respect to Garden City Shopping
Centre, a fixed monthly fee of RMB54,167 (approximate
to RMB650,000 per annum); and (b) with respect to the
other properties, a monthly fee equivalent to 12.0% of
the sum of the fees and charges (except air-conditioning
charges and promotional fees) and car parking fees they
have collected.

Under the property management agreements of Beijing
property, China Merchants Property Management
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* Gt REBREBMEEEFR AR
(the “Property Manager”) is entitled to receive from
the designated account maintained by the relevant
PRC Subsidiary and the Property Manager: (a) with
respect to owner occupied lease, a fixed monthly fee of
RMB8,482 (approximate to RMB101,784 per annum);
(b) with respect to the vacant lease, a monthly fee of
RMB10.79/sg.m./month; and (c) with respect to the car
parking management fee, a monthly fee equivalent to
10.0% of the car parking fees they have collected.

The English names are for identification purpose only.

1. —RER(E

(iii)

(iv)

EEEEANER
BIEEEEE RS BEROCEE
BORIDERAR([EEEEADNE
ERREREEETESNT BB
AR ([HEKMBAE])IER : (HE
KPR BRRSAHAESKAL0%
MeRE(EIRASM) @ RBERT
BUFT B A 7] Y BAE REBFTAERE A
EEBRRNFAT25%N S EE(EFEE
SF—k) o

MEEEBEANER

BRI MEZMEEERHZE - &
INBEDEEBEERAG([MEE
BABHEBHBHENBARR
MEBEEBAHLRFEREERFEX
F: @REERME BEABAR
# 54,167 7T (& F 49 A R 650,000
TL)  ROpEEMYEMS - HER
BUERR B A R (AR ki
EERIN RFEEHEEE12.0%H A
o

BB R 2 MEE R - bR
BBl ERERAR([MEETE
ADB#EBEETRNE AR RE
EEAGERETERFESN @
FTERHEEmME  BAEABARK
8,482 L (FE X ARKE101,7847T)
OHREHENS - AEBASFEH
KARA0.797C « R(OBEBEMNE
BEME @ HERE KRN EEEE
EE10.0%H) A & -

X EHEHRSE -
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standard Board (“IASB”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3  Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19 — Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018 — 2020

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current year and prior period and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

IFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts!

2020 and February 2022
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned below, the

Manager anticipates that the application of all other new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

e gspecify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with
which an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with
only after the reporting period do not affect whether that right
exists at the end of the reporting period.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if the entity classify liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments,
together with the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024,
with early application permitted. If an entity applies the
2020 amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the
2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s right to defer
settlement for borrowings of RMB4,052,639,000 are subject
to compliance with certain financial ratios within 12 months
from the reporting date. Such borrowings were classified as
non-current as the Group has already obtained a waiver letter
from the bank indicating that bank would waive the Group
to satisfy such covenant as at 31 December 2022. Upon
the application of the 2022 Amendments, such borrowings
will still be classified as non-current as the covenants which
the Group is required to comply with only after the reporting
period do not affect whether that right exists at the end of the
reporting date and such borrowing will still be classified as
non-current.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the
accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
IAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned above, the
Manager anticipates that the application of all other new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include the relevant
provisions of the Trust Deed, the REIT Code and
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the HKSE.

As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowings with a
carrying amount of RMB4,052,639,000 have several
covenants, one of which requires the total debts of the
Group over the net assets attributable to unitholders plus
non-controlling interests of the Group to be less than
a required ratio. The Group has breached the relevant
covenant as at 31 December 2022, but has already
obtained a waiver letter from the bank issued before that
day indicating that bank would waive the Group to satisfy
such covenant as at 31 December 2022.

The Manager is of the opinion that, taking into account
the above-mentioned measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due within twelve months from the date
of approval of the consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the Manager is satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement (continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis. except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with IFRS 16 Lease (“IFRS 16”), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS
2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement (continued)

In addition, for the financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of China Merchants Commercial
REIT and the entities controlled by China Merchants
Commercial REIT. Control is achieved when China
Merchants Commercial REIT:

° has the power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a controlled entity begins when the
Group obtains control over the controlled entity and
ceases when the Group loses control of the controlled
entity. Specifically, income and expenses of controlled
entities acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains controls until the date when the Group
ceases to control the controlled entity.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price
first to investment properties which are subsequently
measured under fair value model and financial assets/
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated
to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis
of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the unitholders and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the unitholders and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from net assets attributable to unitholders,
which represent present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date, the Group recognises revenue in the amount to
which the Group has the right to invoice.

Property management services

The Group provides property management services
to the tenants of the properties. Since customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
when service provided, revenue from providing services
is recognised over time in the period in which the
services are rendered. As the Group acts as principal
and is primary responsible for providing the property
management services to the tenants, the Group
recognises the fee received or receivable from tenants as
its revenue.

Advertising income, air conditioning income and carpark
income are recognised over time in the period in which
the services are rendered.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs in relation to non-qualifying assets
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received. Such grants are presented under “other income
and gains and losses”.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income, gains and losses”.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. All of the Group’s
property interests held under operating leases to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are classified
and accounted for as investment properties and are
measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed when incurred.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before
tax and distribution to unitholders because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

For the purposes of measuring deferred for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose business objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. For
contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combination,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting periods
so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

Rental income (including rental income from office
buildings and a shopping centre) from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

When a lease contract contains a specific clause that
provides for rent reduction or suspension of rent in the
event that the underlying assets (or any part thereof)
are affected by adverse events beyond the control of
the Group and the lessee so as to render the underlying
assets unfit or not available for use, the relevant rent
reduction or suspension of rent resulting from the specific
clause is accounted for as part of the original lease
and not as a lease modification. Such rent reduction or
suspension of rent is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments to occur.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

The Group applies IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (“IFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVERERNEREERSE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFTBER (&)
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

1]}

3.2 EXERBEE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, amounts due from
related companies and time deposits with maturity over
three months and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease
receivables (including trade related amounts due from
related companies).

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

()  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;
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MBHRRNEREERE

3. a
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ﬁé?ﬁ%(ﬁé‘?)

1]}

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
()  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on time deposits with maturity over
three months and bank balances has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if are determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
(i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (i) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment grade” as per
globally understood definitions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

e abreach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with IFRS 16.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when the Group transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

In accordance with the Trust Deed, China Merchants
Commercial REIT is required to distribute to unitholders
not less than 90% of its distributable income for each
financial period and has a limited life of 80 years less
one day from the date of its establishment. Therefore,
in addition to the contractual distribution to unitholders,
the units issued by China Merchants Commercial REIT
contain a contractual obligation upon its termination to
distribute a share of all net cash proceeds derived from
the sale or realisation of its assets less any liabilities to
its unitholders in accordance with their proportionate
interests in China Merchants Commercial REIT at the
date of its termination. Accordingly, the units issued
by China Merchants Commercial REIT are compound
instruments that contain both liability and equity
components.

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies, distribution payable,
amounts due to non-controlling interests and secured
bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of it liabilities. Instruments, or components
of instruments, that impose on the China Merchants
Commercial REIT an obligation to deliver to the holders
a pro-rata share of the net assets only on liquidation are
presented as equity only when certain specific criteria are
met.

Unit issue costs are the transaction costs relating to initial
public offering and listing of units of China Merchants
Commercial REIT are accounted for as a deduction from
the proceeds raised to the extent they are incremental
costs directly attributable to the transaction that
otherwise would have been avoided. Other transaction
costs are recognised as an expense.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Manager is required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Manager has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the Manager has reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining
the Group’s deferred tax on investment properties, the
Manager has determined that the presumption of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group has
recognised deferred tax on changes in fair value of investment
properties using EIT rate at 25%.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages an
independent qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”) to
perform the valuation. The Manager works closely with the
Valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The valuation report and findings would
be reported to the directors of Manager half yearly to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end of
the reporting period based on the valuation performed by the
Valuer. In determining the fair value, the Valuer has based
on a method of valuation which involves certain estimates as
described in note 13.

Where the actual future market data varies, a material
adjustment on the fair values of investment properties may
arise. In relying on the valuation reports, the Manager has
exercised its judgment and is satisfied that the method of
valuation and the inputs to the model is reflective of the
current market conditions.
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RBABE - B ABETFFRER
ERGEERENER  BEEELAAEE
KB REA e

REWETIRE L EE RN &S HRETH
EERAAEBEIE EETAAEE
B - AABEE13ATAL - (AEREREREET
fEEFREEE -

R Y RATIBEETH - R EHR
S D EEAEARE - MEER
EEHER - BT AD AT AL RZ
R R 2 A B R 2
A o
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue recognition

5. WK o AEBEHR

Wy R

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Rental income from office buildings and BEENMEYHOES A

a shopping centre 378,943 873,556
Management fee income EIREUT A 36,258 39,831
Carpark income B WA 7,907 9,845
Others Hifb 8,594 9,600
Revenue from contracts with BEEEEZINRKREEFEY

customers recognised over time R U = 52,759 59,276

431,702 432,831

The Group’s investment properties are leased to tenants
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
lease payments are generally fixed term, except for some
contracts depend on shopping centre’s turnover pursuant
to the terms and conditions as set out in respective rental
agreements.

The gross rental income from investment properties includes
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate of RMB1,524,000 (2021: RMB1,314,000) for the current
year.

AEENKREMERELEHEERNEFPE
5 ARAXNEZ - REFHEEERZ
PRSI BTN S 61 - BREBD B A TR T
B omEaxEme  HENR—KE
& E HAPR o

AEERBIEEMENBHES WA BIEL
IERERIEE L EM A EHENRARE
1,524,0007T (20214 : A R #1,314,000
JC) °
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group had minimum lease payment receivables on lease
of office buildings and a shopping centre are as follows:

Wi K 2 &R E R ()

W R (4F)
AEEREERFRE—RBYT LOK
ERE N EUGRIRINT

Within 1 year 1R
Between 1 and 2 years 1524
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F
Between 3 and 4 years 3E44F
Between 4 and 5 years 4EHEF
Over 5 years 5FLA

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
388,762 295,544
261,772 166,990
161,134 85,508
101,447 52,886
70,425 26,610
99,811 47,484
1,083,351 675,022

Others represent revenue from advertising income and air
conditioning income.

All services within the scope of IFRS 15 are for period of
one year or less, except for management fee income and
others which are provided for a period of one year or more.
For management fee income and others, the Group applied
the practical expedient in IFRS 15 to recognise revenue in
the amount that the Group has the right to invoice based
on the terms of the relevant agreements in which the Group
bills a fixed monthly amount. As permitted under IFRS 15,
the transaction price of all these services allocated to the
remaining performance obligations as at the end of each
reporting period is not disclosed.

Hibiak B EE WA R R AR Wt -

BRI 15 3R 5 2RI B 155k S E AR P A AR
BUEERERAREMERIN - HBSH
—FHINE)GBE—FHUT - REE
BWAREMME - A% EERMBERR %5
WELEAESENATREZA - RIBA
S B 7 79 5 7R AR B8 RO A8 A 177 o R SR
RBAKEEREFARZTSEOWRS - B
BRI BR B S 3R 5 YERISE 165 PR RT » ISR
BEMAZERBRERERARIEZHRT
BHOBEENZHER -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(continued)

7 EER
AEERBEHEEAMERIELERR
ATEEEEREA ) EHILAAELR
BOREMRE - EEEREDH - AEH
KERDMOBBRENE - DRI REL
RrEAFRRES BBEXE - BHx
RE -~ BEAE =B RMEREF L) A
K —Frig e O (BERER) o

Segment information

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the Manager, being the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM?”), that are used to make strategic
decisions. The Group’s reportable segments are classified
as investment properties, which are being individual office
buildings, namely New Times Plaza, Cyberport Building,
Technology Building and Technology Building 2 and Onward
Science and Trade Center, a shopping centre namely Garden
City Shopping mall.

Segment revenues and results DB I A
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AR RIEERD 0 ERN RS B E R
by reportable segment. BT °

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE2022F12831HILEE
Onward
Science

and Trade

Center
fz
NERL
RMB’000
ARETT

Garden
City
Shopping
mall

New
Times
Plaza

Cyberport Technology Technology
Building  Building Building 2
NEXE
=
RMB’000
ARET T

Total

HERRS
RMB'000
ARBTR

BEAE
RMB'000

ARBTR

BEAE
RMB’000
AR®T R

TR
RMB’000
AR®TR

&t
RMB’000
ARBTR

Rental income from office buildings KB BFERE/DL

and a shopping centre AU 116,930 33,735 50,384 43,652 78,999 55,243 378,943
Revenue from contracts with RN RER,

customers recognised over time & &)FUES 15,813 5,503 5,423 5,302 20,718 - 52,759
Segment revenue Pl 132,743 39,238 55,807 48,954 99,717 55243 431,702
Segment results DEEE 95,277 31,175 86,133 48,033 39,687 61,870 362,175
Exchange losses S (336,288)
Other income HipA 1,118
Manager’s fee EBAER (17,550)
Trust and other expenses EREREMRS (7,366)
Finance costs BWERA (95,071)
Loss before tax and R RHERESEN

distribution to unitholders BEADRNER (92,982)
Income taxes it (104,405)
Loss for the year, before Rt RESEUHEEA

distribution to unitholders ~ 2REVEREE (197,387)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WBERDEVER(EZ)
(continued)
Segment revenues and results (continued) DEBURIE R A (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE2021F12A31BILFE
Garden
New City
Times  Cyberport  Technology  Technology Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 mall Total
BEAE
THAESR BBAE  BEAE —H TR et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARET:R
Rental income from office buildings ~ KESFEREATL
and a shopping centre HESHA 124,325 41,623 52,528 47 498 107,581 373,555
Revenue from contracts with RERERNREEP
customers recognised over time R0l e 18,818 5,864 5,076 5,257 24,261 59,276
Segment revenue AEEE 143,143 47,487 57,604 52,755 131,842 432,831
Segment results DEvELE 115,901 53,120 67,520 58119 116623 411,283
Exchange gains B J s 64,530
Other income HigA 1,763
Manager's fee EEAEH (18,934)
Trust and other expenses ERREMREY (13,034)
Finance costs BENA (59,043)
Profit before tax and Rt RBERESEN
distribution to unitholders BB ADREER 386,565
Income taxes FiEH (118,864)
Profit for the year, before FTRESBEUEEA
distribution to unitholders DTREE REA 267,701

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the (loss) profit before tax earned
by each segment without allocation of exchange (losses)
gains, certain other income, Manager’s fee, certain trust and
other expenses and certain unallocated finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

EHmDE 2 @ RR A EIAMRAEE
VEETBRERMAR - D EDENIEELE D B
PE L (B1R) et ~ BT HAMAWA - BEA
BA - ETEAREMAIUEETRY
FER B KA 2150 T & 2 BEREUZ R B A
(B1R) &R - ERREREERRARE
RO BN FEETERENE
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERDEER(E)
(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities DEEERERE
As at 31 December 2022 2022512831 H

Garden  Onward
New City  Science
Times Cyberport Technology Technology Shopping and Trade
Plaza  Building  Building Building 2 mall Center Total

NEAE g
HEkRE HBAE REAR =% REE  RERD )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®BTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARMTR

Segment assets DHEE 2275123 1,137,041 1,020,794 1,185451 1,739,989 3,043,289 10,401,687
Unallocated assets AOREE 422,673
Consolidated total assets GREEE 10,824,360
Segment liabilities PREE 358,275 209,802 177,909 220,216 266,448 1,354,748 2,587,398
Unallocated liabilties FkaE 4,189,694
Consolidated total liabilities LRBaE 6,777,002
As at 31 December 2021 R20214F12H31H
Garden
New City
Times  Cyberport  Technology ~ Technology ~ Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 mall Total
BEAE
TERER BBAE  REAE - TR &t

RMB'000  RMB0OO ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OOO  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETL ARETT ARETL ARETR

Segment assets NHEE 2244391 1123619 967,463 1,165,638  1,745494 7,246,605
Unallocated assets AOEEE 317,360
Consolidated total assets RRBEE 7,563,965
Segment liabilities ARERE 350,015 203,550 165,580 215,484 266,635 1,201,264
Unallocated liabilities FoEEE 2,365,717
Consolidated total liabilities FABARE 3,556,981
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources, all investment properties, property, plant
and equipment, trade receivables, certain other receivables,
certain amounts due from related companies, certain bank
balances and cash, trade payables, certain other payables,
certain amounts due to related companies, tax payable,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, certain secured
bank borrowings and deferred tax liabilities are allocated to
operating segments. Other corporate assets and liabilities
(including certain other receivables, certain amounts due from
related companies, certain bank balances and cash, certain
other payables, certain amounts due to related companies,
distribution payable and certain secured bank borrowings) are
unallocated.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2022

New

Wi K 2 &R E R ()

PTHMEERREE)
REENBRARDEER - IEREY
X X BENMRE  EHRUER
BT HMREER - & T RUAERR A FR
B ATRTEHRIES  BIEMK
B BETHMEMNKE - BTEMNERA
BRIA - BRI - A IR AR R K
B ATABERRITERREERARE
DEREELEDH - HEXEERAR
(BFEETHEMEURIE - & T eIk
NAFRE - ETRITESRERE  HTH
BN FIR & T RN AR &
kN E TABRRITER)RDE

BE2022F 12831 AL FE

Garden  Onward
City  Science

Times Cyberport Technology Technology Shopping and Trade
Plaza  Building  Building Building 2 mall Center Total

BEAE g

HERRE HBAE REAE “B fEE NERD @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

Addition to investment REWENBAREL

properties arising acquisition IREME

of subsidiaries - - - - - 2,693,690 2,693,690
Addition to investment properties R E X EME 14,961 5,308 - 2,992 24,329 26,808 74,398
Increase in fair value of REMENALER

investment properties = (7,961) 2,692 39,000 9,008 (19,329) 9,502 32,912

Depreciation il - -

- - 79 2 81
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WBERDEER(E)
(continued)
Other segment information (continued) Hib g R (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F12A31HLEFE
Garden
New City
Times  Cyberport  Technology ~ Technology ~ Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 mall Total
RBRAE
FERES  EBAE  RRAE -4 TEEH &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETET
Addition to investment properties RERENE 1,793 7,453 - 4,060 7,187 20,493
Increase in fair value of REMENARER
investment properties gy 10,207 15,547 20,000 14,940 20,813 81,507
Depreciation e - - - - 110 110
Geographical information HhIEER
All of the Group’s revenue is derived from activities and REE R FTE TR B AR A B 7
customers located in the PRC and the Group’s non-current EREFE - MASERERBEEHILNF
assets are all located in the PRC. ®
Information about major customers EREXEREFWNEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue of HZE2022F12A31BIEFEE » WFEA
RMB101,628,000 (2021: RMB106,585,000) was derived from R #101,628,000 7t (2021 6F : A R #&
the related companies which are group of companies under 106,585,0007T) 2K B @@EE A 7] » 5% E A A
China Merchants Group Limited (‘CMG”). REEREEAERAR(BERER])E
TH—/HRA] -
6. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES 6. YIFELKEREX
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARKETTT
Advertising and promotion B N HERE 5,245 4,813
Agency fee RIEE 2,739 376
Property management expenses MEEES 54,084 55,480
Operations manager’s fee EIEEIR A EH 20,864 19,092
Other taxes E M FRIE 26,332 30,746
Others Hith 4,152 2,020
113,416 112,527
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OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

HAplA ~ s R E1E

2022 2021

20224F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREET T

Interest income from bank deposits R B SRITIERAF WA 11,898 8,563
Interest income from structured deposits 38 B &5t I B A - 1,695
Compensation income (note a) HEWA(Kta) 2,567 1,081
Government subsidy (note b) AT ARG (AT7tb) 2,000 -
Others Hith 216 87
16,681 11,426

Notes:

(@) Compensation income represented compensation income from
termination of lease contracts.

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised
government grants of RMB2,000,000 in respect of COVID-19 related
subsidies provided by the government of the PRC.

MANAGER’S FEE

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive
10% per annum of the base fee distribution income for the
year ended 31 December 2022 as remuneration. Base fee
distributable income is the amount of the total distributable
income calculated before accounting for the Manager’s fee
payable for the year.

Hiet -

(@) FERAZELLEEESOMRERA

() BZ=2022F12A3MBILFE AEER
COVID-19t8 R B A RIFER B E BT iRt 2
BT 8L A R #2,000,0007T °

EEAEH

RIBEFERA) B E2022F12 A31H IEF
B BEEAGRSFREREANERAHS
IR ABI10%1E AR E - ZEAREBRAIHS
IRIMA BT AFHNENEBEEABZRAGE
B R] 7 IR ABEE o

Manager’s fee: EEAEH :

AR & S A

In the form of cash

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
17,550 18,934

The Manager may elect at its sole discretion to receive the
Manager’s fee in the form of cash or entirely or partly in the
form of units. If no election is made, the most recent valid
election made by the Manager in a prior calendar year (if any)
shall apply and, if there is no such prior calendar year election
by the Manager, the Manager’s fee shall be paid in cash. The
Manager’s fee is 100% in the form of cash for the both years.

EEATZEBHBSRERNRS TR
S EMREBPAES EL T AWIEEA
B - INELEE - AIEBEARBERE
FBE)EENSORAREEZ/ER -
mEEEARBEEFILEEHLARE
2 AEBEAERABUREN - KEE
FEEEABRABEZBUREHAN -
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9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BEEMAS
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET 7 EENS ST
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITIERAF EHZ 90,263 54,452
Amortisation of upfront payments B H AT ER (R 4,600 4,800
94,863 59,252
10. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND 10. R RBERESEVFEA
DISTRIBUTION TO UNITHOLDERS KA (E518 ) i F

2022 2021
20224F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETIT

(Loss) profit before tax and distribution Rt RIRIBRESEMFFEA
to unitholders has been arrived at after IR (E18) m A Th 48N kr

charging (crediting): (BT A AR B IBRIES -
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREM N & 1,801 3,707
Depreciation e 81 110
Trustee’s remuneration S EL AT 1,720 1,322

Principal valuer’s fee “e{HERE A 459 82
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11. INCOME TAXES

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | #(Z2022F12 A31HILFE

11. 5%

2022 2021
20224F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Current tax BNEATR IE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) PR ERTSHR ([ E B85
Current year REE 53,990 53,559
Overprovision in prior years BEFE B (89) (94)
Withholding tax BRI
Current year REE 16,063 21,552
Deferred tax (note 18) EIERIB(AT3F18) 34,441 43,847
104,405 118,864

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as
the Group has no estimated assessable profits in Hong Kong
in both years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the BVI.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory income tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
the current year and prior period.

Details of the deferred tax are set out in note 18.

AR ARERSFEETBLBEM G
JERBUSEA - ML BB B NSHAEHBE
e

RELABEZAHE (| RBELZEHE ) OH
AR ARG - ANER BB B 0 0 1 (0] R a8 B 2L
BEMEH o

RIBHFEARAMBERAFIOE([ 3
FRBBUE D REXMBBORERAR - +
B B 2 RN AN B S B T AR MR RE PR
BT R25% °

EREIRRFIEHNIEE8
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11.

12.

INCOME TAXES (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the (loss) profit before tax and distribution to unitholders as

follows:

1. Fii58i (&

AEEREHRASERGFERARESE
RIRFA A IKE (B8 i A SRR T

(Loss) profit before tax and distribution to
unitholders

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of
25%

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purpose

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose

Deferred tax on earnings of Group’s PRC
subsidiaries

Overprovision in respect of prior years

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions

Others

Income tax expense for the year

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETTT
ReTRFIERESBLMFEA
SIRE) (E18) 5= A (92,982) 386,565
LB A FTSE R 25% 5T H &Y
Bi1E (23,246) 96,641
PETERIA 2 BARTRAZ
Birss & (851) (16,769)
PETERIB 2 ANz AR 2
Birss & 113,050 22,766
REB R BB R AEFE
IEIERIE 15,388 16,063
BEFERERE (89) (94)
M A Bl Eofth Bl AR R A& HY
TR R 2 728 134 3
EAtb 18 254
FRAEHFRYZ 104,404 118,864

BASIC (LOSS) EARNINGS PER UNIT

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per unit before
distribution to unitholders is based on the (loss) profit for
the year, before distribution to unitholders attributable to
unitholders of (RMB209,544,000) (2021: RMB267,701,000)
with the weighted average number of units of 1,127,819,549
(2021:1,127,819,549) in issue during the year.

There were no dilutive potential units during the year ended 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021, therefore the diluted
(loss) earnings per unit has not been presented.

12. BESENVER(HER)&EF

Rt RESBEUFEADRNBESE
MERGER)BFNDREESBMFER
AR RESEMFHEEADIKNE
W (E1E ) = A (A R # 209,544,000 7T )
(20214 : AR#267,701,0007T) K A £
AT 21T 1,127,819,549 18 (2021 4 -
1,127,819,5491& ) H & BBz i F I HET

st
H o
A

RRE £ 2022F12 A31H k2021412 5
STHIEFEMEBEHEEASEN - Fitt
W2 BES B HE (R AT -
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | #(Z2022F12 A31HILFE

13. REYZE

FAIR VALUE NREE

At the beginning of the year F4)
Additions during the year FRRE
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EEHT B A )

Fair value changes on investment
properties

At the end of the year

RENENAA EES

FR

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
6,746,000 6,644,000
74,398 20,493
2,693,690 =
32,912 81,507
9,547,000 6,746,000

The Group’s office buildings and a shopping centre are
investment properties which are located in Shenzhen and
Beijing, the PRC and are measured using the fair value model.

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2022
by Knight Frank Petty Limited (the “Valuer”) and 31 December
2021 by Cushman & Wakefield Limited. The Valuer has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

The Valuer adopted income approach — income capitalisation
method to arrive the valuation of investment properties as at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

The income capitalisation method adopted by the Valuer has
taken into account the net rental income of a property derived
from its existing leases and/or achievable in the existing
market with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which has been then capitalised to
determine the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

AEBENRFENBEYHLARENE
R BURYI B dE 3 - WA R 7 E{EER

HE -

1B R2022F12 A31 B B 507 AISRD
TERAE([EERM ) #EITER - M2021
FI2AN HABERTERRARETE
fth o (HERMEE R B B SR 358
THEEZ S HEEER KL -

R2022F12 A31 H X2021F12 8318 -
EEMFEARAE — W E bR A ZEE
HEYZGE -

MEMFRANKRENMUEEARERE
BRI PER K, SRR E TS ARG Z
WEESBNFE  YERABEZERK
NEAELEERE  BHZASBRAF
BRABENMCRENEUABEELAAE
I
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWE(E)
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year. NEFEA S A 8 HE = RF o
The following table gives information about how the fair values TRER/RNUBEEZSREMENAAE
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, B(LHERRE E’]Hﬁ&ﬁﬁ&%u)\%ﬂ)@)
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair HER - LEBEALBEE=EMNE AH
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are BN BREEE AL BETEETHE
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the AR BESR(E-—RFIEZE=HH) -

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Valuation
Investment properties held by GE Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 202 2021 glyation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position hierarchy 2022% 20215 g4 key inputls) Significant to falr value
AEEREARTIERE  OnBE PRl VB0 s unobsenvable nputs TR S
nEEnE 24 ARRTT IRV EATTRESALE M EENBE
Property 1 - shopping mall in Level 3 1,620,000 1,615,000 2022: Income
Shekou, Shenzhen F=H7 capitalisation method
M - R OB 2020 « WEEAMLE
The key inputs are
BRAAZER
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
(1) EBEF= generated by market average seling the lower the fair value
price and the market average rental rom ~ FEEFRHE A4 (E
comparable properties and adjustmentto &K -
reflect the conditions and locations of the
shopping mall of 6.00% (2021: 6.00%)
EHORE (M RTLRNENTHH T
EERMATREELHDRETES
B BB OIR RAES) 56.00%
(2021 + 6.00%) °
2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into account of T higher the
() EREHE yield generated by market average seling  reversionary yield, the

price and the market average rental from — lower the fair value.
comparable properties and adjustment to  EEEHEHS - A% (B
reflect the risk associated with the future  (EEE o
rental, of 6.50% (2021: 6.50%).

ERORE (M R RNENTHZTH
EERMATREEEHDREVED
B REBEARE S BENER)R6.50%
(20215 : 6.50%) °
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

13. REWX (&

Valuation

Investment properties held by kB Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 2022 2021 glyation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position hierarchy 2022F 20215 g key inputls) Significant to fair value
rEERGANRRRREE  AnEE  JRACKME B0 pEsipms nobsenable nputf (EEEOEE
HEEE 54 AERTT PSR EATTREBANE MRENBE

(3) Monthly term rental N/A N/A

(3 Afg NER NER

(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the

() ERES average of the rental as stated inthe new  reversionary rental, the

rental agreements (note b) and market higher the fair value.

Property 2 - office building in Level 3 927,000 888,000 Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen E=05) method
Mg -t AE A7 WaEA LA

The key inputs are

BREAZEAR

(1) Term yield
(1) FRERE

average rental from comparable properties EEEHEHE - AAE
and adjustments to reflect the conditions (&S «
and locations of the shopping mall of
RMB370/sq.m./month (2021: RMB209/
sg.m./month).
fEsRe (RENEER (Mo miln T
HReRAENENTE TR T
R RBENR LR RS BARE
3707/ Tk / A(2021 % - AR#209
T/ Ehk/B)e

Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
generated by market average seling the lower the fair value
price and the market average rental fom  EHEBEHS - AR E
comparable properties and adjustmentto I o
reflect the conditions and locations of the
office buildings, of 4.50% (2021: 4.50%).

OB (3 R Ay FNTETIE
ERTZTHRSEFNERETAEE
NRBBFEIUR 3 B4 50% (2021
£:450%) ¢
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consalidated
statement of financial position
ARG BIIREA
HRENE

Fair value

higrarc

MR

hy
f

Valuation

2022
2022

RMB'000
ARBTR

13. REWX (&

Relationship of
2021 glyation technique unobservable inputs
20215 g4 key inputls) Significant to falr value
RMBO0D s fete R e nobservable input(s FUBEE KBS
BT gAng EATTRRBARE MEBENEE
(2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into account of ~ The higher the
(2) B EHRE yield generated by market average seling  reversionary yield, the
price and the market average rental from — lower the fair value.

(3) Monthly term rental

(AL

(4) Reversionary rental

UF 40

comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5,00% (2021: 5.00%).

RRERE(Er RALRnEN 5T
EERTA TR EEM IR ETER
B REERRE 2B ERER) 55.00%
(2021% : 5.00%) °

NA
iyl

Reversionary rental is derived from the
average of the rental as stated in the new
rental agreements (note b) and market
average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the office buildings of
RMB123/sq.m./month (2021 RMB112/
sq.m./month).

RS ORE M E A (k) Frsley
TR RALBENMETARSY
ERABNRETERRRE) BARK
12370/ Fhk/ B(20215 - ARH12
T/ Thk/R)e

B -

N/A
0yl

The higher the
reversionary rental, the
higher the fair value.

fEReHs ArEE
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. BEWHE (&
Valuation
Investment properties held by kB Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 2022 2021 glyation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position hierarchy 2022F 20215 g key inputls) Significant to fair value
rEERGANRRRREE  AnEE  JRACKME B0 pEsipms nobsenable nputf (EEEOEE
HEEE 54 ARRTT IRV EATTRESAE MRENBE
Property 3 - office building in Level 3 1,073,000 1,065,000 Income capitalisation
Shekou, Shenzhen E=13 method
ME-MNAIEONE T YHEME
The key inputs are
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
(1) EHE = generated by market average seling the lower the fair value

price and the market average rental from  FHEHREHE - AR E

comparable properties and adjustmentto I

reflect the conditions and locations of the

office buildings, of 4.50% (2021: 4.50%).
ERERE(SrRALRNEN TS

ERmETIREEENERE L AT

NRMEFEIRRR %) A4.50%(2021

1 4.50%) ¢

(2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into account of ~ The higher the

() EFOEE yleld generated by market average seling  reversionary yield, the
price and the market average rental from — lower the fair value.
comparable properties and adjustment to - E5EREHS - AL E
reflect the risk associated with the future (B o
rental, of 5.00% (2021 5.00%).

RRERE (G R BRI ST

EERMATHRSEENERED LS
B RMERRE 2B HMER)55.00%
(20215 : 5,00%) °
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties held by

the Group in the consolidated Fair value
statement of financial position hierarchy
AEERGRUBIIRRE  DABE
Property 4 - office building in Level 3
Shekou, Shenzhen E=5

NE-URRIEONEFE

Valuation

2022
2002

RMB'000

ARETR

1,113,000

13. REWX (&

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the office buildings
and locations of 4.50% (2021: 4.50%).

FHORE (G RIS BNENHETIE
ERms TR EENDRETEEE
NRBE TR R %) £4.50%(2021
& 450%) -

Relationship of
2021 glyation technique unobservable inputs
20215 g4 key inputls) Significant to falr value
RVBO00 {5t e unobsenvable nput TIBESAHES
ARRTTL gami% EATTEEEANE LA BENBE

(3) Monthly term rental N/A N/A

(AR MR oyl

(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the

Ktk average of the rental as stated inthenew  reversionary renta, the
rental agreements (note b) and market higher the fair value.
average rental from comparable properties & 4#5 @ A1 EE
and adjustments to reflect the conditons ~~ #% °
and locations of the office buildings of
RMB128/sq.m/month (2021: RMB122/
sg.m./month).

fEERe (Re R ERA(HTo) Ml T
HRERALRMEN TS TR
HENRBEFERR R E) BARY
128/ Fhk/ B(20015 - AR%122
T/ Fhk/R)
1,101,000 Income capitalisation
method

WREME

The key inputs are

BRaAZER

(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,

(1) E R generated by market average seling the lower the fair value

FRRERER DAE
i
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REYHE (&

Valuation

Investment properties held by kB Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 2022 2021 glyation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position hierarchy 2022F 20215 g key inputls) Significant to fair value
FEERNGANBRAEEE  AnEE  RAGKAN PVMBOO peippms unobservable inputl) TUEEE SR
HEEE 54 AERTT PSR EATTREBANE MRENBE

(2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into account of  The higher the

() EREHRE yleld generated by market average seling  reversionary yield, the

price and the market average rental from  lower the fair value.

(3) Monthly term rental
(3 Afg

(4) Reversionary rental
() EEHle

comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5.00% (2021: 5.00%).

RRERE (S R RDEN TS T
EERMATHREEENEREDEE
ZHRBERRA LB BHER) £5.00%
(20215 : 5,00%) °

NA
oyl

Reversionary rental is derived from the
average of the rental as stated in the new
rental agreements (note b) and market
average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the office buildlings of
RMB130/s.m./month (2021 RMB112/
sg.m./month).

EHEE(REMBERE (W) M5 T
Bl R BN TSNS
ARNRBREFEWR RS RARY
1301/ Fhk/ A(20015 - ARE112
T/ TR/ R) e

i

N/A
0yl

The higher the
reversionary rental, the
higher the fair value.
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties held by

RMB'000

ARETR

the Group in the consolidated Fair value
statement of financial position hierarchy
AEERGRUBIIRRE  DABE
Property 5 - office bulding in Level 3
Shekou, Shenzhen EZRH

nES-URRILONEFE

2,084,000

13. REWX (&

(2) Reversionary yield
() EREHE

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions and locations of the
office buildings, 4.00% (2021: 4.00%).

ERRRE (LA RTBNEN T TIE
ERmFTIREEENERETLRE
R ETEMRRRHE) A4.00%(2021
E14.00%) °

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 4.50% (2021: 4.50%).

BRORE (M RIS RNENHZ T
EERMATIREEEHDRETED
B RBEARE S BBNOER) R4.50%
(2021 + 4.50%) °

Valuation
G Relationship of
2022 2021 glyation technique unobservable inputs
2022F 20215 g4 key inputls) Significant to falr value
RVBO00 {5t e unobsenvable nput TIBESAHES
BT gAng EATTERBARE RABENEE
2,077,000 Income capitalisation
method
YREME
The key inputs are
Bra)\Es
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
(1) EHEHE generated by market average selling the lower the fair value.

FHRERES DAE
i

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

REERERS AR
EH(E -
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties held by

Valuation

2022
2022

RMB'000
ARBTT

the Group in the consolidated Fair value
statement of financial position hierarchy
AEERGRMBIIRRE  DABE
HRENE £4
Property 6 - office building in Level 3
Chaoyang, Bejjng E=57

NE-UMLREBNEFE

2,730,000

13. REWX (&

Income capitalisation
method

KB ALE

The key inputs are

BREAMER

(1) Term yield
(1) EHmRE

Relationship of
Valuation technique unobservable inputs
F ang key inputls) Significant to falr value
AVBO00 {5t e wnobsenvable nput(s FUBRE GBS
EN-L EXTABERARE RABENEIE
(3) Monthly term rental N/A N/A
(3 A2 NER oyl
(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the
() EHES average of the rental as stated inthe new  reversionary rental, the
rental agreements (note b) and market higher the fair value.

average rental from comparable properties EETESHS @ A7 EE
and aojustments to reflect the conditions ~ #5
and locations of the office buildings of
RMB182/sg.m./month (2021: RMB169/
§g.m./month).
ESEE (REMEE () M5l T
BRe R RNEN TS TR TS
AENRB TR R E) BARY
18270/ Fhk /B (20215 - ARHE169
T/ Ehk/R) e

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated by market average selling the lower the fair value.
price and the market average rental fom  EHEFEHE  AAE
comparable properties and adjustmentto {E#E -
reflect the conditions and locations of the
office buildings, 4.00%.

EHORE (MRt anFamETs
EERMATIREEEHDRE VA
EURMETERARIE) 54.00% ¢

The higher the term yield,
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position
ARG BRI
HRENE

Fair value

higrarc

MR

hy
f

13. REWX (&

Valuation
GE Relationship of
2022 2021 glyation technique unobservable inputs
2022F 20215 g4 key inputls) Significant to falr value
RMB'000 R e E i | unobservable input(s TBERBAIRE
AR IRV EXTTBEEALE MARENBE
(2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into account of ~ The higher the
() EREHRE yield generated by market average seling  reversionary yield, the
price and the market average rental from — lower the fair value.

(3) Monthly term rental
(3 A&

(4) Reversionary rental
() EEle

comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 4.50%.
BHERE (A RTRNEN T TIE
ERms TR EENDRETEEE
IRMEATE S BRI 54.50% °

NA
TER

Reversionary rental is derived from the
average of the rental as stated in the new
rental agreements (note b) and market
average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the office buildlings of
RMBA420/sq.m./month.

ESRE(REMBERE (W) M5 T
R R BT T IR TE
BENRREFEMR RS RARY
4201t/ Thx/ R

i

N/A
Oyl

The higher the
reversionary rental, the
higher the fair value.

fEEcHs ArEE

Notes:

(a) Existing rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including
renewal agreements, which are signed before the end of the year.

(b)  New rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including renewal
agreements, which are to be signed or negotiated after the end of the

year.

HfeE -

@ REBEHEEEBEFRAMNFTNEEHHED

HRE W=

b HFEEBHASBRFRREITIEHENEER

FENHEERE o
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 14. B RHEMBWRIE - BERK
PREPAYMENTS 15
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARBT T
Trade receivables B 5 e EIE 7,817 3,115
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (4,927) (133)
2,890 2,982
Deferred rent receivable FEWGEIEM € - 6,979
Prepayments SEANE O 552 210
Total trade and other receivables, Z 5 NEMEWFE -
prepayments TEFRIBAEER 3,442 10,171
Trade receivables represent lease receivables. Lease B REWFIBIEHEERKIE - EFER
receivables under rental of office buildings and a shopping By OEENE S RIGIE —RBEE
centre are generally required to be settled by tenants within 30 REENBI0BANBBEPLE -

days upon issuance of demand note.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of AT AIREEREHHZYME 5 EEGK
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the date of H(IRR s EEERE) NIRRT

demand note:

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR ARETTT

Within 1 month 1E A A 1,832 1,438
More than 1 month but within 3 months BB 1EAERIEA A 925 1,229
Over 3 months R A31E A 133 315
2,890 2,982
Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are AEBEZREFELEHBEREEREEAE
customers with aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,058,000 A R #1,058,000 7T (2021 & : AR #
(2021: RMB1,544,000) which are aged over 30 days and past 1,544,0007T) 2 & P I8 - ZERIERER
due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has B30 B R & B R A HA m R Uk E -
not provided for impairment loss. Before accepting any new AR B R B HREE R o REW
customers, the Group assessed the credit quality of trade and EAFEF A - AEEREBERATENE
other receivables based on historical default rates and the KBRS E 5 R M RIS
repayment records and considered adequate allowance has BEEx  URARREHREFHR T HE

been made at the end of the reporting period. 1o
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15. TIME DEPOSITS WITH MATURITY OVER

THREE MONTHS AND BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprises cash and short-term bank
deposits, with original maturity date less than three months,
and carried variable interest rates ranged from 0.10% to
2.20% of per annum (2021: 0.01% to 1.73% per annum).

The time deposits with maturity more than three months
amounting to RMB55,290,000 (2021: Nil) carry fixed interest
rate of 2.20% (2021: Nil).

The time deposits with maturity more than three months,
bank balances and cash are denominated in the following
currencies:

15. ZI8 A BB = @A HEBER
DR TEBRES

RITHEBIESBERER e MNERTHE
A ZEFRHREBET R =EA k%
N TF0.10% £2.20% (2021 F : 0.01% =
1.783%) RSBV FFIEKET B ©

BB =EANEHERARE
55,290,0007T (20214F © ££)1%2.20% (2021
FENEEFFRAE o

FM B BB =EANESFR - RITHEER
KBRS TIATINEHEHE

RMB AR
Hong Kong Dollar (‘HK$”) BB xl)
United States Dollar (‘USD”) E((Ex])

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREETIT
1,170,395 688,546
22,960 45,536
2,647 7

1,196,002 734,089
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 16. &5 R HMEMRIE
2022 2021
20224F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Trade payables B ENFIE 13,203 3,836
Other taxes payables H b pESH18 21,335 12,554
Rental receipt in advance FEWES 7,363 3,796
Receipt on behalf of tenants (note) REBEP UG (K 5E) 8,262 9,038
Rental deposit received from tenants HHEPKEINESE S 86,185 62,067
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R E M FE TR 26,004 14,635
Dividend payable to a shareholder of FESTFTB A RIBR R BUAR B
a subsidiary 12,127 -
161,276 102,090
Less: Rental deposit received from tenants & : IERBI A EIB FETRAY
shown under non-current liabilities el =l nyik R e (23,909) -
150,570 105,926
Note: Htet -
The Group collected the turnover of tenants, who operate food and beverage AEBMRERBEREDH OREEER MR RREER
business in a shopping centre, on behalf of them and is obligated to remit to HPErEEss - WASHEARBSER -

them every half month.

The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges from 30 to 90 days. HERRAEERLAEESRNTI0E0H  TX#H
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the HINE2IRAKRIZHZ A2 2 & 5 R B R
invoice date at the end of each reporting period: BT -

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Within 1 month 1EAR 901 2,458
More than 1 month but within 3 months BiR1EAERIEAR - 1,128
Over 3 months HiB3EA 12,302 250

13,203 3,836
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17. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS

17. BIRBRITER

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARKETT
Secured bank borrowings BHEMIRITIERK 4,052,639 2,214,475
Front-end fee AIHAE A - (4,600)
4,052,639 2,209,875
The maturity of the secured bank borrowings are as follows: BHEMRITEROEBHAAT
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET R ARETTT
Within one year 1R - 2,209,875
Within a period of more than two years AR EERAFHA

but not exceeding five years

4,052,639 =

As at 31 December 2022, secured banking borrowings
with a total amount of RMB4,052,639,000 (2021:
RMB2,101,478,000) bear interests at fixed rates of
3.20% to 3.55% per annum (2021: fixed rates of 1.20%
to 4.50% per annum). No secured bank borrowing (2021:
RMB112,997,000) bears interest at Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (‘HIBOR”).

As at 31 December 2021, all secured bank borrowings will
mature in December 2022 and are classified as current
liabilities. As at 31 December 2022, all secured bank
borrowings will mature in December 2025 and were classified
as non-current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2022, in respect of bank borrowings with
a carrying amount of RMB4,052,639,000, the loan agreement
includes a covenant that requires the total debts of the Group
over the net assets attributable to unitholders plus non-
controlling interests of the Group to be less than a required
ratio, which the Group has breached but obtained a waiver
letter from the bank issued before that day indicating that the
bank would waive the Group to satisfy such covenant as at 31
December 2022.

MN2022%12 A31H - AHEIFRITE A
% A R #4,052,639,0007T (20214 © AR
#52,101,478,0007T ) ¥3 1% [E 7E 4F F) 2 3.20
[E=3.55[E (20214 : #E EFFE1.20
[EZ4.502):F 8 o WEEEPRITER
(20214 : AR#112,997,0007T) L&
BITRERERTE -

R2021F12 831 H » FrE AR ITE
FHER2022F 12 A2IHf - WHREARBIA
& - FA2022F12 8318  Fra A IHE1T
ERGHR2025%12 AR - WHEEIER
FaTLE -

202212 A31H © EEEEAARE
4,052,639,0007CHERITIEFRIM S © B3
HERE—EEE  ERASENEREE
HAEENESEMNITEABLEEFE
INIEERR AR M L RAERARELL R + A%
B ENZTH  BRESRITAZARM
B RE  RBAFITEHREEAEER
2022412 A 31 Bim R %% °
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SECURED BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As security for the term loans granted to the Group,
investment properties with an aggregate fair value of
RMB6,817,000,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB5,858,000,000) together with the assignments of sales
proceeds, insurance proceeds, rental income, revenue and
all other income generated from these properties have been
pledged to the bank.

17. BEIPRITERE

EAmMASEERE EHERAER -
R2022FE12 A3 B AABEAXAR
¥ 6,817,000,000 7T (2021 F : A R &
5,858,000,0007T ) I 1% & 1) % 12 [F S5 & BT
BHE - REBER HEWARLEDE
BRI RFTE B A 2 8 E
FERIT

DEFERRED TAX 18. IRFERLIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement M EES MR KR 2 MES » EEFHRIE
of financial position, the deferred tax assets and liabilities have BERABEDEERE - U TNARSRE M
been offset. The following is the major deferred tax liabilities RHEERCEHIEEE(EE) MHES)
(assets) recognised and movements thereon during the
reporting period:
Withholding
tax on
retained  Provision for Change in
Accelerated eamings expected  fair value of
tax to be credit investment
depreciation distributed losses properties Total
BTAE
ol BHEE RENZE
MEHIESRE afEEiiti BiERE DAEEREY &5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE ARBTRT ARETT ARETR ARETR
At 31 December 2020 12020F12A31H 192,960 21,652 (327) 816,056 1,030,241
Charged to profit or loss (note 1) EB&EAMIR(H2171) 28,724 16,063 235 20,377 65,399
Release upon distribution of eamings A IRE B Bk (HE11)

(note 11) - (21,552) - - (21,552)
At 31 December 2021 1202112 /31 R 221,684 16,063 92) 836,433 1,074,088
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 26)  UKEENT B FI(H1:226) - 1,336 = = 1,336
Charged to profit or loss (note 1) BREEAMGR(H:Z11) 28,084 15,388 (1,196) 8,228 50,504
Release upon distribution of eamings MR R FIB R (M:t11)

(note 11) = (16,068) = = (16,063)
At 31 December 2022 120226124318 249,768 16,724 (1,288) 844,661 1,109,865

The PRC EIT Law requires withholding tax to be levied on
distribution of profits earned by PRC entities for profits
generated after 1 January 2008 at rate of 5% for Hong
Kong resident companies, or at rate of 10% for companies
incorporated in the BVI or Hong Kong that do not fulfil the
requirement as a Hong Kong resident company, which are
the beneficial owners of the dividend received. Deferred tax is
provided in full in respect of the undistributed earnings as at
31 December 2022.

FRCEMBRERETEERRAEEE
R EERBE LRSI
ENETBEMAETTEBTEERD
EHTHRE(BRERENESEEA)
Fh2008F 1 A1 BB FTEER R MHEI TR
Fr/BETEINR - BEE D BIA5%K%10% °
R2022F12A318 ' A EEFIZEGT
IRIEIET TE B o
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19. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

19. JFEE RS

Share of
net assets of
subsidiaries

LM B D F]

BERE
RMB’000
AR®T T

At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021
Non-controlling interests arising on
acquisition of subsidiaries (note 26)

(H:z26)

202151 A18 &2021F12HA31H
U B B JB 12 R T S A A SRR AR A 2

376,222

Share of profit and total comprehensive income 7 45 A3 Fl) M 2 m U s 42 58

for the year
At 31 December 2022

M2022F12A31H

12,157
388,379

20. ISSUED UNITS 20. ERITEEEN
Number of
units RMB’000
BvgH ARET T
Issued and fully paid BT R
At the beginning of year and REFRRFR
at the end of year 1,127,819,549 3,391,529
21. NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT 1. ESBURBEARLGEBESE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS NHNEEFE
The net asset value per unit attributable to unitholders ESBEURBEARGBESEUNEE
is calculated by dividing the net assets attributable to SRE T EN2022F 12 A31 B A S B
unitholders as at 31 December 2022 of RMB3,658,889,000 B AREIEE EFE A K% 3,658,889,000
(2021: RMB4,006,984,000) by the number of units in issue ot (2021 £ : A R ® 4,006,984,000
of 1,127,819,549 (2021: 1,127,819,549) units as at 31 70 ) B AR 2022 F 12 A31 HE 1T HY
December 2022. 1,127,819,5491# (20214 : 1,127,819,549
RS BEAEE o
22. NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 22. REVEE(AE)FHE

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s net current assets,
calculated as current assets less current liabilities, amounted
to RMB811,572,000 (2021: net current liabilities of
RMB1,665,353,000).

R2022F12A318 ' XEERNRBEEF
HERBEERRDAGENE) BARE
811,572,0007C(20214F : RENBEFEA
R #1,665,353,0007T) °
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TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s total assets less
current liabilities amounted to RMB10,359,267,000 (2021:
RMB5,081,072,000).

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES AND
RELATED ASSETS ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

23.

24.

BEEAERRBEE

M2022F12A31H » AEENEEAE
B E) A E A A R 10,359,267,000 7T
(20214 : AR¥5,081,072,0007T) °

METHELINEERMERE
ERE IR

TR AEEREETDFELABE
5 BERASKIFERSED - BER

BELRBEEAREGRARERERNA
DRAH D BABEETDAFRETREN
ERHAKRERE -

Amounts Amounts
due from due to Amounts Interest
related related due to payable
companies  companies non- Secured  (included in
(non-trade  (non-trade  controlling  Distribution bank other
nature) nature) interests payable  borrowings payables)
El Ef Ef ERRIE
BRARE BROAE  FERER BER  (GEARM
(EZHE) (FEZME) 8 BRIk TR EARE) 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR  ARMTR ARMTR  ARMTR  ABMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR
At 31 December 2020 #2020€12A31R 61,338 (383) - (142,078)  (2,012,554) (2,387)  (2,096,059)
Financing cash flows HERETE (61,338 - - 239,497 (256,875) 54,320 (24,396)
Distribution declared EERAK 63,589 - - (233,992) - - (170,409)
Amortisation of upfront ZHHANT
payments - - - - (4,800) - (4,800)
Interest expenses MSH% - - - - - (54,452) (54,452)
Exchange difference EiZEE - - - 176 64,354 - 64,530
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31R 63,589 (383) - (136,392 (2,209,875) (2519 (2,285,580)
Financing cash flows BEBLTE (116,370) 7 2,17) 215187 (1,512,039) 80,924 (1,274,458)
Distribution declared BEERAK 120,188 - - (258,739) - - (138,551)
Amortisation of upfront LR
payments - - - - 4,600) - (4,600)
Interest expenses MERT - - - - - (90,263) (90,263
Bxchange difference EiEE - - - (10,096) (326,129) - (336,225)
Acquisition of subsiciaries B KB AR (H26)
(note 26) - (120,126)  (1,137,285) - - - (1,257,381)
Overpayment of acquisiton ~ WEERIB A\ & 2 BB
Of subsidiaries (note 26) (Hit26) = - 13,840 - - - 13,840
At 31 December 2022 #2022512 318 67,407 (120,502)  (1,125,586) (130,040)  (4,052,639) (11,858)  (5,373,218)
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25.

26.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

25. EAEIE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETT
Capital expenditure in respect of the BEETAVE RARINER & B S R A
improvement works of investment R AR EYFENETEN
properties contracted for but not provided B[
in the consolidated financial statements 28,522 46,950
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 26. WEERKIE A A
On 30 June 2022, the Group acquired 51% of the R2022% 6 A30H @ A% B UEESA

equity interest in SA Venice | and its subsidiaries
(together, “SA Venice | Group”) at cash consideration of
RMB1,327,697,000. The Manager considers that the SA
Venice | Group is not a business applying the concentration
test in IFRS 3 Business Combinations and accordingly such
acquisition is not accounted for as an acquisition of business
but as an acquisition of assets.

SA Venice | is an investment holding company. SA Venice |
Group is principally engaged in property investment in Beijing,
the PRC. Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date
of acquisition (which is 30 June 2022) are set as follows and
the classification of assets and liabilities below are consistent
with the consolidated statement of financial position:

Venice | X H i B~ 7] (4578 [ SA Venice
158 ) (51%KkE  REREAAR
#1,327,697,0007C > BEIE ARE © SA
Venice |5 B I & 73 B B B 765 sl 25 2E A
FEIREBEHNERERHER
It BREAWEYEARASERWE M
AR AEEEE -

SA Venice | 2% E1ZE[% 72 5] ° SA Venice 15
BEEZERFEIL RN EYERE - R
HH(B1202296 A308 ) AT EEM EE K
FIERMBESINT LTEERERE
D FBEAR S B IEAR LR — B ¢

RMB’000
AR®BT T

Investment properties REYE 2,693,690
Property, plant and equipment LE R INE 409
Trade and other receivables %’%&ﬁfﬂfﬂﬁlm 610
Amounts due from related companies JfE Uk RaBS: A B FRIE 626
Pledged bank deposit with maturity over MR=1E A ZF| B2 IKIBRITER

three months 132,593
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR LIRS 258,538
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk EMER TR (116,675)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests P IR e 2 R IR (1,137,255)
Amounts due to a related company FETREH N Bl RIR (120,126)
Tax payable FERTRRIE (7,155)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE (1,336)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M 2 (376,222)
Total identifiable net assets Al RFEERRR 1,327,697
Payment for acquisition settled in cash (note) LAIR & 4 & &I 3R (HTa) 1,341,537
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances B RENRERESSEYE

acquired (258,538)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of IEESA Venice IS BEE AR

SA Venice | Group e Rt 58 1,082,999
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Note:

The consideration for acquisition was determined subsequent to the payment
based on the fair values of relevant assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2022 and
the overpayment of RMB13,840,000 was net off with the amounts due to non-
controlling interests at 31 December 2022.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the current year and prior period, the Group entered
into the following transactions with connected and related
parties:

26. WEEFMIEB AR (4&)
fzt -
Wi B 1R T A R B KB A 7 R R R 2022
F6R0AMAABEMEE - MAEMKARSE

13,840,0007T B 142022 12 A 31 A Z FE{f IEiE pR 4
B o

27. BBEAL KRB ARG

REZNGBERRA - NEBEAEAL
REBITET IR S

2022 2021
20224 20214
Name of Connected/Related Party EE A+ BHE S 218 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B &t ARET T ARETIT
Rental income A
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., 387 B sLiRE & IZp
Ltd. (“CM Energy”) BRAR(BrEaER]) @ & (c) 4,267 4,124
China Merchants Shekou Industrial 87 /® 4% 0 T 3 [R5 AR AR (5
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (‘CMSK”) AREAR([{EEmen]) (@ & (c) 7,484 10,002
Sinotrans Shipping Limited RINEYIR AR AT
(“Sinotrans Shipping”) ([FRINEWIR ) (@ & (c) 3,905 7,810
China Merchants Real Estate B EHEBR AR
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ([BEEE])
(‘CM Real Estate”) @ & (c) 35,711 34,395
China Merchants Investment BB EERAR AR
Development Company ([BrERREER]) (BiTE
Limited (“CM Investment DRlmiEme D EEEE
Development”) (formerly known BRAR])
as “China Merchants Shekou Asset
Management Co., Ltd.”) (a) & (c) 8,376 8,643
China Merchants Life Insurance HE R CAMASERRR N A
Company Limited RAR([HBERICHNAS
(“CM Life Insurance’) Rz ) (a) & (c) 1,444 2,179
China Merchants Commercial Property, &Y HHREE ERE G R A A
Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ([BEmE])
(“CMCP”) (a) & (c) 13,238 12,589
China Merchants International RiE BB EHE AR AT
Technology Co., Ltd. ([BRRERRE ) (AT7E
(“CM International Technology”) [BERBREEHMAR
(formerly known as “China A7)
Merchants International
information Technology Co.,
Ltd.") @ & (c) 3,022 3,632

Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas FHIEERIE RSB R

Shipping Co., Ltd. AF(RYIZERRIESR])

(“Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied”)

(a) & (c) 689 669
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Name of Connected/Related Party B#ZE A+ EBE: S BB

27. BE AT R

Notes

Hrat

China Merchants Shekou Digital City BEg#E O &= Rl
Technology Co., Ltd. BRAR([E=FHEH
(‘Digital City Technology’) B )

China Merchants Shekou Enterprise RO MEEIECEYDE
Management(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. PRAF([BrEentzE])

(“CM Shekou Enterprise”)
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co., Ltd.7% Y| BRZEf:E B R A &)

(“Shenzhen Ming Wah”) ([RIYIAZE )
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping 1 0 BRZEMEH R A 7
Co., Ltd. (“Minghua Shipping”) O ES )

Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd. E /NGBS BRR A 7
(“Guangzhou Haishun Shipping”) ([ EMNEIEMTE])

Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services  FIIEIESEREER AT

Co., Ltd. (FRYIgIESssE])
(“Shenzhen Haishun Marine”)

Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui AR 2 R ERF AR
Technology Co., Ltd. NEl([BIRERE )

(“Daojiahui Technology”)

China Merchants Taiping Bay HERAN T E2RERERR
Development & Investment Co., Ltd. A FI([{BEREAEE )

(“CM Taiping Bay”)

International Container Leasing Co., BEIR&EREHEBR AT

Ltd. (“International Container”) ([EIBREH#RE )
China Merchants Property IR BERMEEE
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. BRAH]

(a) & (c)

(@) &(c)
(@) &(c)
(@) &(c)
(@) &(c)

(@) & (c)

(@) & (c)

(@) &(c)
(@) & (c)
(@) & (c)

2022
20224

RMB’000
AR®T T

6,217

1,863
240

462

595

36

2,144
92

1,425
92,110

R5 (&)

2021
20214
RMB’000
AREFTT

5,945

489
1,801
232

446

575

35

703

91

94,360
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27. BEAIRBEH RS ()
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2022 2021
20224 20214
Name of Connected/Related Party E3E A+ Bl 5 218 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaF AR¥ TR AR®ETIT

Car park income FEGITA
CM International Technology R BB BHE (a & (c) a7 52
CM Investment Development B R E%ERE (@ & (c) 114 110
Minghua Shipping RREERN TS (@) & (c) 50 56
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FYERERIER (@ & (c) - 12
CM Real Estate BEREtE @ &(c) 144 252
CMCP BrEmE (@) & (c) 19 23
Sinotrans Shipping FR MBI (@) & (c) 46 72

420 577
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Name of Connected/Related Party Fd:&E A+ #3547 278 Notes
HtaF

Building management fee income EFEEBEILA
CMSK BEiea (@) & (c)
CM International Technology HE BRI (@ & (c)
CMCP HEmE (@) & (c)
CM Investment Development B R EERE (a) & (c)
CM Real Estate BBt E (@) & (c)
Sinotrans Shipping FRONEYDR (a) & (c)
CM Energy TSN (a) & (c)
Minghua Shipping BRZE TS (a) & (c)
Shenzhen Haishun Marine FEIEEE (@) & (c)
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FYZEERIER (a) & (c)
CM Shekou Enterprise sty O3 (a) & (c)
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping BN BN 7S (a) & (c)
Digital City Technology T RH (@) & (c)
Shenzhen Ming Wah ZRYI|RREE (a) & (c)
CM Taiping Bay BT E (@ & (c)
International Container BIpREEERE (@) & (c)
China Merchants Commercial B2 e R CRIDBRA

Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ([ BEmEER ) (F1iE

(“CM Commercial Management”) N7 EEEIECFYI)

(formerly known as China Merchants AR /AF])

Nine Commercial Management

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.) (@) & (c)
China Merchants Financial Technology 8 B4 BiEHE AR A 7

Co. Limited (@ & (c)

2022
20224

RMB’000
AR®T R

197
716
1,024
946
2,539
671
672
37

89
134

71
626
362
190

18

592

12
8,896

27. BEATRBEH ARG (&)

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARETTT

148
680
831
1,098
3,951
1,453
730
37

91
134
32

71
835
362
385
13

430

11,281
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27. BEATREE AR5 (&)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2022 2021
20224 20214
Name of Connected/Related Party BE A+ B 5 BB Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaF AR%T R ARET T
Other income E A
CMSK BrEen (@) &(c) - 9
CMCP BEmE (@) & (c) 29 22
CM Investment Development B R EERE (a) & (c) 2 1
CM Real Estate R E b EE (@) & (c) 91 280
Sinotrans Shipping RINEYDR (@ & (c) 3 4
CM Energy TSN (@ & (c) 7 1
CM International Technology B PR R (@ & (c) 2 -
Digital City Technology e miig (@ &(c) 5 19
CM Commercial Management RramEEE (@ & (c) 57 31
Shenzhen Haishun Marine e EE=E (@) & (c) 1 -
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FYERERIER (a) & (c) 4 -
Shenzhen Ming Wah YRR EE (@ & (c) 1 -
202 367
Manager’s fee EHEANEH
China Merchants Land Asset HEREtEE AR AR
Management Co., Limited (@ & (c) 17,550 18,934
Trustee’s remuneration KEEA B
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited EESEA(BEB)BRAR  (b)&(C) 1,720 1,322
Property management expense YEEHEE
Shenzhen Investment Promotion A BEYMEEEARAF
Real Estate Management Co., Ltd. ([FY4BE))
(“SZ Investment Promotion”) (a) & (c) 53,248 55,480
China Merchants Property R BEERMEEE
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. ARA A (@ & (c) 820 -
54,068 55,480
Operations manager’s fee SEEEANEH
CM Shekou Enterprise O (@ & (c) 20,456 19,092
Other expense E 5
Shenzhen Merchant Real Estate YT E X
Consulting Co., Limited ERAA (@) & (c) 57 -
Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui Y EEE RERN
Technology Co., Limited ERAA (@) & (c) 231 -
China Merchants Property B RY=EEAR AT
Management Co., Limited Building 2R eRED A7)
Intelligent Technology Branch (@ & (c) 302 -

590 =
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Balances with connected and related parties are as follows:

27. BEATRBEH ARG (&)

EAREE AL MM 2SRRI ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214
Name of Connected/Related Party B3 A+ EEH: S 258 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR¥ T ARETTT
Amounts due from JEYWIA T AL50E
Trade nature B MHE
SZ Investment Promotion FIIHBRE (@), (c)
& () 9,222 9,691
Shanghai Bang Xin Enterprise ERMEEEIREN (@), ()
Management Consulting Co., BRARHERS AR & (d)
Limited Beijing Branch 592 -
Non-trade nature FE S ML
Eureka I (@), ()
& (7 67,407 63,589
77,221 73,280
Amounts due to JEITLA A L5008
Trade nature B54E
CM International Technology s BB EHE (@), (c)
& () 704 704
CMG BERsE ) & (e) 518 518
CM Investment Development HERREER (@), (c)
& (e) 1,249 084
CM Shekou Enterprise Hmty A3 (@), (c)
& (e) 5,421 2,211
CM Energy HrseiR (@), ()
& (e 1,271 1,271
Sinotrans Shipping FRONEY) (@), (c)
& (e) - 1,367
CM Life Insurance BB ASRR (@), (c)
s (e) - 404
Daojiahui Technology EIRERHE (@), (c)
& (e) 6 4
The Manager EIEA (@), ()
& (e) 9,118 7,682
China Merchants Financial Technology 874 /&4 Bl AR A 7] (a), (c)
Co., Limited & (e) 131 -
Building Intelligent Technology of CM  Building Intelligent Technology (@), (c)
Group Property Management of CM Group Property & (e)
Co., Ltd Management Co., Ltd 9 -
China Merchants Property IR BERMEEE (@), (c)
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd ARAF] & (e) 1,379 -
Non-trade nature IEE S ML
China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) BrREMCERY) AR AR (@), (c)
Limited & () 491 363
Eureka s (@), (c)
& (7 120,011 20
140,308 15,528
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 27. BEATREE AR5 (&)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2022 2021
20224 20214
Name of Connected/Related Party RIE A + BEEE A 258 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiat ARET R ARBTT

Deposits placed with the Group for — FHERNEE RN EE
the lease of the Group’s properties — TFJXEIIZ %

CM International Technology R BB BHE (@), ()
& (h) 704 704
CMG HEREE 518 518
CM Investment Development B RREERE (@), (c)
& (h) 1,248 956
CM Energy RrsER (@), (c)
& (h) 1,271 1,271
Sinotrans Shipping FRINEYDR (@), (c)
& (h) - 1,367
CM Life Insurance BE R MASRR (@), (c)
& (h) - 404
Daojiahui Technology FIRERHY (@), (c)
& (h) 6 4
China Merchants Financial TR BEAR AT (@), (c)
Technology Co. Limited & (h) 131 -
3,878 5,224
Amounts due to JETLA T AL 50E
Trade nature 25 MHE
CCC Industrial Investment PREEIRETER(BE) (@), (c)
Holding (HK) Limited BRAT &0 17,929 -
Non-trade nature FEZMHE
Super Alliance Real Estate Super Alliance Real Estate @), (c)

Partners L.P. Partners L.P. & (9) 1,125,586 -
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27. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

These companies are the subsidiaries directly or indirectly held by CMG,
a substantial unitholder of China Merchants Commercial REIT.

These are connected parties as defined in the REIT Code but not related
parties under IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

The English name is for identification purpose only.

The Group generally required amounts to be settled within 30 days after
issuance of demand note for its provision of rental and management
services to its related parties. The demand note would be issued on the
first working day of each month. The aging of the amounts are due within
one month based on the date of demand note.

The amounts due to related companies are aged within one month based
on date of invoice.

The Group’s non-trade amounts due from/to related companies are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand or within one year.

The Group’s non-trade amounts due to the related company are
unsecured and interest-free. The related company has agreed not to
demand repayment of the amounts due from the Group within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

The amounts due to related companies are deposits placed with the
Group for the lease of the Group’s properties.

The above companies are connected parties and related parties except
for those mentioned in note b.

The trade amounts due to related company represent expenses paid on
behalf of the Group.

27. BAE A T K EHE

(@)

RZ(4E)

ZERFRBEREE(BHRBEETESZ
TERESEMHEA) EEREEFANMNBEA
=le

REFAESTR > ZFER/BEAL @ HIA3E
RIRIR BB & 5t B 2458 BT 7 1 5 2 Rl
5 o

RXEEEHZE -

AREE R ESREH T IR AR E KBRS
FEREZEHKI0ANEERE - BRERE
BAFE—ETIERHEL - ARFANKRRIZE
TRE B HRR —(E A AREIH -

FE A BB X R IR RO BRI A3 R A BAE A — 1R
HA -

REEH IR B A R IEE SIS ERIE
REER - R B RERERIN—FAREE
REER RS A R IEE S IEE AR EIE

ARRE - ZHBRARERETENRE AR
BT EARNEREEAEEENHA -

AL NG|
EEFRARE

FEASREEAEEYERRAE

BRETEDFTE SN - B A R RREE A L KR
B3 o

e BB R R E S5 RIATIR KA KRB 2 H
3 o
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28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to unitholders through the optimisation of the debt and net
assets attributable to unitholders. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged throughout the current year and prior
period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes secured bank borrowings and non-trade nature
amounts due to related companies, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and net assets attributable to the unitholders of
the Group, comprising issued units, other reserve and profits
less distribution.

The Manager reviews the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the Manager considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Manager, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the distributions or, issue of
new units as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption
of existing debts.

28. B MEE

FEBEBRHEER - AEREEHEER
Bre  WERB(EBRESEMRFEA
ABIEEEFERESEUREATEER
REH - NEEZ BRRERAFE B
EHAR S o

AEBENENEBEBRLHRAS LIRS
EEYNEHFR(BRERMRITER
RENBBMAREEZUERE) UK
AEEESBEUBEARGEEFE(R
RERTESEN - HWREBRENRD
) °

EEATHRFMELRERE - (FREHN—
R EBEEABEEEARARERERH
HERR - EREEANERER - A%
B ERNIK - BITHESEMRBEITH
BABOREGEY  FTEEERBELE
e
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

29. €FTH

eI AER

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Financial assets TREE
At amortised costs R SER ARG T2 1,276,113 810,351
Financial liabilities TRIBE
At amortised costs AR 2 5,580,559 2,440,415
Financial risk management objectives and policies tREREEEEREER

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, amounts due from related companies, time
deposits with maturity over three months and bank balances,
trade and other payables, distribution payable, amounts
due to related companies, amounts due to non-controlling
interests and secured bank borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with certain of these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The Manager manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate interest bearing bank balances and
bank borrowing. The Manager will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are
within reasonable range.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its
fixed-rate bank borrowings.

Kﬁlmiﬁﬁﬁﬂlﬂ&ﬁfﬁ%@c%%ﬁ
TH -~ fEUEEE A RIFE © =8 A LR

< TEBE R RTTA ﬁ‘% B 5 M E M ELT
HIE - BN - ENEBARREIE - &
{FFEIE AR AE 2 T A K B IR SR TE X ©
BHZESH T EANFBEERS TR
= BETZESR T AMABNER AR
AR ZER B ABOR SN T o BEIE
ABBEIEEZERE - AR ERE K
R AN R o

TS

-1 27 [ A
2 [ f

AREBEREE T B EZRITEHR K
RITIEFREREN KRR aﬁ)\ﬂﬁ%
BIE R NMF BERLLA - WHERZFEE
BREEHBEA -

AEBZ AR BEMNRREREZHEE SR
TTERERE
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy in relation to its cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk. However, the Manager monitors interest
rate exposure on an on-going basis and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of HIBOR.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free
rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared assuming
the variable-rate interest bearing bank borrowing outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and reasonably possible change in interest rate.

In 2021, if interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower
for variable-rate interest bearing bank borrowing and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year would decrease/increase by RMB420,000.

Foreign currency risk

Several subsidiaries of China Merchants Commercial REIT
have foreign currency denominated monetary item, which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the Manager monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant currency risk should the
need arise.

29. €T R (&)
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities, denominated in currencies other than
RMB at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

20 €T HR(E)
SHEBTEBERBE(E)

FHEB(E)

/\47//—’//*/&\ E’/

REWMEER - NEBUAREUINE
KETENENEER SR A ENREEN
T

Assets BiE 2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

HK$ BT 90,367 109,125
UsD ETT 2,647 7
Liabilities aE 2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREETIT

HK$ BT 250,051 2,337,036

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of exchange
rate of the relevant foreign currency against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 9%
(2021: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant foreign
currency against the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. 5% represents the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates if currency risk is to be assessed
by key management. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding relevant foreign currency denominated monetary
items. The sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at the
year end for a 9% (2021: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive/negative number below indicates a decrease
in post-tax loss/an increase in post-tax loss (2021: an
increase in post-tax profit/a decrease in post-tax profit)
where the relevant foreign currency weakens by 9% (2021:
5%) against RMB. For a 9% (2021: 5%) strengthening of the
relevant foreign currency against RMB, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax loss (2021: post-
tax profit).

AEBEXEZHBING EARKEEXKENE
B

TR AEERBINEG KRR E TR
REE MR IER R T F£9%(20214F : 5%) 2
B - 5%y FE EEIEE ([T &R KR EE
KA REHEMAERED - FREDMERIER
ﬁmtxﬁl\ﬁzéﬂﬁﬁ’ﬁaﬁa*bﬁzlﬁa  WRAFE RIZ

P& KRB F)0% (20214 : 5% ) FHEHHI - T
?EE’JIE%K/E%??%T\?*@%@W%R/\E%E@E
RRPEI% (20214 : 5%)FF - BREBEIBR T
[ BrEi1& ETE R _EFH(20214F « BE B R AR
EFHBRBEEFTEE) - BHEBEINE AR
MEER 9% (20214F : 5%) 8 &Lk
%EIE (20214 : BRrFiBRAN) EAEZEEER
Epf-Z=20
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

20. BT H (&

TREAREEREREKE)

miSERE(E)

HK$ impact BT 2
USD impact EE

2022 2021
20224F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET AR®ET T
14,372 111,396
(238) 1

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, amounts due from
related companies and time deposits with maturity over three
months and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amounts of these
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Other than concentration of credit risk on amounts due from
related companies, the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spreads over a number of
counterparties and customers.

EE RN ERNE
EERREASERZHFRERBITHES
HMEEESEAKREEXMHEENRR
AEBGEERRBOEZHNE FHEUK
TR -~ FEUR AR R R FRIA K& = fE A SA _EEIH
ZERERRRITES - ARELERFE
EAE A m ek IR S5 - WEHREE
EREERBENEERR

HWRHERRRZEFRERBTRENE
T AIAKERSECRATHEENR
REERBRAEIINEGE BB RKRAZ
FEEMNKREE °

B eI BREE A BIRIAR E E SRR RIS
AEBYEEXNEEEPRER - MERD
BREZEXZHFREP -
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. $WMITE(E)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade receivables

Trade receivable consists of rental income receivables from
tenants. The Manager monitors their balances on an ongoing
basis. Credit evaluations are performed by the Manager
before rental agreements are entered into with tenants or
counterparties. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables individually
or based on provision matrix. In this regard, the Manager
considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Manager has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9
Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL for trade receivables. Except for credit-impaired tenants
which are assessed individually, the Manager determines the
expected credit losses on these items by using a provision
matrix, grouped by past due status.

As part of the credit risk management, the Manager uses
trade receivables’ aging to assess the impairment because
these trade receivables consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the tenants
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific tenant is updated.

To mitigate the risk of financial loss from default, tenants of
the rental properties are required to pay two months deposits
upon entering into leases. The Group has the right to offset
the deposits against the outstanding receivables should the
tenants default rental payments.

Tenants of the rental properties is required to settle the
demand note within 30 days. Rental is payable in advance
and interest is charged immediately on overdue balance at the
rate of 1% per day during the year. In addition, the Manager
is responsible for follow up action to recover the overdue
debt. The Manager also reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debtor regularly to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts.
Based on the ECL assessment, impairment losses for trade
receivables of RMB4,794,000 had been recognised (2021:
reversal of impairment losses of RMB18,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

TREAREERERERE)

FERRKBEE(E)

BHRWFABREREF 2HSHA -
BEASRHELEE S RTIRNEER -
ERASREEFHRFIHFRILEER
AAETTEERE © 1IN - AEREIRETR
HERBERN - HEF WA (E5
Mook DAt AR Fe A B ) SETTIRUE T A
FUME - BEEARRAKREZEERR
BERKEE -

EEACERBERMBREENESRE
BT ARNEEERE BRI RRE
MIEREEEEAEHERE - [RE LR
EERENEPETEB G EEA
BIBERREHEEETZFHEENEBRE
EER  WiRaMikEs A -

EREERBREEN—R  TEAERE
SRR IB R HERE - BXFESE
WHIRBIEAEAR BRI HN/ N
P A RREPIRIES QRREBNT
2| HAZRIAMIRE S ©

AET BRI R RIBHEPRERFHA
BEBSRENL RMG - UBEBIERR
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RIFERRER ZMBIERRR - BEY
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BAAEEAIE 5 B A R 19%BNBF UL ER © AN -
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1 A R E Hie s S IEERIE 5 R ER X
Z AW O£ %8 - HRE B ERRE 2 EE
R EIREERE - RIEBHEEEET
& HE2022F12 31 B I FE O HER
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Amounts due from related companies

The Manager has made periodic assessments as well as
individual assessment on recoverability based on historical
settlement records and adjusts for forward looking
information. In view of the strong financial capability of these
related parties under CMG in respect of amounts due from
related parties with gross carrying value of RMB74,968,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB73,280,000) and
considered the future prospects of the industry in which these
related parties operate, the Manager does not consider there
is a risk of default and does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these related parties, and accordingly, no
impairment was recognised in respect of the amounts due
from related parties.

Time deposits with maturity over three months and bank
balances

The Group mainly transacts with banks with high credit
ratings. The credit risk for time deposits and bank balances
is considered as not material as such amount is placed
in reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL on these balances are by reference to probability
of default and loss given default by credit rating grades
published by international credit rating agencies and
concluded that the expected credit losses are insignificant
and thus no impairment loss has recognised.

20. BT H (&

TREAREEREREKE)

FERBRRENE(E)

7E BH5 H4% =
JEW B 2 ] R

BIEACERBEL S L e A el %
{EH & BARE A K (Bl 574 - 37 3L ATBE 1%
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A R ¥ 74,968,000 7T (2021 4F : AR ¥
73,280,0007T) * WAL= B 5% S HaH 5 18 &
EBFETENRKREIR - EEAREBT
GFHEELARR BFEHTERAZS@EE ST
B XM ABBUE B » F It 30 8 5t e UL 2
B 5 SRIBHERRE ©

=AU LB BTk R iR TAE R

AEBETEESEREFRNRITETR
5 o EMERRRITEBRZ EERBER
RBTEKR  RARZFLREFHINER
RIFBEBEREEFIRBLE TREREN
M2 RIT - REB D2 ERBREET R
BAMOEEFRERZBHOBXRIEN
BEREERUZEEBRNI2EARREES
BET I AwRRREREERLTE
K BRI SRR EREE



® CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT = ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ® 434 BA#53ER &R Mi st

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | Ei(ZE2022412 A31HIEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. &M T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies SRRARERBERBEK(E)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERKEERERE(EZE)
Time deposits with maturity over three months and bank = 18 A LA _E 2B 2 TE B 77 50 K R 1T 42 BR

balances (continued) (%)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment AEBRIBEERRE GG EEUTE

comprises the following categories: Bl :

Trade receivables/ Other financial

Internal credit rating Description contract assets assets/other items

ESBUBERR HittemEE

R EB S E R it BREE HiE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

e RHPUFHNENRRAE TEEAHFE 2HRHEEESE- 12@ARHEEER

AEREERE—

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired

BReE BEBARTRIPEREETE BREF2H 2HRHEESE- 12EARHEEER
EEC AR EERE—

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources

AJ ¢ SERR B VERARBEANMETERIINK 2HRREESRE- 2HRBEEBHE—
IREVE R KB N AEREERE—- REREERE—

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

&1 ERBRTEECHREERE FHEHEEER - 2HRBEEEE-

HEREERE— HREERE—

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is inAmount is Amount is
severe financial difficulty and the Group has  written off written off
no realistic prospect of recovery

i FREREBALREAMBRE - MAE FIAC MH FRIE B Mg

I 3 48 Yo (O] SRR RO B B AT BE
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 20. BT E (&
Financial risk management objectives and policies tRAMREEEEREKR(E)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERRIRETE(E)
Time deposits with maturity over three months and bank PG H B =16 A X _E B EBFH RIRTTAS
balances (continued) FR(#E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFVNNAEBN SR EENZERE -
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL JHETTTRRAE E BB ¢
assessment:

Note  External credit rating  Internal credit rating ~ 12m orlifetime ECL p(PZAIGEEIGTUVELO 2021 Gross carrying amount
12EAZEHEARS

#it  HEEEFR ABEETR B 025 KEAE 021 FRELE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARNTT [N TN S

Trade receivables 14 NA Low risk Loss Lifetime ECL (indlividual
assessment) 2,960 3,115
BAEYSE Oyl [EERER FHRBEEER
({EIRIGF(E)
Credit-impaired 4,857 7817 - 3,115
HREERE
Amounts due from related 27 NA Low risk 12m ECL
companies TER [EER 12EAREEERE
LN 71,221 71,221 73,280 73,280
Time deposits with maturity 15 AAA N/A 12m ECL
over three months NER 12EABHEEER
HMRA=EAN LR
i e 55,00 55,00 - -
Bank balances 15 Baa2 orabove N/A 12m ECL
ichFeta Baa2Zh b b oilii 12ERREEERR 1,140,712 1,140,712 734,089 734,089
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. $WMITE(E)
SREREERERBEE)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE RSB EFL(Z)

Time deposits with maturity over three months and bank BIEIH A =18 F L _FBERI R R T4
balances (continued) ER(#E)
TREFIREEE S X E 5 U GIERE
REEHTREEEEEY

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified

approach.
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 A 2HEH
EEE#E FEEB#E
(RHREE (HBREE
HE) ) #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT R ARET T
As at 1 January 2021 M2021F1 A18 151 = 151
Changes due to financial R2021F1 B1 BER SR

instruments recognised TAME

as at 1 January 2021:

Impairment losses reversed HEEERE (18) - (18)
As at 31 December 2021 2021F12A31H 133 - 133
Changes due to financial 20221 A1 BHER S &

instruments recognised TAmE

as at 1 January 2022:

Transfer to credit-impaired ERELEEERE (86) 86 -

Impairment losses recognised  HERIR{EEE 68 4,771 4,839

Impairment losses reversed R EEEEE (45) = (45)
As at 31 December 2022 720224124318 70 4,857 4,927
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Manager monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensure compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities, which has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
the financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. The undiscounted amount
is calculated based on effective interest rate at the end of the
reporting period.

29. &M TR(E)

TREAREEREREKE)

RBESRR

AEERBESRERME ﬁ’il&*ﬁ-‘
HRRE LA EEYRNERERSEN
ZKRF - BARKEXRBREES - WK
Ren8RBHerE - BEAEREAR

1TEREVER - WHEREFE R

TREFMAEBRETETESREE
MRIHAELOBEE - HENMRIEAERR]
WERMZNSEARNERHEEZ AR
RIS REFFTESE - TREEFNERA
SIMETE ° ﬂi%ﬁ%%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁéi&%,ﬁﬁﬂi
MWERFFRAE -

Weighted Total
average  On demand or undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1-30 days 31-90days  91-365days 1-2years 2-5years cash flows amount
FERRS
IEHHE  HERIIZNA 312908 912365R 120E 255 it i1 T
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR ARET T ARET T ARET T i S AR®TR
A2 N20F
Trad and other payables E5REERUR - 35,483 52,466 2,199 11,409 12,500 114,057 114,057
Amounts duetorelated  EFEEATE
companies - 140,308 - - - - 140,308 140,308
Amountsduetonon-  EFSEARIER A
controling interests - 17,929 - - 1,125,586 - 1,143,515 1,143,515
Distrioution payable Efin EE - 130,040 - - - - 130,040 130,040
Bank borowings kil
- fiked rate -8 355 11,980 23,960 107,821 143,761 4,196,400 4,483,922 4,052,639
335,740 16,426 110,020 1,280,756 4,208,900 6,011,842 5,580,559
201 1%
Tradg and other payables B3R E (B[R - 20,261 58,359 - - - 78,620 78,620
Amounts dugtoreated  ERERATEE
companies - 16,528 - - - - 16,028 16,528
Distrbution payable ERDR = 136,392 - - - - 136,392 136,392
Bank borronings Birtest
- fiked rate -%8 255 4464 8928 2,141,654 - - 2,156,046 2097979
- Variable rate —%8 125 118 26 114,058 - - 14412 111,89
176,763 67,523 2,265,112 - - 2,499,998 2440415
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29.

30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities
have been determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

The Manager considers that the carrying amounts of the
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 17, as at 31 December 2021, several of
the Group’s HIBOR bank borrowings will or may be subject
to the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group is closely
monitoring the market and managing the transition to new
benchmark interest rates, including announcements made by
the relevant IBOR regulators and acknowledgements from the
banks.

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements as none of the relevant HIBOR bank
borrowings has been transitioned to the relevant replacement
rates during the year.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR
and HONIA will co-exist.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings are
secured by its investment properties with carrying amounts of
RMB6,817,000,000 (2021: RMB5,858,000,000).

29.

30.

ERMTAE(E)
SWMIA>AREHESE
SRAERSBRABNAL BEDRES
REBERSRESTHAREBEAE
EO

EEARR » NEHERADERN AR
BERNEMEEN SR A BENRAEEEE
NABERS -

FREENE

SAAKTEE17FTA - 1A20214F12 A31 8 -
AEEHEZEBRITAERERFEZ
RITIE RS S e A] e S A R EER S 7
[ - AREBIERYERMS > WBE
BEECERREITE IR T (- BIEEER
TREFREEERBIED 2 A5 RIRITIE
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BEERH

2022124318 « RNEEMRITERE
JEBRTE{E A AR #6,817,000,0007T (2021
£ 1 AR#5,858,000,0007T) KR E W
TEHAR o
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS

COMMERCIAL REIT

At the end of reporting period, China Merchants Commercial
REIT has direct and indirect shareholdings/equity interests in

the followings subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiaries

(i) R

Directly held:

BEKE

Treasure Supreme
International Limited

Indirectly held:

FERE -

Frontier Shekou Commercial
Holdings Limited

Shekou Times Limited

Shekou Garden City Limited

Shekou Net Valley
Technology Limited

Shekou Net Valley Technology
2 Limited

Place and date Issued and fully

of incorporation/ paid capital/

establishment/ registered and

operation paid in capital
BRIRARE

EMAL/ R/ BX /2R

EENER AN BEHER

BVI USD1

2 July 2021 (E

EBRNES

202157 A28

BVI USD1

16 April 2014 e

RERAES

201444168

BVI USD1

23 April 2014 1%

EERLHE

201454 4238

BVI USD1

23 April 2014 1ET

RERAES

201454 423R

BVI USD1

23 April 2014 e

EERLEHE

201454 4238

BVI USD1

23 April 2014 17T

AERLHE

20144230

31.

B

HRREBEEAES 2T EM

RIMERR  BRBBEETESRAT
MEARES EEREERE IR

Ns

E_ .
Shareholding/
equity interest attributable to
the Group as at 31 December
AEBM2A3 AEERE/
Rk
2022 2021
% %
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00

Principal
activities

IEXH

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding
REHR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL . AR AR EERESZEEMN
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS BATE(E)
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

Place and date Issued and fully
of incorporation/ paid capital/ Shareholding/
establishment/ registered and equity interest attributable to Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital the Group as at 31 December activities
BRETRAR
HMAYL/ KL/ B /3ME FEERNM2A31BEERE/
HWEAREE EEWERAN EHER AL TEEK
2022 2021
) %

Indirectly held: (continued)

RERE - (8)

Shekon Net Valley Garden City BVI USD1 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
Cyberport Limited 23 April 2014 127 RAER
EERLES
2014454A23R
Shekou Times (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong RMB1 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
wOHER(FE)ARAR 26 May 2014 AREAT RERR
B
2014F5726H
Shekou Garden City Hong Kong RMB1 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 ARBIT RERER
wOERN(ER)ARAR B
201445A268
Shekou Net Valley Technology Hong Kong RMB1 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 AREIT REER
wOBARR(FE)BRAA &k
201455H26H
Shekou Net Valley Technology 2 Hong Kong RMB1 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 ARBIT RERR
LORARB_H(EB)ERAR BA
2014%5 4268
Shekou Net Valley Garden Hong Kong RMB1 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
City Cyberport (Hong Kong) Limited 26 May 2014 AREATE RAER
RORATEREEEBERAA i
2014%5R26H
M OHERELEEERLA  ThePRC RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00 Investment properties
23 April 2014 ARK2,000,0007C holding
i FAERENR

20144 A23H
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL N EBRAEERET 2 ETEM

SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS IEUNGIE G
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)
Place and date Issued and fully
of incorporation/ paid capital/ Shareholding/
establishment/ registered and equity interest attributable to Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital the Group as at 31 December activities
BERTRAR
AL/ R/ EX /2R REEM2A31BEGRE/
WEARER EENERAS BREX Ak TEEY
2022 2021
% %
Indlirectly held: (continued)
Mg (&)
RAMEEREZEREREALA  ThePRC RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00 Investment properties
24 April 2014 AR¥2,000,00070 holding
i BERENE
2014548248
MR AEXERERAR The PRC RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00 Investment properties
25 April 2014 AK¥2,000,00070 holding
th RERENF
2014F4 7250
MIMRAZHEXERER AR The PRC RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00 Investment properties
24 April 2014 AR2,000,0007 holding
] BERANE
2014F4724H
MmEBAEEXERAH The PRC RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00 Investment properties
23 April 2014 AR#2,000,0007 holding
i HEREDSE
2014F4A23H
SA Venice | Cayman Islands USD1 51.00 - Investment holding
26 September 2017 1% REER
HEHS
2017569268
SA Venice |l Cayman Islands USD1 51.00 - Investment holding
12 June 2018 1£7 REER
HEHS

20186 A 120
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

Place and date Issued and fully
of incorporation/ paid capital/
establishment/ registered and
Name of subsidiaries operation paid in capital
BRETRAR
HMAYL/ KL/ B /3ME
WEADLE EEHYRAN B4ER
Vast Joint Limited BVI USD1
11 May 2012 e
RBRUEE
2012%F5R11H
BEEBEX(LR)BRAR Hong Kong HKD1,000,000
8 September 1994 1,000,000/ 7
BE
19949 A8H
Ming Yuan Property (Hua Bei) Panama USD20,000
Corporation 16 December 1992 20,000% 7T
Be5
199212168
RERMERERLERAT The PRC USD66,000,000
27 June 1994 66,000,000
i
199446 A27H

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

Notes:

(@) BHAEEPMEX(RE) BR A A and Ming Yuan Property (Hua Bei)
Corporation are held under SA Venice | by 80.00% with effective
shareholdings/equity interests attributable to the Group of 40.80%.

(b) HBEBRMEREZFLERATF is held under SA Venice | by 91.00%
with effective shareholdings/equity interests attributable to the Group of
46.41%.

3. AERELEEE S Y B
BARES)

Shareholding/
equity interest attributable to Principal
the Group as at 31 December activities

AEMM2A31 AR RE/
AR TEEY
2022 2021
% %
51.00 - Investment holding
RASR
40.80 (note a) - Investment holding
(Hiita) REAER
40.80 (note a) - Investment holding
(Kita) RAHR
46.41 (note b) - Investment properties
(Kizth) holding
BERENE

RAFER - WHEHM B QR EITEMNER

S s
Ag °

Hiat

(@  SAVenice IFEBAEHNEXULR)ERAR
K Ming Yuan Property (Hua Bei) Corporation
80.00% # z= 1 A 5% B % 5 40.80% & IR A%
1 IRAE R o

(o) SA VeniceHBBERBMEREFRLARA A
91.00% 1 z= + M A & B % 5 46.41% E R ik
/IR AHERS
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32. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

interests:
Place of Proportion of
incorporation and ownership interests and
principal place of voting rights held by
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests
ARRILR FERERENFERERR
HEAREZRE TEEENY RERELA
31.12.2022 31.12.2021
prrE3PREILI 202145127318
SA Venice [* Cayman Islands

HSHE 49% =

Non-wholly owned
subsidiary of SA Venice |
SA Venice |2 3F2 ARBAE

RERNENERLERAE  ThePRC
e 9%

Ming Yuan Property (HuaBe) ~ Panama
Corporation e 10%

EREHEX(LR)BRAA  Hong Kong
Bk 20%

2 BEEAFERERZELE
D

TREJNFEBEAERESE 2 ANEEE
2EMBARE

Profit allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AREFERERNER ZiF R

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
20225120310 RRAESPERIIEM 20225127310 ROAESVERTEE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
AEBTR ARBTT AERTR ARBTT

9,462 - 198,266 -
3,633 - 234,558 -
(328) - (30,991) -
(610) - (13,474) -
12,157 - 388,379 -

*

excluding non-controlling interests of SA Venice I's subsidiaries

: TELFESA Venice |18 A RIHIIEIEAR IR o
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32. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED N.BEEERFERERZ2IEE
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NIENG ETE =),
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s BAAREEHAEE AT RS ZIEEE
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is B AR ZIEERBEEEFINT o AR
set out below. The summarised financial information below B ER I E 2| EE AN EAI &5 ©

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

SA Venice | and subsidiaries SA Venice I& i B 2R 7]
31.12.2022
2022%F12A31H
RMB’000
ARET R
Current assets MENE E 397,941
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,700,379
Current liabilities mEAE (1,411,893)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (1,763,811)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZNA =B A B (465,763)
Non-controlling interests of SA Venice | SA Venice |2 JEFERR 2 198,286
Non-controlling interests of SA Venice I's SA Venice I[ff B A 7l < FE1ERR =
subsidiaries 190,093
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32. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED N.EEERFERER 2IETE
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL SN ETE=D),
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

SA Venice | and subsidiaries (continued) SA Venice IRKEB AT (Z)

From 30.6.2022
to 31.12.2022

H202256 H30%
2022F12H31H
RMB’000
ARETT
Revenue e 55,242
Expenses 53 (24,298)
Profit and total comprehensive income FREMNREERRERE
for the year 30,944
Profit attributable to owners of the Company — ZNA A A FE(G % F 18,787
Profit attributable to the non-controlling SA Venice |2 FE128 I 1 25 FE (R i 71
interests of SA Venice | 9,462
Profit attributable to the non-controlling SA Venice I8 A7) 2 JEFE iR =
interests of SA Venice I's subsidiaries FE A5 F 2,695
Profit and total comprehensive income for FRENREEWSERE
the year 30,944
Net cash inflow from operating activities KBRS IR & AJE R 10,911
Net cash outflow from investing activities BREESMFE SR FRE (4,093)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEEVEE TSI &M FRE (89,474)

Cash outflow b3 eipgant (82,656)
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PERFORMANCE TABLE

2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 2020%F 20194
As at 31 December: R12A31A8 :
Net assets attributable to Unitholders EeBURAAREEETE
(RMB million) (AEEBET) 3,659 4,007 3,910 3,787
Net assets per unit attributable to EeBURAARLEERE
Unitholders (RMB) fBEFEARET) 3.24 3.55 3.47 3.36
(Equivalent to HK$) (eI 3.63 4.34 4.12 3.75
Gearing ratio BEAEXR 37.4% 29.2% 27.9% 23.4%
Market capitalisation' (HK$ million) mE(BEAT) 2,244 2,944 2,763 3,756
Units issued BRTELEN 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549
2022 2021 2020
2022 20214 20205
For the year ended 31 December: BZ12A31BLLEE :
Highest traded unit price (HK$) BeKREE(ET) 2.96 3.04 3.36
Highest premium of the traded unit price FXX B EBHBES BN N/A N/A N/A
to the net asset value per unit2 BEFE R RRE il A TEA N
Lowest traded unit price (HK$) REKREE(ET) 1.63 2.37 2.03
Highest discount of the traded unit price FX% EBRGES B
to the net asset value per unit BEFEZZ=TE 55.1% 45.5% 50.7%
Annualised distribution per unit yield® Gt EES B DRI K3 7.0% 71% 7.0%

Notes: HiaF -

1. Market capitalisation is calculated based on the closing unit price of the period 1. MERAEESEUNTERARREETESEM
times the unit outstanding as at the end of the period. EERHEK

2. The highest traded unit price is lower than the net asset value per unit 2. EEAREBERESCEUFEARGEESEMNZ
attributable to unitholders. Accordingly, premium of the traded unit price to the BEFME Bt WERSKREBREESEMNE
net asset value per unit has not been recorded. EFEZRE -

3.  The annualised net yield per unit is calculated based on the total distributable 3. FEESEMFREZENSHEEESSEMAH

income per unit for the period and the closing unit price as at the end of each
period.

DI KBTS ERE S BT BT o
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AREH

THE MANAGER

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited
Room 2603-06, 26/F.

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3976 5300

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. Huang Junlong

Executive Director
Mr. Guo Jin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Zhiliang
Ms. Liu Ning

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Hua
Mr. Lin Chen
Ms. Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena

RESPONSIBLE OFFICERS OF THE MANAGER

Mr. Guo Jin
Mr. Choo Chong Yao, Patrick
Mr. Zhong Ning

COMPANY SECRETARY OF THE MANAGER

Victon Secretarial Services Limited

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
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INTERNAL AUDITOR
Ms. Chen Yan

TRUSTEE
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited

PRINCIPAL VALUER
Knight Frank Petty Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS
Baker & McKenzie

UNIT REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Ltd.
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
01503

WEBSITE

WWww.cmcreit.com

WHISTLE-BLOWING

https://www.cmcreit.com/en/contact_whistle.php
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